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Construction Projects

No.39 South Bay Road,
Hong Kong

Superstructure Works

Main contractor for one
residential house including

E&M works
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Yau Oi Sports Centre
Replacement of Air-cooled
Chiller & Associates
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No. 16 Bowen Road,
Hong Kong
Superstructure Works

Main contractor for two
residential houses including
E&M works
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Aberdeen Tunnel
Replacement of Air-Conditioning System
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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies
and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility
than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is
given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents
of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Smart City
Development Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the
best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in
this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission
of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of Smart City
Development Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the "Group”), | am pleased to present this annual
report (“Annual Report”) and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024
("Reporting Period”).

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the business operations and
financial performance of the Group continued facing challenges. The
construction industry in Hong Kong is still under pressure. The Group
will uphold an on-going parallel development of its construction
business (including building construction, interior fitting-out works
and E&M works) in Hong Kong. To cope with the challenges
encountered in the construction and engineering industry, the Group
has adopted a prudent business strategy in project tendering.

The Group's revenue for the Reporting Period recorded at
approximately HK$435.1 million which represented an increase
of approximately 34.4% from approximately HK$323.7 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023. For the construction business
segment, revenue for the Reporting Period recorded at approximately
HK$431.7 million, which represented an increase of approximately
35% from approximately HK$319.8 million for the year ended 31
March 2023. For the securities investment segment, revenue for the
Reporting Period recorded a loss of approximately HK$1.5 million,
which represented a decrease of approximately 743.4% from a
gain of approximately HK$0.2 million for the year ended 31 March
2023. Revenue for the property investment business segment for
the Reporting Period remained stable at approximately HK$0.6
million, which is similar to approximately HK$0.6 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023. For the money lending business segment,
revenue for the Reporting Period recorded at approximately HK$4.3
million, which represented an increase of approximately 38.0%
from approximately HK$3.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2023. The Group recorded a net loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$20.4 million for the Reporting Period
(2023: net loss of approximately HK$11.0 million).

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FTEHRESE

OUTLOOK

In the coming year, we believe that the construction market in Hong
Kong will remain competitive and challenging. However, with the
Group's proven track record, comprehensive services and numerous
licences, permits and qualifications, the Directors believe that the
Group could strengthen its position in the Hong Kong market and
diversify its customer base. The long-established relationships with
our customers, subcontractors and suppliers and the commitment
of our management team to provide quality work and services
have played and will continue to play, a vital role in building up
our reputation and the Group’s competitiveness in the market.
In addition, further opportunities may arise which include the
promotion by the HK government in the widely adoption of modular
integrated construction method (“MiC") and the recent development
of the Greater Bay Area.

We will continuously look for attractive growth opportunities in
China, Hong Kong and elsewhere that will drive the financial returns
for shareholders in the long term.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to all our customers, shareholders and business partners for their
continuous care and support. | would also like to thank all of
our employees for the dedication and loyalty they have shown
throughout the years.

Hung Kenneth
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s principal businesses are (i) acting as a contractor in
the building industry operating in Hong Kong and Macau where it
provides one-stop comprehensive services with the following three
major types of services: (a) building construction works and related
businesses; (b) electrical and mechanical engineering ("E&M")
works; and (c) alterations, addition, renovation, refurbishment and
fitting-out works (“Interior fitting-out works"); (ii) investment
in securities, where the Group invests in long term and short term
investment in marketable securities; (iii) property investment in Hong
Kong, where the Group acquires properties in Hong Kong and earns
rental income; and (iv) money lending business.

The Group’s revenue for the Reporting Period recorded at
approximately HK$435,077,000 which represented an increase of
approximately 34.4% from approximately HK$323,704,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2023. For construction segment, revenue for
the Reporting Period recorded at approximately HK$431,722,000
which represented an increase of approximately 35.0% from
approximately HK$319,813,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023.
For investment in marketable securities segment, revenue for the
Reporting Period recorded at a loss of approximately HK$ 1,467,000
which represented a decrease of approximately 743.4% from a gain
of approximately HK$228,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023.
For property investment segment, revenue for the Reporting Period
recorded at approximately HK$594,000 which represented a decrease
of approximately 0.8% from approximately HK$599,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2023. For money lending segment, revenue for the
Reporting Period recorded at approximately HK$4,228,000 which
represented an increase of approximately 38.0% from approximately
HK$3,064,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEN®RDN
(i) Construction Segment

(a)

(b)

(c)

Building construction works and related
businesses:

For the Reporting Period, revenue recorded at this section
amounted to approximately HK$217,656,000 (2023:
HK$138,002,000).

The increase of approximately 58% was mainly due
to the increase in the revenue recognition for main
contractor works for proposed residential redevelopment
at No. 16 Bowen Road, foundation, excavation and
lateral support works at Duke Street, and alteration and
addition works at House A, No. 75 Peak Road, Hong
Kong.

E&M works:

For the Reporting Period, revenue recorded from this
section amounted to approximately HK$183,869,000
(2023: HK$175,730,000).

The increase of approximately 5% was mainly due to
the increase in revenue recognition for triennial contract
for maintenance and repair of, alteration, addition to,
fire service installations in Municipal Venues for the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region and replacement of lighting installation at various
government premises.

The above increase was partially offset by lesser
revenue recognition for 18-month term contract for the
maintenance and repair of, alterations and additions to
fire services installations for Health Services Buildings in
Hong Kong Region and Outlying Islands and triennial
term contract for operation and maintenance of air-
conditioning installations at attended municipal venues in
Hong Kong Region which were almost completed during
the Reporting Period.

Interior fitting-out works:

For the Reporting Period, revenue recorded from this
section amounted to approximately HK$30,197,000
(2023: HK$6,081,000).

The significant increase of approximately 397% was
mainly due to the increase in the revenue recognition for
the fitting-out works for shops of luxury brands in Central
and Causeway Bay.

Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Management Discussion and Analysis

Securities Investment Segment

For the Reporting Period, a loss recorded from this segment
amounted to approximately HK$1,467,000 (2023: gain of
HK$228,000).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group managed a portfolio of listed
equity investments and unlisted debt investments with an
aggregate fair value of approximately HK$26.5 million (2023:
HK$39.3 million), which are classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded (i) an
unrealised gain on fair value change of listed equity and
unlisted debt investments of approximately HK$775,000
(2023: unrealised loss of HK$159,000); (ii) a realised loss
of approximately HK$2,802,000 (2023: HK$407,000); (iii)
interest income from the debt investments of approximately
HK$527,000 (2023: HK$452,000); and (iv) dividend income
from equity investments of approximately HK$33,000 (2023:
HK$23,800). Details of the marketable securities are disclosed
under the sub-section headed “Significant Investments” in this
section.

Property Investment Business Segment

For the Reporting Period, revenue recorded from this segment
amounted to approximately HK$594,000 (2023: HK$599,000).
It was mainly attributable to rental income earned from the
investment properties.

Money Lending Business Segment

For the Reporting Period, revenue recorded from this
segment amounted to approximately HK$4,228,000 (2023:
HK$3,064,000). Our money lending segment experienced a
notable increase in interest income. Nevertheless, we remain
vigilant in monitoring the credit risk exposure of the Group and
adopt a prudent and conservative approach when assessing
and reviewing each borrowing.

Due to the decrease of the overall gross profit margin of construction
segment, the net loss for the Reporting Period increased by
approximately HK$9,380,000 to a net loss of approximately
HK$20,356,000 as compared to approximately HK$10,975,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2023.

Basic loss per share is HK8.48 cents (2023: HK5.05 cents) for the
Reporting Period.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue amounted to
approximately HK$435.1 million (2023: approximately HK$323.7
million), increased by approximately 34.4% as compared to the last
reporting period.

Gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit decreased by approximately HK$9.1 million
or approximately 27%, from approximately HK$33.6 million for the
year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$24.5 million for
the Reporting Period. The decrease in gross profit was mainly due
to the low profit margin derived from the construction segment and
realised loss on the marketable securities investments recorded in
the Reporting Period as compared to the realized gain record in last
reporting period.

During the Reporting Period, the gross profit margin was
approximately 5.6%, down by 4.8 percentage points, as compared
to last year’'s 10.4%. The decrease of gross profit margin was mainly
due to the lower gross profit attributable to the construction segment
as a result of (a) lower contract price owing to the intensified market
competition and (b) higher labour cost due to shortage of skilled
labour of construction segment.

After excluding the portion generating from the securities investment
segment, property investment business segment and money lending
business segment, the overall gross profit margin for the Reporting
Period was approximately 4.9%, decreased by 4.4% as compared to
the last year's 9.3%. The decrease in gross profit margin was mainly
due to lesser gross profit attributable to the construction segment.

Other income and gains

Other income and gains decreased by approximately HK$0.4 million
or 10.1% from approximately HK$4.1 million for the year ended
31 March 2023 to approximately HK$3.7 million for the reporting
period. The decrease was mainly due to the government grants
granted in last reporting period.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses increased by approximately HK$0.9 million
or 2.2% from approximately HK$42.3 million for the year ended
31 March 2023 to approximately HK$43.2 million for the Reporting
Period. The increase was mainly due to the increase in legal and
professional fees and staff costs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other operating income/expenses, net

Other operating expenses, net decreased by approximately
HK$1.6million from other operating expense of approximately
HK$4.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to other operating
expenses of approximately HK$2.7 million for the Reporting Period.
The increase was mainly due to a fair value change on property, plant
and equipment.

Finance costs

Finance costs increased by approximately HK$0.1 million or 155.7%
from approximately HK$0.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2023 to approximately HK$0.2 million for the Reporting Period. The
increase was mainly due to the increase in interest expense incurred
on short-term loan during the Reporting Period.

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

The Group’s prepayments, deposits and other receivables increased
by approximately HK$4.7 million or 96% as at 31 March 2024 as
compared to last reporting period. It was mainly due to the deposit
for machines to be delivered in mid of 2024.

Accounts payable

The Group's accounts payable increased by approximately HK$5.8
million or 25% as at 31 March 2024 as compared to last reporting
period. It was mainly due to the longer credit term with construction
segment’s subcontractors.

Loans and interest receivables

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s loan receivables, together with
accrued interest receivables (before accumulated allowance for ECL),
amounted to HK$51,433,000 (31 March 2023: HK$38,600,000).

As at 31 March 2024, 15 loans and interest receivables remained
outstanding, of which 15 loans and interest receivables with the
aggregate gross balance of HK$51,433,000 were classified under
stage 1 (initial recognition). At the end of the reporting period, the
Company performed an impairment assessment on the Group’s
loans and interest receivables. The impairment assessment measured
impairment on loans and interest receivables using the general
approach, which is often referred to “three-stage model”, under
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 9 Financial Instruments.
Based on the impairment assessment, a total allowance for ECL on
loan receivables of HK$958,000 (2023: HK$175,000) was made for
the Reporting Period. The Group has recorded a reversal of allowance
of HK$200,000 (2023: HK$45,000) due to the repayment of loans
during the year.
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The Group has recorded an increase of ECL on loans and interest
receivables during the Reporting Period due to the increase in loans
and interest receivables. The Group will continue to monitor the
performance of its loan portfolio closely, especially in the repayment
and financial condition of each customer.

Major terms of the outstanding loans and interest as at 31 March
2024 are as follows:

HRERER LA BB - NEER KRS B
BMEBREREERRMNENFEREEERE
me REBBEEZYEREERAEGHNER
B LHERBREPNERRBHBMNNR -

R-ZT-_ME=ZA=+—0 ' XEEEXK
FEMEZBRRAT -

ity e

- b}

Loan and interest Loan and interest
receivables Reversal of receivables
(before allowance (after
accumulated (allowance) accumulated
allowance for forECL  allowance for
ECL) Accumulated for the year ECL) Collateral and/
asat31March  allowance for ended 31 March  asat31March Interest rate or guarantee Terms of
Number of loan 2024 ECL 2024 2024 per annum obtained maturity
RoB-mE BE RoEomE
=R=t-H ~BIME =B=t-H
HERER =B=t+-AH HERETR
RFIS (K5 EH LEENEH FIS (R
ROREER REFR GEFRBRE BHEEER EERR
Lt Rt 2Rk RE/ (&) Rtk E% R/SER IR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 Months
FHx Tix Thr Fix A
Stage 1
F-Re
Less than or equal to 13 37,433 (1 (595) 36,729 8-12% Note 1 6-60
HK$S million i
DRFAER
5,000,000 7
Over HK$5 million but 2 14,000 (42) (230) 13,728 7-10% No 12-24
less than or equal to i
HK$10 million
5,000,000 75
A EBRDRIRE
110,000,000 1
Loan already repaid (65) 65
EEEE
15 51,433 (218) (758) 50,457

Note 1:HK$2,500,000 are with personal guarantee and HK$3,000,000 are with
corporate guarantee.
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Business model of the Group’s Money Lending Business
The Group’s money lending services are generally provided to
individual and corporate borrowers that have short-term funding
needs and could provide sufficient collaterals for their borrowings.
The Group's clientele is primarily acquired through business referrals
and introductions from the Group’s senior management, business
partners or customers.

During the Reporting Period, the range of interest rate on the
Group's fixed rate loans receivable was 7% to 12% (2023: 7% to
12%) per annum.

The Group generates interest income from such loan facility as
revenue. The Group recorded revenue from this segment amounted
to approximately HK$4,228,000 (2023: HK$3,064,000), representing
an increase of approximately 38%.

The Group's credit risk assessment policy in respect of
its Money Lending Business

The Group’s credit risk is mainly arising from its loan receivable from
customers. To monitor its credit risk, the Group sets out the following
credit policies for its Money Lending Business.

The Group has set up a Credit Committee for its term loan business
which has full authority to handle all credit related matters of the
Group. The primary duties of the Credit Committee are, among
other things, to approve and oversee the Group’s credit policy and to
monitor its loan portfolio. All decisions made on loan applications are
handled by the Credit Department and are subject to independent
reviews of the Group’s management and the internal control review.
All new customers have to pass the Group’s financial background
and credit checks before a loan, which must be approved by the
Credit Committee, can be granted. In terms of credit monitoring,
the Credit Committee will check for irregularities and report to
the directors as necessary. The directors will perform sample check
on the loan files to ascertain that loan approval procedures and
documentations are properly performed by the front office team.
For loans with collateral, the Credit Committee will identify possible
irregularities in the credit quality of the loan portfolio. In cases where
the borrower requests a restructuring of the repayment schedule,
approval has to be obtained from the Credit Committee on a case-
by-case basis. The approved restructured loans will be monitored
by the front office team and reviewed by the Credit Committee to
ensure timely repayment.

The Company confirms that the aforementioned credit policies have
been strictly followed with no enhancement during the year ended
31 March 2024.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Impairment review has been performed by management to assess
impairment loss on trade receivables from loans receivable from
customers. The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. At the end of the reporting period, the Company
performed an impairment assessment on the Group’s loans and
interest receivables. The assessment measured impairment on
loans and interest receivables using the general approach, which is
often referred to “three-stage model”, under Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard 9 Financial Instruments.

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 1

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2

Stage 3 Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal

to lifetime ECLs

Size and diversity of customers

As at 31 March 2024, the gross carrying amount of loan receivable
amounting to HK$50,505,000 (2023: HK$38,600,000) of which
HK$2,500,000 are with personal guarantee and HK$3,000,000 are
with corporate guarantee. In addition, The Group’s largest borrower
of the Group by itself and together with the other four largest
borrowers of the Group accounted for approximately 15.8% (2023:
20.7%) and 55.0% (2023: 70.7%) respectively of the Group’s loans
receivable at 31 March 2024.

Key internal controls

The Group generally provides short-term loans. For the new and
renewal loans during the Reporting Period, 70.1% was with a term
within 1 year, and 29.9% was more than 1 year but not more than 2
years. The repayment terms and conditions are determined from the
factors including the liquidity needs of the borrowers, the Group'’s
funding and cash flows management strategies, and the terms and
rates of the prevailing market.
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The licensing of money lenders and regulation of money-lending
transactions are governed by the Money Lenders Ordinance,
Cap. 163 (the “MLO"). The Group has credit policies, guidelines
and procedures in place which cover key internal controls of a
loan transaction including due diligence, credit appraisal, proper
execution of documentations, continuous monitoring and collection
and recovery. The due diligence procedures included conducting
research on the borrowers’ background, evaluating its current
business operations and financial conditions, market reputation and
creditability, and conducting financial analysis and recoverability
analysis. To minimise credit or investment risks, the Group may
require personal guarantees and corporate guarantees in respect of
certain loans.

Upon completion of relevant account opening, Know-your-client
("KYC") and credit assessment procedures, the Group would grant
a loan facility to such borrowers for their own financing needs. The
Group has followed all forms and procedures prescribed under the
provisions of the MLO when making relevant application for the
renewal of Money Lender License and conducting our money lending
business. After drawdown of loan, the loan agreement will be filed
with the loan documents properly. The Group maintains regular
contact with the borrowers and carries out periodical review to
assess the recovery of the loan based on the business development,
financial status, repayment ability including such as recent settlement
record and any litigations and bankruptcy orders against borrowers.
The Group will take all necessary legal actions against the relevant
clients to follow up the settlement of the outstanding loans.

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group has continued to maintain a suitable liquid position. As
at 31 March 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$49,165,000 (2023: HK$59,335,000), which are
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars. As at 31 March 2024,
the Group had total assets of approximately HK$333,037,000 (2023:
HK$322,410,000). The Group's current ratio at 31 March 2024 was
approximately 1.20 (2023: 1.28).

As at 31 March 2024, the gearing ratio for the Group is
approximately 2.9% (2023: 2.0%). It was calculated based
on the non-current liabilities of approximately HK$3,893,000
(2023: HK$3,063,000) and long term capital (equity and non-
current liabilities) of approximately HK$132,820,000 (2023:
HK$154,004,000).
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Capital expenditure

At the end of the Reporting Period, the Group had no significant
capital expenditure, (2023: HK$6,587,000, which was mainly used in
the purchase of a subsidiary).

Contingent liabilities
At the end of the Reporting Period, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities.

Commitments
At the end of the Reporting Period, the Group had no significant
capital commitment.

Charges on group assets

Assets with a carrying value of approximately HK$27,126,000 (2023:
HK$36,854,000) were pledged as security for the Group’s banking
facilities.

Treasury policies

The Directors will continue to follow a prudent policy in managing
the Group’s cash balances and maintain a strong and healthy
liquidity to ensure that the Group is well placed to take advantage
of growth opportunities for the business. Interest for the current
bank borrowings were mainly on floating rate basis and the bank
borrowings were principally denominated in Hong Kong dollar,
hence, there is no significant exposure to foreign exchange rate
fluctuations.

Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

BEAREX

RBERR  REBAPBEEAEAHT(ZF
T =4 :6,587,000/6 T © TEANUEE R
MIE AR -

FREE
RBERR - ARELEERIAEE

o

i
RB|ER - AEE W BEREARASE

o

EEEERA

BREELA27,126,0008 (2= :
36,854,000/ )M EERIEASEEITRIE
i

B R

EEHEEEREERE  UWEEAKEZ
Renhgfa@mBZnRsEs &
RAKBEERELAK  SEHLELERK
B RBRTEEIBZRIEEESES M
RITBETBENETAHE - ABEARE
RIME PE B R



AN

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FUND RAISING
ACTIVITIES

Placing of Shares under General Mandate

On 9 September 2023, the Company entered into the placing
agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to place, through the placing agent on a
best efforts basis, up to 40,000,000 placing shares at the placing
price of HK$0.8 per placing share to not less than six placees who
are professional, institutional or other investors that are third parties
independent of the Company and its connected persons. The placing
shares were allotted and issued pursuant to the general mandate,
which had been approved at the annual general meeting of the
Company. Details of the placing of new shares were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 9 September 2023 and
30 September 2023. In October 2023, the Company completed
the placement of 40,000,000 Shares and raised net proceeds of
approximately HK$30.8 million. As of 31 March 2024, the Company
has utilised all of the net proceeds. The table below sets out the
planned applications of the net proceeds and actual usage up to 31
March 2024.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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FIVEE RS Bt ARRBERKHERES
BEEREBEREZFNEEUGRESEERES
R0 8B IR TNV ANZBEAREALERS
40,000,000 e E /D - MZEAEABE
¥EREE  BEREESHEMEKRESE  ThA
BUIRARBIREBEALINE=H - BBE
BHOERERARABRERF XS EESH
R MR T AR KRBT - BRAREH
BROMZEBHNARFBHEA-_ZT-=F1
ANBEZE-_=ZFAA=Z+HHRE - B
—E-=F+ A AQaEE%E40,000,00008%
B —EEEEK - YESHAMERBEFEY
30,800,000 - HE—_T_F=F=+
—B - ARRBREBSEMEREFE TX
Rl TSR EFENTESAcEREE
E—NEZ A=+ HERSHALE -

Percentage  Actual usage
Planned of total up to
Use of proceeds FBRERZE applications  net proceeds 31 March 2024
Hz
LB RIE —E-NE
HE FELH =A=t-—A
BASE Bt EBERBALE
HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEET
Acquisition of property W% 6.8 22.0% 6.8
Expansion of investment in securities business B ARE H BRI E 10.0 32.5% 10.0
Expansion of money lending business BARREEBHIRE 8.0 26.0% 8.0
General working capital to defray its BRNAEERRZH—R

expenses for day-to-day business HiEED 6.0 19.5% 6.0
30.8 100.0% 30.8

Save as disclosed above, there was no change in capital structure of Bk E XX PATIFEE & 4D - ANEE R R & B &

the Group during the Reporting Period.
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PROSPECTS

()

Construction Business

The Group will uphold an on-going parallel development of its
construction business (including building construction, interior
fitting-out works and E&M works) in Hong Kong and Macau.
To cope with the difficulties encountered in the construction
and engineering industry, the Group has adopted a prudent
strategy in project tendering.

With its proven track records and adequate expertise in the
main contracting business, the Group was included in Building
Category Group C of the “List of Approved Contractors for
Public Works”, and Turn-key Interior Design and Fitting-out
Works Category Group Il of the “List of Approved Suppliers of
Materials and Specialist Contractors for Public Works” under
Development Bureau of the Government of the HKSAR; the
Registered General Building Contractor, the Minor Works Class
| Contractor and the Registered Specialist Contractor (Site
Formation Works and Foundation Works Categories) under the
Buildings Department of the Government of the HKSAR.

For E&M works, the Group was included in 11 categories of
the “List of Approved Suppliers of Materials and Specialist
Contractors for Public Works” under Development Bureau of
the Government of the HKSAR; and the Registered Specialist
Contractor (Ventilation) and Minor Works Class Ill Type E
Contractor under Building Department of the Government of
the HKSAR.

The Group is able to take an active part in the construction
business development.

During the Reporting Period, new projects such as i) main
contractor for superstructure work of one residential house
including E&M works at No. 9 Oxford Road, Kowloon, ii)
main contractor for superstructure work of one commercial
building at No. 49 & 51 Kimberley Road, Kowloon, iii)
triennial term contract for operation and maintenance of
electrical, mechanical and other installations at Marine Ferry
Terminals, Government Dockyard, Kai Tak Cruise Terminal
and Municipal Venues of the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region, and iv) triennial term contract
for the maintenance and repair of, alterations and additions
to, fire service installations for the venues of boundary crossing
facilities and transport services division for the Government of
HKSAR, Hong Kong were secured. As at the date of this report,
the Group has contracts on hand with a total contract sum of
over HK$ 1,112 million.

Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

AU
()

BERE
AEBBHNEEFOHERENERZ
BEXB(BRBTEE ZETRAKET
BERBETRE) REHEERTET
EHEERNNE - AEECDEHEBRER
B RS AE

BEER FAELHARERADEK
FEZEDEXME  AEBEIAS
BEERFEER I RAUAKRIREAR
maffIEERANRA AKX TR
HEBREMRERMIZE2EAR
SARBEEIREINIA : EEERBTE
FEFM —MEEAER - BIRANE
TRAEEMEMEMTEARER
BITREEEBTRER) -

ﬁ%ﬁlﬁﬁm REBERRES

ERERNERBIRAUAXTEYE
Tﬁﬁﬁﬁ&iﬁfﬁgﬁa%J%ﬂ%%ﬁZ‘f’—
ER : RESFRENEFEIME
FIEEGBRRERAER) RENRHIELE
RVNRI TR 2 BHE ©

REE
jjo

AHREG2BEREEXTNE

RIRERE - FTEBRB)RELES
BB —EEEABH EERETE
(BHERETIR)NEEARIER © )VEE
NESEFEAONS15E—EHEETY
TEFETENEERBER NARE
598 - BUSMIE - RVEBRIGEREE
BRTTHEBRFNMRSREES -
Wk EMEENBEEREERSE A
DER=F  Riv)BEBFRTTERER R
FTE938 3% O 7= 38 M 38 da AR T 5 5 b B
OB EBOREES R RINER
B ARAS=F NAREEH &
SEMFEELHLLER,112,000,000%
ik




TLRYLY "
TRLRLNY

With the Group’s proven track record, comprehensive services
and numerous licences, permits and qualifications, the Directors
believe that the Group could strengthen its position in the
Hong Kong market and diversify its customer base particularly
by attracting larger corporate customers and tenders for
more capital intensive projects for such customers. The overall
building and construction expenditure maintained its uptrend
which was contributed by the growth in private building and
construction position in Hong Kong to capture more sizeable
and profitable projects as well as to further diversify the
customer base by bidding works from more private residential
developers. In addition, further opportunities may arise which
include the promotion by the HK government in the widely
adoption of modular integrated construction method (“MiC")
and the recent development of the Greater Bay Area.

Regarding the licenses, permits and qualifications of the Group,
they are all subject to the continued compliance with various
standards relating to financial capability, expertise, past job
reference, management and safety. The Development Bureau
in recent years has gradually imposed additional requirements
to some categories of work licenses which may be essential for
retention in the List/Specialist List. The Group will certainly try
its best endeavour to satisfy these additional requirements, so
that the retention on the List/Specialist List will not be affected.

The Group operates under various licenses, permits and
qualifications and the loss or failure to renew/retain any of
these licenses, permits and qualifications could affect the
Group's business.

Furthermore, with the Group’s experienced management team
and reputation in the market, the Directors consider that the
Group is well-positioned to compete against its competitors
under such future challenges that are commonly faced by all
competitors, and after obtaining adequate job reference for
construction works, the Group will continue to pursue the
following key business strategies: (i) further expand the Group's
service scope by application for additional licences, permits or
qualifications which may be required; (ii) exercise more caution
when tendering for new construction contracts and continue to
selectively undertake new contracts; and (iii) further strengthen
the Group’s construction department through recruiting
additional qualified and experienced staff.
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(ii) Securities Investment Business

(iii)

(iv)

Regarding the business in investments in securities, the Group
has set up a Treasury Management Committee (“Treasury
Management Committee”) to implement, on the Group’s
behalf, the investment policy and guidelines. The Treasury
Management Committee comprises one chairman and two
committee members (comprising at least two directors,
including at least one executive director who acts as the
investment manager). The Board has adopted cautious
measures to manage this business activity aiming at generating
additional investment return on the available funds of the
Group from time to time.

Despite uncertainties in the global financial markets, the Group
will continue to respond to the changing market environment
and review its investment strategy regularly. The Group will
also seek investment opportunities in listed securities and other
financial products in Hong Kong and other recognised financial
markets overseas with a view to generate additional income
and enhance the capital use of the Group.

In view of the recent volatility in the stock market, the
Board will adopt cautious measures to manage the Group’s
investment portfolio with an aim to provide positive return to
the Group in the near future.

Property Investment Business

The Group maintained its property investment business and
acquired certain commercial properties in Hong Kong for
investment purpose. The Group has leased out its investment
properties for recurring rental income, which generates stable
rental income to the Group.

Money Lending Business

The Group was engaged in money lending business through
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which holds a
money lenders licence under the Money Lenders Ordinance
(Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) to carry out money
lending business in Hong Kong. The Group continued to make
efforts to develop the money lending business. Even though
the market of the money lending industry in Hong Kong has
become increasingly competitive and uncertain in view of the
external business environment, the Group believes that the
money lending business will provide a positive impact and
return to the Group.
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EEENWR DN

BEARE
R-E-_WNF=ZA=1+—H ' A&EEHEAED
26,458,000 L 2R AT EF ABm 2 & @l
BE EAREFBOT

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
As at 31 March 2024, the Group held approximately HK$26,458,000
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Details of the
significant investments are as follows:

Approximate
percentage
of equity
investments  Approximate
atfairvalue  percentage
Unrealised through to the net
Stock/ Place of fair value Market profit and assets of
Fund code incorporation gain/(loss) value loss the Group
BAYE
ftABRZ 8]
ARALY hxkE BERE
kit /BeRE  ARAIHY BWE/ (BB mE  BAEA BAES
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 % %
[iE3 Thr Thr % %
Listed equity investments EHRARE
Individual investment less than ~ (E R EE & EFEDH5%H)
5% of net assets the Group {ERIRE 8253 14,6794 5.5 13
8253 14,679.4 555 113
Listed debt investments LHEBRE
The Govtof HKSAR of the PRC BB AR EHN-Z-%% Hong Kong
Retail Green Bonds due 205 SIHRGETERS 104 B 780 5,904.0 23 46
Unlisted debt investments FLmEERE
JPMorgan Asian Total Return ERENEhEES Hong Kong
Bond (Mth) (BARS) 2 HK0000102936 &% (947) 28283 10.7 22
AB FCP I - American Income BE-ZrhaEs Luxembourg
Portfolio (At USD) &) 3 LU0157308031  EHE (342) 3,046.3 115 24
(128.9) 5874.6 2.2 46
7744 26,458.0 100.0 205
BWEEERARAR —TZWFFR 21



22

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE DN

Notes:

1. The Government of the HKSAR of the PRC Retail Green Bonds Due 2025 is a
listed debt investment. The proceeds raised is credited to the Capital Works
Reserve Fund to finance or refinance green projects that provide environmental
benefits and support the sustainable development of Hong Kong. The tenor
of the Government retail green bonds is three years, with semi-annual interest
payments linked to inflation in Hong Kong (minimum interest rate of 2.5%).

2. The investment objective of the fund is to achieve a competitive total return,
consisting of capital growth and regular dividend income, through an actively
managed portfolio investing primarily in Asian bonds and other debt securities.

3. The portfolio seeks to provide a high level of current income consistent with
preservation of capital by investing in a diversified portfolio of U.S. dollar-
denominated fixed income securities. The portfolio invests solely in U.S. dollar-
denominated fixed income securities, including investment grade and high yield,
non-investment grade securities of issuers domiciled within and outside the U.S.

During the Reporting Period, the Group disposed some of its
investments on market and the sales proceeds generated from the
investments in marketable securities amounted to approximately
HK$21,309,000 and a loss recognised in revenue for the amount
of approximately HK$2,802,000. Details of the transactions are as
follows:

Wik

TEEERRBA S _RFISMNGETEES
RBRLTEBRE - MEENMSFTRBRAZER
TEFEES  URAISAREER N IFHEEN
SEHRMBRAARHESIBERE - BAKE
TEBFNEH/=F  EFBBRES S+ F
S E (RIEME52.5%)

HEeNBREEBERER BAXIBEREARTMERR
HtEBESF2BREEAES  BHREARSED
MAER(BEERNERREBKRER) o

ZESEBIBRENUETHENEE RS F
% DERERAEGTHSRE - ZE2ERRER
AETTFHERMEE RamE S - BREBEERARE
SMEME TR BRITHR ARSI RIERERB S S

RBEHE  AEBRMEBLEHEER TR
& RAKRELLTESFNEEMEREY
421,309,000 70 WHRIW AREREIEL

2,802,000/ 7T °

RSEET :

Sales Realised
Stock code  Place of incorporation proceeds  gain/(loss)
28R
R EER AR L 3t B HERSHE Wi/ (FR)
HK$'000 HK$'000
THx FHET
Silver Tide Holdings Limited REERERAR 1943 Cayman Islands
FEES 726.9 3,088.7
China Energy Storage Technology HEFERHERBR AT Cayman Islands
Development Limited 1143 HERE 3,914.0 1,190.7
Volcano Spring International Holdings /X I @B EIBX IR R A A Cayman Islands
Limited 1715 FEefs 1,610.1 (7,173.9)
Investments with individual realised ~ {ERIE 2R dizs,/ (B518) DR
gain/(loss) of less than HK$500,000 500,000 LA & 15,058.2 92.6
21,309.2 (2,801.9)

In view of the recent volatility and weakness in the stock market,
the Board will adopt cautious measures to manage the Group’s
investment portfolio with an aim to provide positive return to the
Group in the near future.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have other plans for material investment or capital
assets as at 31 March 2024.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

There were no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and
affiliated companies by the Group during the year ended 31 March
2024.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 95 employees whom were
mainly based in Hong Kong. The total employee benefit expenses
including directors’ emoluments for the Reporting Period amounted
to approximately HK$39 million as compared to approximately
HK$36 million for the year ended 31 March 2023.

The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees are
reviewed and approved by the Directors. Apart from pension funds,
in order to attract and retain a high caliber of capable and motivated
workforce, the Group offers discretionary bonus and share options to
staff based on individual performance and the achievements of the
Group’s targets.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Group does not have significant events after the Reporting
Period.
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CEEAEE

The Group is committed to a high standard of corporate governance
practices and business ethics in enhancing the confidence of
shareholders, investors, employees, creditors and business partners
and also the growth of its business. The Board has continued and
will continue to review and improve the Company’s corporate
governance practices from time to time in order to meet the rising
expectations of stakeholders and comply with the increasingly
stringent regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its commitment to
excellent corporate governance.

The Company has adopted the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code"”) as contained in Appendix C1 to
the GEM Listing Rules as its own corporate governance code. The
Company has, so far as applicable, principally complied with the CG
Code during the period from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 (the
“Period under Review"), save for the deviation from code provision
C.5.1 of the CG Code.

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the board
should meet regularly and board meetings should be held at least
four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. During the
Period under Review, the Board only held three regular Board
meetings. The significant matters concerning the business activities
and operation of the Group had been either duly reported, discussed
and resolved at the three regular Board meetings or dealt with by
the Board by way of written resolutions for expeditious commercial
decisions making purposes. The Company will make appropriate
arrangement for holding at least four Board meetings in the
forthcoming year at approximately quarterly intervals.

THE KEY CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES
AND PRACTICES

The Company acknowledges the importance of the roles of its
Board of Directors (the “Board”) in providing effective leadership
and direction of the Company towards its objectives and ensuring
transparency and accountability of all operations. The key corporate
governance principles and practices of the Company are summarised
as follows:

THE BOARD

The Company has a division of functions reserved to the Board
and delegated to the management. The Board provides leadership
and approves strategic policies and plans with a view to enhance
shareholders’ interests while the day-to-day operations of the
Company are delegated to the management with proper supervision
from the Board. The Board reserves its decisions on all major matters
of the Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, corporate governance, material transactions
(in particular those may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of directors and other significant financial
and operational matters.
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The Board is responsible for determining the policy for corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
compliance with legal and regulatory requirement;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e)  to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code.

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the
agenda for Board meetings. All Directors have full and timely access
to all relevant information as well as the advice and services of the
Company Secretary, with a view to ensuring that Board procedures
and all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Each Director is
normally able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making request to
the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of
the Company are delegated to the management. The delegated
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed by the Board after
being reported by the management. Approval has to be obtained
from the Board prior to any significant decisions being made or
significant transactions or commitments being entered into by the
abovementioned officers, who cannot exceed any authority given to
them by resolutions of the Board or the Company.

The Board has the full support of the management to discharge its
responsibilities.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage
in respect of legal actions against the Board and to indemnify its
Directors for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.
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The Board has established the Group’s purpose, values and strategy,
and has satisfied itself that the Group’s culture is aligned. Acting with
integrity and leading by example, the Directors promote the desired
culture to instill and continually reinforce across the Group the values
of acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly, in order to facilitate the
long-term sustainability of the Group. The Group has adopted anti-
fraud and anti-corruption policy and whistleblowing policy to provide
forums for reporting issues and concerns on any misconduct, and to
uphold business integrity in its operations.

Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five members,
two of whom are female, and the Board consists of two executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

The Company had adopted a Board diversity policy aims to set out
the approach to achieve the diversity of the Board. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality of its performance. The Board has in its
composition a balance of skills, expertise, qualifications, experience
and diversity of perspectives necessary for independent decision
making and fulfilling its business needs. All Board appointments in
the future will continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard
for the benefits of diversity of the Board and in achieving gender
diversity.

The Nomination Committee will follow a range of diversified
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The ultimate decision will be made upon
possible contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.
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The Board of the Company comprises the following Directors as at
31 March 2024:

Executive Directors
Mr. Hung Kenneth
Ms. Lau Po Yee

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan

Mr. Lam Wai Hung

Ms. Au Shui Ming Anna

Details of the backgrounds and qualifications of the Directors are set
out under the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 47 to 51 of this Annual Report. All
Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Group. Each executive Director has sufficient experience to hold the
position so as to carry out his duties effectively and efficiently.

None of the members of the Board are related to one another or
have any financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationships with each other.

During the Period under Review, the Board has at all times met the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors, with at least
one independent non-executive Director possessing the appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received a written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Director regarding his
independence pursuant to the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company considers all independent non-executive Directors to
be independent in accordance with the independence guidelines as
set out in the GEM Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experiences and independent
judgement to the Board. Through active participation in Board
meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflict of interests and serving on Board committees, all
independent non-executive Directors will scrutinize the performance
of the Company in achieving corporate goals and objectives and
monitor performance reporting. By doing so, they are able to
contribute positively to the Company’s strategy and policies through
independent, constructive and informed comments at Board and
committee meetings.
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The Board values the contribution of the independent non-executive
Directors, and strives to ensure constructive relations between
them and the executive Directors. All Directors are encouraged to
contribute their views during Board meetings.

Appointment and succession planning of Directors

The Company has established formal, considered and transparent
procedures for the appointment and succession planning of Directors.
Directors to be appointed will receive a formal letter of appointment
setting out the key terms and conditions of their appointment. Any
Board member is entitled to recommend suitable candidate that
meet the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules for consideration by
the Board.

All Directors are required to retire by rotation at least once every
three years at the annual general meeting, subject to re-election
by the shareholders. All independent non-executive Directors are
appointed for a term of not more than three years.

Training for Directors and Company Secretary

Each newly appointed director receives comprehensive, formal
induction to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the
business and his/her responsibilities and obligations under the GEM
Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Directors are regularly
appraised and updated with any new regulations and guidelines,
as well as any amendments thereto issued by the Stock Exchange,
particularly the effects of such new or amended regulations and
guidelines on directors especially. On an ongoing basis, the Directors
are encouraged to keep up to date on all matters relevant to the
Group and attend briefings and seminars as appropriate.

The Directors have been informed of the requirement under CG
Code C.1.4 regarding continuous professional development. The
Company has received from each of the Directors, namely Mr.
Hung Kenneth, Ms. Lau Po Yee, Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan, Mr. Lam
Wai Hung and Ms. Au Shui Ming Anna a written record of their
continuous professional development training received.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to the Directors whenever
necessary.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2024, the Company Secretary

of the Company has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.
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Board meetings
During the Period under Review, three full board meetings were held.
Details of the attendance of the Directors are as follows:
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Directors’
attendance
EEHERH
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Hung Kenneth HEREE 3/3
Ms. Lau Po Yee AEELT 3/3

Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHITES
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan BEEBEA 3/3
Mr. Lam Wai Hung MR E 3/3
Ms. Au Shui Ming Anna [ e 3/3

Notice of regular Board meetings were served to all Directors at
least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate information
are sent to all Directors at least three days before each Board meeting
or committee meeting so as to ensure that there is timely access to
relevant information. All Directors can give notice to the Chairman
of the Board or the Company Secretary if they intend to include
matters in the agenda for Board meetings. The Board and the senior
management are also obligated to keep the Directors appraised with
the latest developments and financial position of the Company and
to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each
Director also have separate and independent access to the senior
management whenever necessary in a timely manner.

Apart from the above regular Board meetings of the year, the
Board will meet on other occasions when a Board-level decision on
a particular matter is required. The Directors will receive details of
agenda items for decision in advance of each Board meeting.

iﬁﬁ%%gg%&z MRBITEHNELD T
’*Fﬁﬁﬁ% EMEFELEZBEE
mmE o —REBEHAEBA -

ARARIERBREFCERXARECTETRE
THEL=ZXK MABEEFTEERRERES
EXMHERMBEZER  ABRERKRENE
ESHBEEN WEESARRLESES
FENREAR  WEOAURKAEZTEER
FARMEELBN BEFELEREEE
NEEGREFTERARA RN ER LW EK
AR MEREFEHABERE - ERER
EXeEESNALEZARBLIEES
REERE -

BREAFATHEETSSHN  EFEHRN
HEFETRESORTRAHER EF
HMRBREFEEZMELERFANZ
2o

BRERZERERAAF T _NFFR

29



30

Corporate Governance Report
EREBHE

The Company Secretary is appointed by the Board and reports to
the Board. He is responsible to assist to take and keep minutes of
all Board meetings and Board committee meetings, which record in
sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and decisions
reached, including any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting
views expressed. At Board meetings, all Directors have ample
opportunities to express their respective views, voice any concerns
and discuss the matters under consideration, and the results of
voting at Board meetings fairly reflects the consensus of the Board.
Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors for comment
within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is
open for Directors’ inspection. Directors are entitled to have access
to board papers and queries will be responded fully. According
to the current practice, any material transaction, which involves a
conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a Director, will
be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board
meeting. Such Director must abstain from voting and will not be
counted as quorum.

Directors’ commitments

Each Director has confirmed that he can give sufficient time and
attention to the Company’s affairs, and has regularly provided
information on the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organisations and other significant commitments,
including the identity of such companies or organisations and an
indication of the time involved.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company held the annual general meeting on 25 August 2023.
Ms. Lau Po Yee, the executive Director of the Board, was elected
as the chairman of the annual general meeting to ensure effective
communication with shareholders of the Company at the meeting.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separated and should not
be performed by the same individual. The role of Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer are currently being vacant since 29 July 2019,
pending the Company to identify a suitable candidate to replace.
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The Company fully supports the division of responsibility between the
Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer to ensure a
balance of power and authority. The respective responsibilities of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are clearly defined and set
out in writing. The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is
responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance
with good corporate governance practice. The Chairman is primarily
responsible for ensuring good corporate governance practices and
procedures are established. He encourages all Directors to make full
and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and take the lead to
ensure that it acts in the best interests of the Company. He ensures
that appropriate steps are taken to provide effective communication
with shareholders and their views are communicated to the Board
as a whole. With the support of the management, the Chairman
is also responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive adequate
information (whether from senior management or otherwise) in a
timely manner, which is accurate, clear, complete and reliable, and
appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board meetings as well as
to ensure constructive relations between the executive and non-
executive Directors.

The Chief Executive Officer focuses on implementing objectives,
policies and strategies approved and delegated by the Board. He is in
charge of the Company’s day-to-day management and operations.
The Chief Executive Officer is also responsible for developing strategic
plans and formulating the organisational structure, control systems
and internal procedures and processes for the Board’s approval, as
well as developing policies and practices on corporate governance
and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

The Chairman holds a meeting with the independent non-executive
Directors without other Directors at least once per year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Internal Control Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Group’s affairs. All Board committees
of the Company are established with defined written terms of
reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees have
complied with the Code provisions and are available on the Stock
Exchange website www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website
www.smartcity-d.com and are available to shareholders upon
request. The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expenses. These Board committees will report back
to the Board on their decisions or recommendations.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises all three independent non-executive
Directors (including one independent non-executive Director who
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise) and Mr. Lam Wai Hung is
the chairman of the committee. None of the members of the Audit
Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing external
auditor.

The Group's unaudited quarterly results, interim results and annual
results during the Reporting Period have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee, which was of the opinion that the preparation of
such results complied with the applicable accounting standards and
requirements and that adequate disclosure has been made.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@)  toreview the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the qualified accountant,
compliance officer or external auditor before submission to the
Board;

(b) to review the relationship with the external auditor by
reference to the work performed by the auditor, their fees,
terms of engagement and its independence assessment, and
make recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor;

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s
financial reporting system, and risk management system,
internal control system and associated procedures; and

(d) to review the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
staff, their training programmes, and budget.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the Period under
Review to review the latest financial results and reports, financial
reporting and compliance procedures, effectiveness of internal
control systems and the appointment of the external auditor.
Minutes of Audit Committee meetings are kept by the Company.
Draft and final version of the minutes of meetings are sent to all
committee members for comments within a reasonable time after
the meeting. There are no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern. Sufficient resources are provided by
the Company for the Audit Committee to perform its duties.
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There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditor.

Details of the attendance record of members of the Audit Committee
are set out below:
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Members’

Name of Member REHE attendance
REHERE

Mr. Lam Wai Hung WEHE 3/3
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan HEEBEA 3/3
Ms. Au Shui Ming Anna @ ImAA &+ 3/3

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan, Mr. Lam Wai Hung and Ms. Au Shui
Ming Anna are the members of the Remuneration Committee and
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan is the chairman of the committee. The
primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations on and approving the remuneration policy and
structure and remuneration packages of the executive Directors and
the executives and access to professional advice, at the Group's
expense, when necessary. The Remuneration Committee is also
responsible for establishing transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director
or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own
remuneration, which remuneration will be determined by reference
to the performance of the individual and the Group as well as the
market practice and conditions. The Remuneration Committee
normally meets towards the end of each year to reviewing the
remuneration policy and structure and determination of the
annual remuneration packages of the executive Directors, non-
executive Directors, independent non-executive Directors and senior
management and other related matters. The Group’s remuneration
policy is to maintain fair and competitive remuneration packages
based on business needs and market practice. Factors such as market
rate, an individual’'s qualification, experience, performance and
time commitment are taken into account during the remuneration
package determination process.

During the Period under Review, one Remuneration Committee
meeting was held on 26 June 2023 and reviewed the
remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management.
Recommendations have been made to the Board.
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Details of attendance record of members of the Remuneration
Committee are set out below:

FHEZEERBHELEABNOT

Members’

Name of Member REHA attendance
B HERE

Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan BEEBEA 11
Mr. Lam Wai Hung MMERESTAE 1”71
Ms. Au Shui Ming Anna @ IR 2+ 11

Nomination Committee

Ms. Au Shui Ming Anna, Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan and Mr. Lam Wai
Hung are the members of the Nomination Committee and Ms. Au
Shui Ming Anna is the chairman of the committee. The primary
objectives of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board
composition on an annual basis and identifying and nominating
candidates for appointment to the Board such that it has the
relevant blend of skills, knowledge and experience. The Nomination
Committee also assesses the independence of independent non-
executive Directors and makes recommendation to the Board on
the appointment and reappointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors. Candidates for appointment as Directors may
be sourced internally or externally through various channels such as
using the services of specialist executive search firms. The aim is to
appoint individuals of the highest caliber in their area of expertise
and experience.

During the Period under Review, one Nomination Committee
meeting was held on 26 June 2023 to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board.

Details of attendance record of members of the Nomination
Committee are set out below:
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B HERE

Ms. Au Shui Ming Anna @ ImAR 2+ 11

Mr. Lam Wai Hung MERESTAE 11

Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan BEEBEA 11
The following policy has been adopted by the nomination committee 2ZEZE €T HMUTEE  ABBHHETT

to assist it in fulfilling its duties and responsibilities as provided in its
terms of reference. The policy may be amended from time to time by
the committee as provided therein.
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Recommended candidates

The committee shall consider any and all candidates recommended
as nominees for directors to it by any directors or shareholders;
provided that in the case of shareholder recommendations, such
recommendations comply with all applicable notice requirements
set forth in the Company’s articles of association, the procedures
for a shareholder’s nomination to be properly brought before a
general meeting, and the GEM Listing Rules. The committee may also
consider, in its sole discretion, any and all candidates recommended
as nominees for directors to it by any source.

Desired qualifications, qualities and skills

The committee shall endeavour to find individuals of high integrity
who have a solid record of accomplishment in their chosen fields
and who possess the qualifications, qualities and skills to effectively
represent the best interests of all shareholders. Candidates will be
selected for their ability to exercise good judgment, to provide the
commitment to enhancing shareholder value, practical insights
and diverse perspectives. Candidates will also be assessed in the
context of the then-current composition of the board, the operating
requirements of the Company and the long-term interests of all
shareholders. In conducting this assessment, the committee will,
in connection with its assessment and recommendation of director
candidates, consider diversity (including, but not limited to, gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience and skills) and such other factors as it deems appropriate
given the then-current and anticipated future needs of the board
and the Company, and to maintain a balance of perspectives,
qualifications, qualities and skills on the board. The committee
may also consider such other factors as it may deem are in the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders. The above diversity
perspectives, taking into account the Company’s business model
and needs, are set out in a board diversity policy which has been
established by the Company to see that diversity on the board can be
achieved.

Independence

The committee shall ensure that at least one-third of the board
members (or such other number of the members of the board as
prescribed by the GEM Listing Rules from time to time) meet the
definition of independent non-executive director. The committee
shall annually assess each nominee for independent non-executive
director by reviewing any potential conflicts of interest that he or she
and their immediate family members (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) may have, based on the criteria for independence set forth in
Rule 5.09 of the Listing Rules. A retiring independent non-executive
director who has served the board for a period of nine consecutive
years or more is eligible for nomination by the board to stand for
re-election at a general meeting provided that he or she is still
considered independent by the board.
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Nominee evaluation process

The committee will consider as a candidate any director who has
indicated his or her willingness to stand for re-election and any other
person who is recommended by any shareholders. The committee
may also undertake its own search process for candidates and may
retain the services of professional firms or other third parties to assist
in identifying and evaluating potential nominees. The committee may
use any process it deems appropriate for the purpose of evaluating
candidates which is consistent with those set forth in its terms of
reference, the Company’s articles of association, the corporate
governance policy and the policy described herein; provided that
the process used for evaluating a nominee for each election or
appointment of directors shall be substantially similar and under no
circumstances shall the committee evaluate nominees recommended
by a shareholder pursuant to a process that is substantially different
than that used for other nominees for the same election or
appointment of directors.

Nomination procedures

1. The secretary of the committee shall call a meeting of the
committee, and invite nominations of candidates from board
members, if any, for consideration by the committee prior to its
meeting. The committee may also put forward candidates who
are not nominated by board members.

2. For filling a casual vacancy, the committee shall make
recommendations for the board’'s consideration and approval.
For proposing candidates to stand for election at a general
meeting, the committee shall make nominations to the board
for its consideration and recommendation.

3. Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated
persons shall not assume that they have been proposed by the
board to stand for election at the general meeting.

4. In order to provide information of the candidates nominated
by the board to stand for election at a general meeting, a
circular will be sent to shareholders. The circular will set out the
names, brief biographies (including qualifications and relevant
experience), and any other information, as required pursuant
to applicable laws, rules and regulations, of the proposed
candidates.
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5. A shareholder can serve a notice to the board of directors
or the company secretary within the lodgement period of its
intention to propose a resolution to elect a certain person as a
director in accordance with the relevant procedures posted on
the Company’s website. The particulars of the candidates so
proposed will be provided to all shareholders for information
by way of announcement and/or supplementary circular.

6. A candidate is allowed to withdraw his or her candidature at
any time before the general meeting by serving a notice in
writing to the board of directors or the company secretary.

7.  The board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to
its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any
general meeting.

8. Shareholder proposed resolutions shall take the same form as
the resolutions proposed for the candidates recommended by
the board.

During the year, the nomination committee reviewed the board
composition and independence of independent non-executive
directors, and considered the suitability of those retiring directors
standing for re-election at the next annual general meeting as well as
the need for a director succession plan. The committee also reviewed
the nomination policy and the board diversity policy and discussed
the objectives set for implementing the latter, and noted that those
objectives had been achieved. The committee concluded that the
board composition should continue unchanged.

Corporate Governance Report
EREBRE

5. BREARBERARBGUEMERHERERF
RIEHBANPRARNESSARANE
HHEMN KPHERRZHERTA
THRIEFHRER - FRAZBRNKRE
AR FBEEBEBRE R R TBEHET
BTRRBRRAHZ2E -

6. (REAFTRERAGEITAMEAAIRRER
EFeNATNERHEMANEE -

7. EFRgn—YAREREEARTMNR
RAE2EZHREARKRTE -

8. BERREMAZREEZTGERMREA
HRFESRE A~ e

FA REAZEERWNEFS2HENEBY
FRITEF2BUME  TEBER T ERRE
FRELBREFZREFEETETEE - A
REFEEINEAIZFE - TES TR
REBRENESTEXNEZTBE @ L& W
RETEREMREZBR  RERZFEE
ERER -ZESEWMAETSZHAAR
HERF NG o

BRERZERERAAF T _NFFR

37



38

Corporate Governance Report

"ﬁ‘-‘hL\ﬁ-ﬂ:

Internal Control Committee
The main duties of the Internal Control Committee include the
following:

(i)

(ii)

ensuring good corporate governance standards and practices
are maintained, evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks the Board is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, ensuring that the Company
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and internal controls systems, overseeing
management in the design, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems, ensuring
that management provides a confirmation to the Board on the
effectiveness of these systems by performing the duties set out
in its terms of reference; and

reviewing and discussing solutions to regulatory compliance
and internal control matters.

During the Period under Review, one Internal Control Committee
meeting was held on 26 June 2023 to review this Corporate
Governance Report, as well as to review the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control system as further detailed in the sub-section

headed “Risk management and internal monitoring”

in this section.

Details of attendance record of members of the Internal Control
Committee are set out below:
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Members’

Name of Member REHKA attendance
B HERE

Ms. Au Shui Ming Anna @ ImAR 2+ 11
Mr. Lam Wai Hung MERESTAE 1”71
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan BEEBEA 11
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Please refer to section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 47 to 51 of this Annual Report for
biographical details of the Company Secretary.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Details of the Directors’ remuneration, five highest paid employees
and senior management’s emoluments are set out in the notes 8
and 9 to the consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report,
respectively.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December 2018. The
Company'’s dividend policy allows the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”) to share the profits of the Company whilst
retaining adequate reserves for the Group's future growth.

According to the Company’s dividend policy, in addition to the final
dividends, the Company may declare interim dividends or special

dividends from time to time.

According to the Company’s dividend policy, the Board shall consider
the following factors before proposing and declaring dividends:

(i) the Group’s general financial condition;
(i) the Group’s working capital and debt level;
(i) the Group's liquidity position;

(iv) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

(v future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development needs;

(vi) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group's lenders;

(vii) the general market conditions;
(viii) the general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial

performance and position of the Group; and

(ix) any other factors that the Board deems relevant.
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The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the Laws of the Bermuda, the
articles of association of the Company and any applicable laws, rules
and regulations.

The Company'’s dividend policy will be reviewed from time to time by
the Board and there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid
in any particular amount for any given period.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group had engaged the
Group's external auditor, Baker Tilly, to provide the following services
and their respective fees charged are set out below:

ARAEIR MRS RS IRBE ST BRER
B ARFEBEREAMARARERERE
2 RARERPAE 2 ERR S -

EEeRTHRAAQRAZREBE T
REEEFAHEEHHEREEARESR IR

B o

TN

RE R
BE_T-_NF=ZA=+—HILFE K&
BEERAXEANEBEINEZEED - ATIRHER
BRI 2 BEEREHSNT

Fee charged for the Reporting Period RBEHBRERZER HK$'000
FAT

Types of services: AR AE R
Audit of the Group REBEEZ 1,130
Non-audit services FEZIRTE 130
Total e 1,260

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors with reference to, and which is on
terms no less exacting than, the required standard of dealings set out
in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has
been made to all Directors and the Directors have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard of dealings throughout
the Period under Review. The Company has adopted the same code
of conduct regarding securities transactions for its employees and
for directors or employees of its subsidiaries and holding companies
who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information of the Company or its securities. No incident of non-
compliance of the code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by employees was noted by the Company.
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RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements on a going concern basis, with supporting assumptions
or qualifications as necessary, for each financial period with a view to
ensuring that such financial statements give a true and fair view of
the financial position of the Group and of its financial performance
and cash flow for the financial year. Management of the Company
has provided such explanation and information to the Board to
enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial
and other information put before the Board for approval. Further,
management of the Company has provided monthly updates to the
Board which gives a balanced and understandable assessment of
the Company’s performance, position and prospects in sufficient
detail to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge
their duties. The Group’s consolidated financial statements are
prepared in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules, the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, all relevant
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The
Group has selected appropriate accounting policies and has applied
them consistently based on prudent and reasonable judgements and
estimates. The Directors endeavour to ensure a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Group’s position and prospect in
the annual reports, interim reports, price-sensitive announcements
and other disclosures required under the GEM Listing Rules and
other regulatory requirements. The Directors acknowledge their
responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024. The statement of the
external auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 67 to 77 of this Annual
Report. Management of the Group is obligated to provide sufficient
explanation and information to the Board so that it can make an
informed assessment of financial and other relevant matters.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a high
standard of probity, openness, and accountability. A Whistleblowing
Policy is in place to create a system for the employees and other
stakeholders of the Company to raise concerns, in confidence, about
possible improprieties. The identity of each whistleblower and all
information provided in connection with a whistleblowing report
will be treated with the strictest confidence. The Audit Committee
reviews the Whistleblower Policy annually to ensure its effectiveness
and will recommend appropriate revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a high
standard of ethics in its business operations. To raise anti-corruption
awareness among its employees, the Company has established a set
of policies to set out the minimum standard in complying with the
applicable anti-corruption laws and regulations.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL MONITORING
Risk Management and Internal Control

During the year, the Group has complied with Principle D.2 of the
CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. Management is responsible for the
design, implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the
Board oversees management in performing its duties on an ongoing
basis. Main features of the risk management and internal control
systems are described in the sections below:

Risk Management System
The Group adopted a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and
risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate
the risk portfolio accordingly.

Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in the Reporting Period, no
significant risk was identified.

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The components of
the framework are shown as follows:

Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures

that provide the basis for carrying out internal control across the
Group.
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Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying and
analysing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a basis for
determining how risks should be managed.

Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures
to help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the
achievement of objectives are carried out.

Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information needed to
carry out day-to-day controls.

Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether
each components of internal control is present and functioning.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and
implements an inside information policy and procedures. Certain
reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure
that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure
requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations.

o The Executive Directors are designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in the Reporting
Period, no significant control deficiency was identified.
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Internal Auditors

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA") function, which is consisted
of professional staff with relevant expertise (such as Certified Public
Accountants). The IA function is independent of the Group's daily
operation and carries out appraisal of the risk management and
internal control systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and
tests of operating effectiveness.

An |IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal control
systems is conducted semi-annually and the results are reported to
the Board via Audit Committee afterwards.

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and ensuring review of the effectiveness of
these systems has been conducted annually. Several areas have been
considered during the Board's reviews, which include but not limited
o (i) the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks since
the last annual review, and the Group’s ability to respond to changes
in its business and the external environment; (ii) the scope and quality
of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal
control systems.

The Board, through its review and the reviews made by IA function
and Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and
internal control systems were effective and adequate. Such systems,
however, are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. It is also considered that the resources, staff qualifications and
experience of relevant staff, environmental, social and governance
performance and reporting function were adequate and the training
programmes and budget provided were sufficient.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining an open and effective
investor relations policy and to updating investors on relevant
information/developments on a timely manner, subject to relevant
regulatory requirements. Briefings and meetings with institutional
investors and analysts are conducted from time to time. The
Company also replies to any enquiries from shareholders on a
timely manner. The Directors host the annual general meeting
each year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries.
The corporate website of the Company at www.smartcity-d.com
provides a communication platform via which the public and
investor community can access up-to-date information regarding the
Company.

Shareholders may also send any enquiries, suggestions or concerns to
the Board, whose contact details are as follows:

Address Smart City Development Holdings Limited
11th Floor, Nanyang Plaza,
57 Hung To Road,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Email . info@smartcity-d.com

Telephone no. (852) 2111 2988

Fax no. . (852) 3184 3401

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

To ensure compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, the notice of the
meeting, the annual report and the circular containing information
on the proposed resolutions will be sent to shareholders at least 21
days before the annual general meeting. Voting at the forthcoming
annual meeting will be by way of a poll. An explanation of the
detailed procedures of conducting a poll will be provided to
shareholders at the commencement of the annual general meeting
to ensure that shareholders are familiar with such procedures.

Poll results will be counted by Hong Kong Branch Registrar, Tricor
Investor Services Limited and will be posted on the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange on the day the shareholders’
meeting held. The general meetings of the Company provide an
opportunity for communication between the shareholders and the
Board. The Chairman of the Board as well as the chairmen of the
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee, Audit Committee
and Internal Control Committee, or in their absence, other members
of the respective committees, are available to answer questions at
the shareholders’ meetings. The Company will also arrange for the
external auditor to attend the annual general meetings to answer
relevant questions if necessary.
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Separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors.

In addition to regular Board meetings, the Board, on the requisition
of shareholders of the Company holding not less than one-tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company, may convene a special general
meeting to address specific issues of the Company within 21 days
from the date of deposit of written notice to the Company Secretary,
at the Company’s head office at 11th Floor, Nanyang Plaza, 57
Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The requisition
must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be signed by the
requisitionist(s). Shareholders may also use this same method to put
forward proposals for the next general meeting.

During the Period under Review, there were no significant changes
to the Company’s constitutional documents.

DIVERSITY

As at 31 March 2024, the gender ratio in the workforce (including
senior management) for the Company is 23%. It was calculated
based on the number of females in the Company at 22 and the
total number of employees employed by the Company at 95. Going
forward, the Company will continue to recruit employees on a merit
basis and at the same time consider other diversity factors (including,
but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience and skills) to ensure that gender
diversity will be achieved across the workforce.

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has established a Shareholders Communication Policy
to set out the Company’s procedures in providing the shareholders
and the investment community with ready, equal and timely access
to balanced and understandable information about the Company,
in order to enable the shareholders to exercise their rights in an
informed manner and to allow the shareholders and the investment
community to engage actively with the Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Hung Kenneth (“Mr. Hung"), aged 53, is an executive Director, the
compliance officer and the authorised representative of the Company
since 29 July 2019. He is also the company secretary of Achieve Plus
Investments Limited and Sunny Harvest Limited, the indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Hung obtained a degree
of Bachelor of Science from Woodbury University in June 1995.
He has management experience in companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Hung is currently an independent non-executive
director of China Demeter Financial Investments Limited (stock code:
8120). He was an executive director of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings
Limited (formerly known as Interactive Entertainment China Cultural
Technology Investments Limited) (stock code: 8081) from February
2014 to August 2018; an independent non-executive Director of Sino
Vision Worldwide Holdings Limited (stock code: 8086) from January
2015 to October 2015, and redesignated to an executive Director
from October 2015 to November 2017; and an independent non-
executive director of IR Resources Limited (stock code: 8186) from
March 2015 to April 2019, all of which are companies listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange.

Lau Po Yee (“Ms. Lau”), aged 33, is an executive Director since
29 July 2019. Ms. Lau obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business
Administration from Universidad Empresarial de Costa Rica in April
2018. She has been a director of MJ Production Limited, a company
principally engaged in media and advertising, since 2017.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Wong Yuk Lun Alan (“Mr. Wong"), aged 49, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director since 29 July 2019. He
is also the chairman of the remuneration committee, a member of
the internal control committee, a member of the audit committee
and a member of the nomination committee of the Company. Mr.
Wong graduated from the University of Sunderland with a bachelor’s
degree in accounting and finance. Mr. Wong had been working
with various accounting firms and commercial companies and has
over 22 years of experience in merger and acquisitions, financial
management, taxation, audit and non-audit services.

Mr. Wong is currently an executive director of NOVA Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1360), independent non-executive director of
Huisheng International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1340) and
Kin Shing Holdings Limited (stock code: 1630), and a non-executive
director of TFG International Group Limited (stock code: 542), the
issued shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong
is also an independent non-executive director of Temir Corp. (stock
code: TMRR) since 15 July 2019, the issued shares of which is traded
on the OTC Securities Marketplace in the United States of America.

Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive director of TUS
International Limited (currently known as Titan Invo Technology
Limited) (stock code: 872) from 2 September 2014 to 17 July 2020,
the issued shares of which is listed on the Stock Exchange.

Lam Wai Hung (“Mr. Lam”), aged 44, is an independent non-
executive Director since 29 July 2019. He is also the chairman of the
audit committee, the chairman of the internal control committee,
a member of the remuneration committee and a member of the
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Lam holds a Bachelor
of Arts in Accounting and Finance Degree from Leeds Metropolitan
University and is a member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He had been working in various companies listed on
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lam is currently an executive director of
NOVA Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1360), an independent
non-executive director of Far East Holdings International Limited
(stock code: 36) and Kin Shing Holdings Limited (stock code: 1630),
the issued shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Lam was an independent non-executive director of Jimu Group
Limited (stock code: 8187) from 25 May 2021 to 14 January 2023,
the issued shares of which is listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lam
was an executive director of Sino Haijing Holdings Limited (currently
known as Ming Lam Holdings Limited) (original stock code: 1106)
("Ming Lam”) from 19 March 2015 to 4 September 2020, the issued
shares of which had been formerly listed on the Stock Exchange
until 2 November 2021. Mr. Lam was informed that Ming Lam was
ordered to be wound up and an official receiver was appointed as
the provisional liquidator by the High Court of Hong Kong on 31
August 2020. Mr. Lam confirmed that he was not a party of such
winding up proceedings and is not aware of any actual or potential
claim that has been or will be made against him as a result of the
above.

Au Shui Ming, Anna ("Ms. Au”), aged 60, is an independent non-
executive Director since 29 July 2019. She is also the chairman of the
nomination committee, a member of the audit committee, a member
of the remuneration committee and a member of the internal
control committee of the Company. Ms. Au holds a bachelor’s
degree in Commerce, majoring in Accounting, from the University
of Wollongong in Australia. She is a Certified Practicing Accountant
of CPA Australia and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Au has extensive experience in the
finance and accounting fields. Ms. Au is currently an independent
non-executive director of OOH Holdings Limited (stock code: 8091)
since 19 December 2016. She is also currently the chief financial
officer of New Horizon Finance (HK) Limited. In addition, Ms. Au
is currently a director of i-Craftsmen Limited and Smart Education
Company Limited.

Ms. Au was an independent non-executive director of Jiu Rong
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2358) from May 2012 to October 2015
and an executive director of China Digital Culture (Group) Limited
(stock code: 8175) from July 2007 to June 2013.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERGNEEERBRE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Keung Kwok Cheung (“Mr. Keung”), aged 66, is primarily in
charge of the Group’s overall construction corporate strategy
and daily operations, including business development and overall
management. He is the Technical Director and an Authorised
Signatory for Deson Development Limited as a Registered General
Building Contractor with the Buildings Department since 1999.

Mr. Keung has over 42 years of experience in the fields of civil,
structural and building engineering and in the management of large-
scale projects.

Mr. Keung was awarded with an Associateship in Civil and Structural
Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University (formerly
known as Hong Kong Polytechnic) in November 1982 and graduated
from the University of Macau (formerly known as University of East
Asia, Macau) with the Master of Business Administration in January
1991. He was admitted as a fellow member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Directors in September 2004.

Kwok Koon Keung (“Mr. Kwok"), aged 57, is primarily responsible
for the building and fitting-out works section of the Group and
further responsible for the planning and coordination of projects,
which covers the coordination of engineering resources, progress
monitoring and work performance. Mr. Kwok has over 34 years of
experience in the building industry.

Mr. Kwok graduated from the London South Bank University (formerly
known as South Bank University) with a Bachelor of Science Degree
with distinction in June 1992. He is a professional associate of The
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors since November 1997.

Lo Wing Ling (“Mr. Lo"”), aged 65, is in charge of the electrical
and mechanical engineering section of our Group, responsible
for the planning and coordination of projects, which cover the
coordination of engineering resources, progress monitoring and
work performance. Mr. Lo has over 42 years of experience in
environmental engineering and building service work. Mr. Lo joined
the Group in August 2000 as the director of Kenworth Engineering
Limited. Mr. Lo is the Technical Director and an Authorised Signatory
for Kenworth Engineering Limited as a Registered Specialist
Contractor (Ventilation) with the Buildings Department since 2000
and 2001, respectively.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Lo graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor
of Science Degree in Engineering in November 1981 and through
part-time studies, graduated from the City University of Hong Kong
(formerly known as City Polytechnic of Hong Kong) with a Bachelor
of Arts Degree in Business Studies in November 1990. He has also
studied as an external student and obtained a Master of Science
Degree in Environmental Management from the University of London
in December 2003.

Yip To Chun (“Mr. Yip”), aged 37, joined the Company as the
financial controller in July, 2019 and appointed as the Company
Secretary of the Group on 18 March 2023. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and holds a
bachelor degree of Business Administration. Mr. Yip has over 12
years of experience in accounting, financial advisory and corporate
secretarial services.

Li Ngan Mei, May (“Ms. Li"), aged 63, is the Administration
Manager of the construction business. Ms. Li joined the Group in
December 1988 and has over 39 years of experience in dealing
with personnel and administration matters. She is in charge of the
construction business’s administrative and human resources matters
including the overseeing of the administrative department, which
is responsible for maintenance and renewal of our licences, permits
and qualifications.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Directors hereby present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year,
the Company’s subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) acting
as a contractor in the construction business to provide building
construction works, electrical and mechanical engineering works
and alterations, addition, renovation, refurbishment and fitting-
out works, mainly in Hong Kong and Macau; (ii) investment in
marketable securities; (i) investment in properties; and (iv) money
lending.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Details of segment information are set out in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

It is proposed that the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM") will be held on Friday, 23 August 2024. A
notice convening the AGM will be published and despatched to the
Company'’s shareholders in the manner required by the GEM Listing
Rules in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The AGM will be held on 23 August 2024. For the purpose of
determining the qualification as shareholders of the Company
to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from 20 August 2024 to 23 August 2024,
both days inclusive. In order to qualify as shareholders of the
Company to attend and vote at the AGM, unregistered holders of
shares of the Company are required to lodge all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates with the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited at 17th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, No.
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 19 August
2024.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group'’s results for the year ended 31 March 2024 and the
Group's financial position at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the Reporting Period (2023: Nil).
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in
notes 12 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements in this
Annual Report, respectively.

Further details of the Group’s investment properties are set out on
page 65 of this Annual Report.

SHARE CAPITAL
There was no change in share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Period.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Reporting Period are set out in the “Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity” on page 82 of this Annual Report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company has no reserves available for cash
distribution and/or distribution in specie, computed in accordance
with the Companies Law of Cayman Islands.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements, is set out on page 192 of this Annual Report. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the Reporting Period is set
out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 7 to 23 of this Annual Report. These discussions form part of
this “Report of the Directors”.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The management is already aware of the principal risks associated
with the Group’s business and accordingly estimates and manages
all kinds of risks encountered through inspection under the risk
management and internal control system.

A number of factors may affect the results and business operations
of the Group, the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group
are set out below:

The Group is reliant on the availability of public and
private sector construction projects in Hong Kong

The results of operations of the Group for the building construction
section are affected by the number and availability of public and
private sector construction projects in Hong Kong, which in turn
are affected by various factors, including but not limited to the
general economic conditions in Hong Kong, changes in government
policies relating to the Hong Kong property markets and the general
conditions of the property markets in Hong Kong. A downturn
in either factor may result in a significant decrease in the main
contractor works for property re-development for both residential
properties or industrial factory buildings in Hong Kong in general.

The Group is reliant on the availability of fitting-out
projects of luxury brands in both Hong Kong and Macau
The results of operations of the Group for the fitting-out works
section are affected by the expansion rate of luxury brands. In the
event that there is a downturn in the economy of Hong Kong and
Macau, fewer shops will be opened. It may result in a significant
decrease in fitting-out works for luxury brand shops.
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The Group's business is labour-intensive. If we or our
subcontractors experience any shortage of labour,
industrial actions, strikes or material increase in labour
costs, our operations and financial results would be
adversely affected

The Group’s construction works are labour-intensive in nature.
During the three years ended 31 March 2024, the Group and its
subcontractors did not experience any material shortage of labour,
industrial actions, strikes or material increase in labour costs.
However, there is no assurance that the Group will not experience
these problems in the future when the peak load of construction
activities is ongoing. In the event that there is a significant increase in
the costs and demand of labour and we have to retain our labour by
increasing their wages, the Group's staff cost and/or subcontracting
cost will increase and thus lower our profitability. On the other hand,
if the Group or the Group’s subcontractors fail to retain the Group's
existing labour and/or recruit sufficient labour in a timely manner
to cope with the Group’s existing or future projects, the Group
may not be able to complete the Group’s projects on schedule and
within budget, and the Group’s operations and profitability may be
adversely affected.

The pricing of the Group is determined based on the
estimated time and costs involved in a job which may
deviate from the actual time and costs involved and any
material inaccurate estimation may affect the Group’s
financial results

The Group needs to estimate the time and costs involved in projects
for all sections in order to determine the fee. There is no assurance
that the actual amount of time and costs would not exceed the
Group's estimation during the performance of the jobs. The actual
amount of time and costs involved in completing the job may be
adversely affected by many factors, including adverse weather
conditions, accidents, breakdown of machinery and equipment,
unforeseen site conditions. Any material inaccurate estimation in
the time and costs involved in a job may adversely affect the profit
margin and results of operations of the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES, PERFORMANCE AND
COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to maintaining sustainable working practices
and pays close attention to ensure all resources are efficiently
utilised. The Group strives to become an environmental-friendly
corporation by saving electricity and encouraging recycling of office
supplies and other materials. The Group and its activities are subject
to requirements under various laws.

The laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Group include, among others, Air Pollution Control Ordinance
(Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control Ordinance
(Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal
Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Environmental
Impact Assessment Ordinance (Chapter 499 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Occupiers Liability Ordinance (Chapter 314 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
(Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and Immigration Ordinance
(Chapter 115 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group has put in place
in-house rules containing measures and work procedures to ensure
that the Group’s operation is in compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations.

A report on the environment, social and governance aspects is
prepared in accordance with Appendix C2 to the GEM Listing Rules
will be published on the Company’s and Stock Exchange’s websites
as close as possible to, and in any event no later than three months
after, the publication of the annual report.
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DISCLOSURE UNDER RULES 17.22 TO 17.24 OF THE
GEM LISTING RULES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no circumstances which would
give rise to disclosure obligation under Rules 17.22 to 17.24 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS
During the Reporting Period, the Group has made donations to
various charity organizations.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,

CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a headcount of 95 (2023:
96) employees, most of them are based in Hong Kong. Salaries of
employees are maintained at a competitive level and are reviewed
annually, with close reference to the relevant labour market as
well as the minimum wages guideline as prescribed by the local
government from time to time.

The Group awards discretionary bonuses to eligible employees based
upon profit achievements of the Group and individual performance.
The Company has also adopted a share option scheme in order
to attract and retain the best available personnel and to align the
interests of the employees with the Group's interests. Being people-
oriented, the Group ensures all staff are reasonable remunerated and
also continues to improve and regularly review and update its policies
on remuneration and benefits, training, occupational health and
safety.

The Group also stays connected with its customers and suppliers
and has ongoing communication with the customers and suppliers
through various channels such as telephone, electronic mails and
physical meetings to obtain their feedback and suggestions.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, each Director or
other officers of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he
or she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties
of his or her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Group has
maintained appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in
respect of relevant legal actions against the Directors and officers of
the Group during the Reporting Period.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 80% (2023: 81%) of the
total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer included
therein amounted to approximately 31% (2023: 45%). Purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
49% (2023: 62%) of the total purchases for the year and purchases
from the largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately
20% (2023: 28%).

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or any other shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in any of
the Group's five largest customers or suppliers during the year.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the Reporting Period and up to
the date of this Annual Report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Hung Kenneth
Ms. Lau Po Yee

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan b c&d

Mr. Lam Wai Hung @ c&d

Ms. Au Shui Ming, Anna b c&d

Remuneration committee member
Nomination committee member
Audit committee member

Internal control committee member

a o o o

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his/
her independence to the Company pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules as at 31 March 2024 and the Company still considers
the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and five highest paid
employees of the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9, respectively
to the consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report. The
remuneration policy of the Group can be found in the sub-section
headed “Human Resources” in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual Report. The Remuneration
Committee has reviewed overall remuneration policy and structure
relating to all Directors and senior management of the Group
in reference to the Group’s operating results and individuals’
performance.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the senior management by band for the Reporting Period, is set
out as below:

FEHMH

Annual Remuneration
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BRIBEEEERTRISFAGRXFEE 1.5 SR
ERE NG AR RERE D B F 5 a0
T

Number of
individuals

AH

HK$1,000,000 and below
HK$1,000,000 to HK$ 1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
Over HK$2,000,000

1,000,000 T KA T
1,000,000 7L % 1,500,000/ 7T 4
1,500,0017% 7L 22,000,000/ 7T -
2,000,0007 7T £

DIRECTORS’ AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

None of the Company’s Directors had a material beneficial interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
Reporting Period.

Save as disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements
in this Annual Report, there is no contract of significance to
the business of the Group between the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, or a substantial shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, to
which the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party, during the year. During the year, no
contract of significance for the provision of services to the Group by
a substantial shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was made.

ESRFTERRRENTHESR
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 10 August 2015 and the Stock
Exchange granting approval of the listing of and permission to
deal in the shares to be issued under the share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 11 August 2015, the Company has
adopted the Share Option Scheme. Under the terms of the Share
Option Scheme, the Board of the Company may, at its discretion,
grant options to eligible participants to subscribe for shares in the
Company. There were no share options outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme during the Reporting Period.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent,
upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive Directors.
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive Director of the Company, or to any of
their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of
the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 30 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HK$1 in total by the grantee. An option may be exercised under the
Scheme at any time during a period not exceeding 10 years after the
date when the option is granted and will expire on the last date of
such period.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the Directors,
but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share
options; and (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company'’s shares for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of offer.
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Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

No share option has been granted during the Reporting Period and
there was no share option outstanding at the end of the Reporting
Period.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme and the share options
issued under the Share Option Scheme are included in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT
Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there was no equity-linked
agreement entered into by the Group during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors or the chief executive
of the Company had any interests, long or short positions in shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules:

As at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors or chief executive of
the Company had any interests in the underlying shares in respect
of physically settled, cash settled or other equity derivatives of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO).
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, so far as is known to the Directors of the
Company, the following persons (other than Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had interests and short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
of the SFO were as follows:

FERRREMALTRRS RARER
BB IXR

R-ZE-_WNFE=ZA=+—H BARAES
il MTALZ(EERARTEZITHAE
BN AN BB (7 sk AR RE AR D HE B 7B AC 8%
EARRNBIRIEES M EIENE336E6TFTEZ
TRz ESRARDT

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company RAERREBRZER
Percentage of
Number of  the Company’s
ordinary issued
Name Capacity and nature of interest shares held share capital
AR RE BT
=1 B REREME FEEBEREE RAEZBEDE
Masan Multi Strategy Fund SPC — Beneficial owner 37,715,200 15.71%
Masan HK Equity Fund SP
Masan Multi Strategy Fund SPC - E=EAA
Masan HK Equity Fund SP
Masan Capital Limited Investment manager (Note 1) 37,715,200 15.71%
BLWERBRAF] BE R (fTEE)
Top Lion International Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 37,715,200 15.71%
(Note 1)
Top Lion International Limited ZirH AR (e
Energy Luck Limited Beneficial owner 23,978,816 9.99%
Energy Luck Limited EmAA
Wong Kui Shing, Danny Interest in controlled corporation 23,978,816 9.99%
(Note 2)
FEKESE R PEHLEEE R (I 5E2)
Like Capital Limited Beneficial owner 12,661,000 5.28%
Like Capital Limited EmEEA
Ethnocentric Investment Limited Interest in controlled corporation 12,661,000 5.28%
(Note 3)
Ethnocentric Investment Limited R wDEEE R (eE3)
Capital VC Limited Interest in controlled corporation 12,661,000 5.28%

Capital VC Limited

(Note 3)
SR ABE R (B EE3)
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Notes:

(1

)

Masan Multi Strategy Fund SPC = Masan HK Equity Fund SP (“Masan Fund”)
holds a total of 37,715,200 Shares. Masan Fund is wholly-owned by Masan
Capital Limited, which in turn wholly-owned by Top Lion International Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“Top Lion"). Therefore, Top
Lion is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the Shares held by Masan Fund
for the purposes of the SFO.

As at 31 March 2024, Energy Luck Limited holds a total of 23,978,816 Shares.
Energy Luck Limited is wholly-owned by Wong Kui Shing, Danny. Therefore,
Wong Kui Shing, Danny is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the Shares
held by Energy Luck Limited for the purposes of the SFO.

As at 31 March 2024, Like Capital Limited holds a total of 12,661,000 Shares.
Like Capital Limited is wholly-owned by Ethnocentric Investment Limited, which
in turn is wholly-owned by Capital VC Limited, a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. Therefore, Ethnocentric Investment Limited and Capital VC
Limited are deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the Shares held by Like
Capital Limited for the purposes of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 March 2024, none of the substantial
or significant shareholders or other persons, other than the Directors
and chief executive of the Company whose interests are set out in
the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company or Any Associated Corporation” above, had any interest or
a short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’

INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, Mr.
Wong Yuk Lun Alan and Mr. Lam Wai Hung have the following
interests in the business apart from the Group's business, which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group's business:

Director

E=x

Name of company

DEEH E 43

Nature of business

EERERRRREFRENER

RBESHEREEAREAY  SEBEE
RMEHEEREARREEBERKATEE
REEREEBFOER (AEENEBR
SRR A T

Nature of interests

REEME

Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan *NOVA Group Holdings

Limited (“NOVA")

Money lending business

Executive director of NOVA

BEEBEA HBEREERBRAR MIEE HEWITESR
([#&%&]
Mr. Lam Wai Hung *NOVA Money lending business Executive director of NOVA
(effective from 6 April 2023)
WEHERE B MBS BERTEZ(BZT==F
N ANHERBAER
e listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange E PREE R FrER £

As the Board is independent to the board of NOVA, the Group is
capable of carrying on its business independently of, and at arm'’s
length, from the business of NOVA.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any business
and interest of the Directors nor the controlling shareholder of the
Company nor any of their respective close associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) that compete or may compete with the
business of the Group and any other conflict of interests which any
such person has or may have with the Group during the Reporting
Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for the Reporting
Period.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no transactions which
need to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance with
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
The investment properties of the Group as of the end of the
Reporting Period is as follows:

Report of the Directors
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ME2HRAER
BEREHR  AEEZREDEDOT

Attributable
interest of Gross
Location the Group  Group's tenure Current use Lease term floor area
A%EH
B Bz AEEHHEMY BRI AR HEFH BEEEE
Office 4, 6/F., Rightful 100%  The properties are held Commercial Long term 863 sq.ft.
Centre, No 12 Tak Hing for a term expiring on 8
Street, Tsim Sha Tsui, October 2051
Kowloon, Hong Kong
BBNERDEEEL2 NEFFEFHR-Z [GES R 863 IR
FEEROERAE h—FtANBER
Flats 702 to 705 on 7th 100%  The properties are held Commercial Long term 1,578 sq.ft.
Floor, Corn Yan Centre, No. for a term expiring on
3 Jupiter Road, Hong Kong 24 February 2895
BAREHIFREF LT MERBFHER N EES R 1,578 F IR
B702Z705% NAEFZA=+MA

&

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company'’s total number of issued shares were held by the public
throughout the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Annual
Report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for the pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.
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AUDITOR

Baker Tilly will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for their reappointment as auditor of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Hung Kenneth
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

@ pakertilly
a4 5] S

Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of Smart City Development Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Smart
City Development Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 78 to 191, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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B M % B A S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS ERESEIR

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional F#BEAFFHEISRERMOZELHLE - 27
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated ¥ AHG AT K BREAN BT R AEEW $
financial statements of the current period. These matters were 18 o B HIE A UGS BB MR BEETT
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial I WK EROE S THETERIERN © FiM
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we ~ T¥iELEIHIRHEBNER -

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BRETTER ZEEEEFTRRNFTEEH

Revenue recognition for construction contracts

BETIRSHOHBARER

Refer to notes 3 and 5 to the audited consolidated financial statements

DS FECARE I IREMN E3R5

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group  Our audit procedures in this area included:

recognised revenue from construction services and  HIfEEH MNEHRF S

related business of HK$431,722,000.

HEZZT-_WMF=A=+—HIEFE - EEBEMHE e«  Understanding and assessing the appropriateness of the

R B EERB RAEEER 2 WA R431,722,00078 Group's accounting policies for revenues recognition
JC ° and assessing the compliance of those policies with
HKFRSs;

o TEREFM BEEEARMRAEINSRENEE
o WHEZEBRREENAEEMBHRELER

o Assessing the significant judgements made by
management through an examination of project
documentation and discussion of the status of projects
under construction with the management, finance and
technical personnel of the Group;

e RBATFESIRBMAXMHRE BEXEERE MBR
R A BasmERIE B MR - REHEE IR EFTIEM
BE2HE

o Understanding and testing the key controls of the
Group over its processes to record contract costs and
contract revenue, the determination and calculation
of the stage of completion and the identification of
provision for onerous projects, if any;

e THWMRAFR BEEEMRIHESORRRELHWA - B
BRERERERFEURBREBEBREWAE)Z
RABRES
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
HREER

Independent Auditor’s Report
B M B BT R S

BRFTEE(E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RZEREETHRNTEHN

Revenue recognition for construction contracts (Continued)

BEIRAOHOBATER @)

Refer to notes 3 and 5 to the audited consolidated financial statements (Continued)

PHIEE R E B RE N L3R 5(8)

The Group has recognised revenue from the provision
of construction services over time, using an input
method to measure progress towards complete
satisfaction of the services, because the Group's
performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. The input method recognises revenue
based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred
relative to the estimated total costs for satisfaction
of the construction services. This involves the use of
significant management judgements and estimates,
including estimating the progress towards completion
of the services, scope of deliveries and services
required, total contract costs incurred and estimated
costs to complete.

ERECFERAB AL ETRERRBHNER - B
MERRERERHEZERBORA AR EXENE
HEBESIR R T PR ELZ IR RRITHNEE -
A ERIBE £ N BRA NG ERGEERBEEETHEK
RE L BIRER WSS o LL S RERERE 2 EEHE
KAt - BREMGHABRBTRZEE - FIiRERBEOEH
ERAERYE  MEEZENAKREAREETLIR®
EUfEET A o

Examining the budgeted cost of material construction
contracts prepared by the project managers by
comparing the budgeted component costs to
supporting documents including, but not limited, to
price quotation of suppliers and subcontractors;
BBKEEENKRNEF X (BRETERERE
FRDSBENRE)ETLEER  REBEALEREY
EABRATRAYMTEERA

Testing the actual costs incurred on contract works on
a sample basis and recalculating the revenue recognised
during the year based on the percentage of completion
for all individual construction contracts at 31 March
2024; and
BER-_Z_MNE=A=+—HOMBEEREESL
W LEDLHMEARAGNIREANERKAR - I
B EFRBROLA R

Identifying and assessing possible onerous contracts
by comparing the total budgeted costs, taking into
consideration the actual costs incurred up to 31 March
2024, with the total contract revenue for individual
construction contracts as agreed with customers.
BANRREARKA(EPERIEZE T _MF=
A=+—BHEANEENRN) BNTFEENERZ
FERAMBAKEA - BRI M EATREMBEE L -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
HEETER

BFRFTEEER)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RZEHEEETHROMAESHHN

Impairment assessment on accounts receivable and contract assets

FEWARE R &N EENRETfh

Refer to notes 3, 17 and 19 to the audited consolidated financial statements

PR FERA S BEIRENE3 17819

As at 31 March 2024, the Group recorded gross
accounts receivable of HK$43,802,000 before
impairment of HK$2,747,000 and gross contract assets
of HK$56,841,000 before impairment of HK$984,000.
RZZEZMF=A=+—H  EXEEHBEKIEE
#1843,802,000% 7T (BRIR1E 2,747,000 7T AI) »
AHEEBAERA56,841,000% 7T (FRIF E984,0007%
JCAL) ©

The measurement of impairment losses on the Group's
accounts receivable and contract assets under the
expected credit loss ("ECL") approach was estimated
by management through the application of judgements
and use of highly subjective assumptions, such as the
payment history, ageing profile and management'’s
industrial knowledge and experience. The impact
of economic factors, both current and future, and
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors were
also considered in management’s assessment of the
likelihood of recovery from their customers.
ERERBEAAGREAREETERR(NRKE
o BREMANUREEBNITEMNB ISR HER
HEEEE(RHREEFEDET BE£EEWERE
RENEENREREFTE - EREHE TP WDER
RABEMRF AT ER T EAI ARG BERARNTE
AREBAFENREERE -
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Our audit procedures in this area included:

HPEE T ENETEF 2

Examining background information and repayment
capability of the debtors, such as available credit
assessments and information regarding the creditability
of the debtors;

BEERBEBAZERERREREE - flanr BE
ETEURERERBEBAZEE WBEHNZE
X

Assessing the reasonableness and appropriateness
of management’s judgement on determining if a
significant increase in credit risk has occurred or a
loan receivable is credit-impaired and the basis for
classification of exposures into the 3 stages as required
by HKFRS 9 and examining supporting information
to assess the appropriateness of the classification of
exposures as at the end of the reporting period; and
FHEE IR EHEE E R RS KRR N E N ERE
GHREERB B 25 BERBEN - URIRE
AR BHRELENFIRAESARIBERA=[ARRZ
HE - URBERBREHRTERARSBRE L ZH
BhEHL

Testing the accuracy of key data sources and
parameters applied in the expected credit loss
computations by checking to appropriate supporting
information and the relevant agreements; and
FRRTEZTHDENMEBERBZ - ARRRE
EEEAERAZ AR EERR R 28 RN




WA\

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
HREER

Independent Auditor’s Report
B M B BT R S

BRFTEE(E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RZEREETHRNTEHN

Impairment assessment on accounts receivable and contract assets (Continued)

FE e R 18 % & 40 5 2 O R 1B AT £k (4D

Refer to notes 3, 17 and 19 to the audited consolidated financial statements (Continued)

PG ERIF N BEHREME3  17R19(&

Assessing the reasonableness and appropriateness of
the methodologies and assumptions adopted as well
as information used by checking to applicable external
data sources, taking into consideration the fair value of
any collaterals and other relevant information, and the
impact of forward looking factors;
FRBREERIIMPEBERRLEMATAER - XEE
ERERmz A FEREMBEERARATELREZ
28 THEFER A ERBRRARERR2E 2 &
BUEREENE

Obtaining an understanding of management’s debt
collection and recovery procedures with the customers
for those aged receivables or amounts in dispute;
THRERBEEARTPHZEEHEKIRES LR F R
SHEMNEFEN RIKEREF

Assessing the impairment allowance as of the end of
the reporting period, taking into account factors such
as the repayment history, the subsequent settlements
of the accounts receivable and contract assets, and
other relevant information;
HEEERERNRABRERBERES KRR - R R
BERLE  BUREERANEEERESERLHEBTNA
REMEEENSRE

Evaluating whether the historical loss rates were
appropriately applied and adjusted based on the current
economic condition and forward-looking information;
and
EEAEEEEABERAXRRIREE AL ER
ARBEEERMEL AR &

Testing, on a sample basis, the accuracy of ageing
categories of accounts receivable to the sales invoices.

ORI SR W AR TR AR B R R ST SH S B R R -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % B A S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
HEETER

BFRFTEEER)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RZEHEEETHROMAESHHN

Impairment assessment on loans and interest receivables

W ERRF SR ERT

Refer to notes 3 and 16 to the audited consolidated financial statements

B FERRE I BERENZ3516

The assessment of impairment of loans and interest
receivables to customers involves significant judgement.
The Group adopts the individual impairment
assessment approach for individually significant loans
and interest receivables; and the collective impairment
assessment approach for loans and interest receivables
not individually significant or not individually impaired.
Under the collective approach, assessment of future
cash flows for loans and interest receivables portfolios
is based on historical loss experience of trade and
loans receivables with similar credit risk characteristics,
with adjustments based on the impact from changes
of and uncertainties in macro-economic environment.
The future cash flows of loans without collateral
or guarantees, or loans that are not adequately
collateralised, are subject to higher uncertainties.
RWEFERENB ZBEMESRERHE - &
5 B HHE Bl B A H) EUCE S RS BR A E R E FT A
E VA KB RIS B K 3k A 18 B R (E B FE B R R A
BRAEBRAENLE - BEBEER®E  BRERKEH
BHEMNRRRRETEHHNERABRUEERR
FEOE S RWFIR R EREREBEERLCHE - I
BEEZBSBERZEH R I EELNZBIELFAE
BEADIBRROEFIERTRHERHARKE R
MHEERE KRBT HEE M
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Our audit procedures in this area included:

BRPEETHNBRT TR

Evaluating and testing the effectiveness of design and
implementation of key controls relating to loans and
interest receivables, including relevant data quality
involved;

A KR B e U S R K ) B R O R B R I BR AT
BITOARM - BREMSENEBSIEES
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
HREER

Independent Auditor’s Report
B M B BT R S

BRFTEE(E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RZEREETHRNTEHN

Impairment assessment on loans and interest receivables (Continued)

P W B K R R 2RI B B A (D

Refer to notes 3 and 16 to the audited consolidated financial statements (Continued)

PG ERIT N HREMN 3R 16(E)

Since loans and interest receivables impairment
assessment involves judgements and assumptions,
and in view of the significance of the amount (as at
31 March 2024, gross loans and interest receivables
amounted to approximately HK$51,433,000, and
impairment of loans and interest receivables amounted
to approximately HK$976,000), we consider it a key
audit matter.

B RIS R R SORUE Rl 5 I BT KR Rk - BLEE
REFERRIZWF=A=+—08  BREXK
K F B 4{EX) A51,433,00098 7T + M EKREF KF B

RAE#) /976,000 7) - BMIRREBNERETS
18 o

Performing detailed procedures on the individually
significant loans and interest receivables portfolios and
the collective loans and interest receivables portfolios,
and assessed the loan related data and tested the
assumptions used in the valuation models which
focused on the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures
regarding the provision for impairment of loans and
interest receivables and the related risks such as credit
risk, liquidity risk and the aging of the loans and
interest receivables; and
HREAREREBKRERREWFEAE - UREBE
WERRERHNEHEES - HPETTFANERX - I
A ERRBEER AR AERE R ERANRR
BRER jﬂ%@&‘dﬁréﬂﬂlfﬁ % ) B B (B 3 8 LA I A
FARRGEERR RBESRRARERER KL
Al Eﬂ]ﬂ%@ﬁ]ﬁﬁ?%‘z@%ﬁ P &

Checking relevant disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.

Bk B W B MR EREEKE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % B A S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group'’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B M B BT R S
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % B A S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

RE AR BT RS MWK AR
BEEE

- HEERARBLESHEARMNREN
EH o IRIBPAERM T RE -
BEEAFHERFAIBAERNEXN
THEEM @ fEMA e Es%Y SE£EM
FEKERNELERRE - IIRREM
RBEFEERTHEEE - MBEBEERZ
BEN SR EPIRBEAEIBRAMBR
REPWHEBRE  KMREANKET
o RAERRMNER - RfIN&EH
RERZEANRE B IS ERT
B o A RRBHEFBERAEE
B ERETERELE -

- FHERAUBHREANBEIHRSN - &
BUAR  BREEE  UREEMBER
REETERBEBRXZMERE -

- 3 EREAEBIEHEADHMHBE
BERGE - BEMNETRE  WEY
HEMBHRRERER - RMEAEEHE
BT LIFMIESE - EEMBTT - AR
BMOEABERRELHEE -

FREMEBRIN - RAEAIEEER T80
EHHE RERHE  BAESERE 8
IR PR ERT B R EHE S A ERER
BRPE

BPEFRAEERXEN  FHARMEHTA
BEREBIEMHBERBRER - L E M
BBAAEAEMER A ERMB YL
MWFFAREMEMER - U REEANER
T RBBRBREE N ERMRIRAE G
FER R HOBT S48 1

ity e

A ni.‘E-»}‘



AN

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tong Wai Hang.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 June 2024

Tong Wai Hang
Practising certificate number P06231

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

REBEER

7 N = | ﬁﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

UABTTIIR)

2024 2023
—EmEF —E-=4F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHExT FHET
Revenue KA 5 435,077 323,704
Cost of sales HERNA (410,566) (290,130)
Gross profit EX 24,511 33,574
Other income and gains H At A R U 75 5 3,693 4,110
Fair value loss on investment properties & & ¥ A F{EE1E 13 (2,220) (1,220)
Administrative expenses TR (43,231) (42,287)
Other operating expenses, net Hmaeegms - JFE (2,671) (4,285)
Finance costs BB R 7 (156) 61)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BB ATE 1R 6 (20,074) (10,169)
Income tax expense Fris®if X 10 (282) (806)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE A2 F#E AEBIEERERE
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY (20,356) (10,975)
HK cents HK cents
AL Bl
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ZA&RQFIEERAEE AL
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF BREER
THE COMPANY 11
- Basic -EK (8.48) (5.05)
- Diluted -5 (8.48) (5.05)

The notes on pages 86 to 191 form part of the consolidated financial

statements.

Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Consolldated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meBEakEHE

i 2 mE Wl m R

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE-_Z-_NE=A=+—HLEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

UABTTIIR)

2024 2023
—E-NE TE-=4F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B =E FExT FET
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FAEER (20,356) (10,975)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ Hte2E (B8, Wi
INCOME
Other comprehensive (loss)/fincome that R E & HIR T~ & &5
will not be reclassified to profit or loss D iBZEEzERIH b
in subsequent periods: 2HE (BB
(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation of MELHREFER
leasehold land and buildings (B4, Btk 12 (1,986) 800
Income tax effect TStz & 25 328 (132)
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income REEHMETSEH
that will not be reclassified to profit DEEEFOEM
or loss in subsequent periods 2m|(ER) M= FE (1,658) 668
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ FREMZEER),
INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF Wi > BHEFE
TAX (1,658) 668
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS AR EEARLEFEFREZR
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO  EE#AE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY (22,014) (10,307)
The notes on pages 86 to 191 form part of the consolidated financial ~ $86Z% 191 B FT& M sE AR 4R & B IS KA —
statements. B o
BHBERIZRERAR —T-NFFH
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

As at 31 March 2024
R-ZT_ME=A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

UABTTIIR)

ity e

5 b}

2024 2023
—EB-WEF —E_=F
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FHEIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment LER Y 12 52,122 58,846
Investment properties wEME 13 18,940 21,160
Intangible asset BAE 14 259 304
Bond receivable e (EF 15 = 20,000
Loans and interest receivables EWEREF A 16 21,100 5,980
Total non-current assets FREBEELE 92,421 106,290
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Loans and interest receivables FEWE R EF A 16 29,357 32,402
Accounts receivable W AR TR 17 41,055 18,422
Bond receivable FERES 15 20,000 =
Prepayments, deposits and other TARTRIA ~ e REM
receivables JEUS FRIE 18 9,598 4,895
Contract assets BEHEE 19 55,857 44,259
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABRE 22/
profit or loss BE 20 26,458 39,257
Tax recoverable AR e R IR - 296
Pledged deposits BEEBER 21 9,126 17,254
Cash and cash equivalents B MReEEER 21 49,165 59,335
Total current assets RBEEHRE 240,616 216,120
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Accounts payable FERTERIA 22 29,191 23,410
Other payables and accruals H fth < 5RIE R FEEH B F 22 68,169 83,705
Contract liabilities BREE 23 96,095 51,713
Lease liabilities HEERE 12 211 203
Tax payable FERRLIR 131 86
Interest-bearing bank and other SRRITREMBEE
borrowings 24 6,420 9,289
Total current liabilities KB EAE 200,217 168,406
Net current assets RBEEFE 40,399 47,714
Total assets less current liabilities EELERRBAR 132,820 154,004

Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R E AR OR R

As at 31 March 2024
RZZT_ME=/A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

A TTIIR)

2024 2023
—E-ME —EC-=4
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M5 FHBxT FHET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Lease liabilities HERE 12 417 587
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE 25 2,385 2,476
Defined benefit obligations REBMEME 26 1,091 S
Total non-current liabilities ERBEBELEE 3,893 3,063
NET ASSETS EEFE 128,927 150,941
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the &R AEE AELES
Company
Share capital Bz 27 30,000 30,000
Reserves e 29 98,927 120,941
Total equity A 128,927 150,941

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28

June 2024.

BEFEgER - TWFERNAT/\BHREY
BT -

Mr. Hung Kenneth
RERELE
Director

EFE

Ms. Lau Po Yee
EELL

Director

EFE

The notes on pages 86 to 191 form part of the consolidated financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERZBR

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE-_ZT-_MF=A=+—RALLtFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

UABTTIIR)

Share Property
Share premium Contributed revaluation Retained Total
capital account surplus reserve profits equity
MEEH
B R4 RER EQRH i REEA BHAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
A1 April 2022 R=F=ZFMA-H 25,000 9,381 (5,372) 15,976 85,386 130,371
Loss for the year FREE = = = = (10,975) (10,975)
Other comprehensive income for the year:  FREM 2 E K :
Surplus on revaluation of leasehold land and  EEHE it RIEFHEH -
buildings, net of tax e RE = = = 668 = 668
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the  FR2E M/ (FB1B) BE
year - - - 668 (10,975) (10,307)
Issue of new shares (note 27) BB (H5E27) 5,000 27,000 = = = 32,000
Share issue expenses (note 27) R BT (i £27) = (1,123) S S - (1,123)
Release of property revaluation reserve BEMESHGEE - - - (566) 566 =
At 31 March 2023 RZF=Z=F=A=1+—8 30,000 35,258* (5,372)* 16,078* 74,977* 150,941
At 1 April 2023 RZZ-=fMA—H 30,000 35,258* (5,372) 16,078 74,977 150,941
Loss for the year FRER = = = = (20,356) (20,356)
Other comprehensive loss for the year: FREMZEES
Deficit on revaluation of leasehold land and ~ E & & Lt RIEFMEA -
buildings, net of tax REFE = = = (1,658) = (1,658)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRZABBAE = = = (1,658) (20,356) (22,014)
Release of property revaluation reserve BEMESHEE - - - (658) 658 S
At 31 March 2024 RZZEZWMF=A=1+—AH 30,000 35,258* (5,372)* 13,762* 55,279* 128,927
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$98,927,000  * hEHEREREREVBMRARTOREHE

(2023: HK$120,941,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 98,927,000 L (ZF==4 : 120,941,000/

7o)

F8eE 191 B M B ZE M HRERA—

2B o

The notes on pages 86 to 191 form part of the consolidated financial
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-Z-_WNF=A=1+—ALFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

UABTTIIR)

2024 2023
s el 5 —T=F
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHMBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BrEiRTE A (20,074) (10,169)
Adjustments for: BTHNIER EHFHEE
- Finance costs -UBER 7 156 61
— Interest income - FEHA 5 (3,069) (1,873)
- Dividend income SN ON 5 (33) (24)
— Fair value loss on investment - REMERNFEBE
properties 13 2,220 1,220

— Loss on disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment
— Depreciation of property, plant and

- HEWE  BEREE
15 B &8 6 39 99
-YE - BERERETE

equipment 6 3,330 3,504
- Amortisation of an intangible asset ~ — & E 6 45 45
— Fair value loss on financial assets at ~ — IEAF(EFF AIBZEA
fair value through profit or loss, ERMEENATE
net BE - FE 5 2,027 248
— Impairment of items of property, - BEREEIRE
plant and equipment A 6 2,605 3,528
— Reversal of impairment of items of -V BELZREER
property, plant and equipment R EHEE] 6 - (243)
— Impairment of loans and interest -EREFERFERE
receivables, net FE 6 758 130
— (Reversal of impairment)yimpairment  — FEUBRIE CR{E R E)
of accounts receivable, net HE - FE 6 (703) 281
— Reversal of impairment of other - E b W IE R E B
receivables 6 (28) -
— Impairment of contract assets - EHEERE 6 = 490
(12,727) (2,703)
(Increase)/decrease in accounts JE U BR 3B (3% hn) SR
receivable (21,643) 17,173
Increase in contract assets BHEEKEN (11,598) (7,495)
Increase in loans and interest receivables & & 5k & Kl B3 N (12,833) (12,451)
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets at ZAFEF ABFNSRE
fair value through profit or loss B, (1) 10,772 (20,510)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, TERTFIE -~ ke RAME
deposits and other receivables FRIE (35 0) R A (4,675) 11,805
Increase in accounts payable FEA BRIE I 0 5,781 15,024
Decrease in other payables and accruals E i & < 2B & e 5+ & F R
2 (15,536) (20,213)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities &4 &&E M, GFL) 44,382 (976)
Increase in defined benefit obligations 57 7E4& I & {T1& A1 1,091 =

BRERZERERAAF T _NFFR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

REBRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

UABTTIIR)

2024 2023
—ECUE —E-=F
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FHEIT

Cash used in operations BETEFTARS (16,986) (20,346)
Interest paid [EANEESS (409) (185)
Hong Kong profits tax refunded/(paid), EiR&E (B BEFEH

net | FE 296 (1,139)
Dividend received BUAE B 33 24
Interest element on lease liabilities HEAENEHS 7 (34) (37)
Net cash flows used in operating RETETARSREFE

activities (17,100) (21,683)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHMBRERE

ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2T B 3,069 1,873
Purchases of items of property, plant BEYE BELKEEE

and equipment (1,191) (87)
Subscription of bond receivable REBEWES 15 - (20,000)
Acquisition of a subsidiary that is not a Ui —RIIEZESIHEE 2 B

business NC] 30 = (6,488)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits 2 EIFZ U 2, (& IN) 8,128 (97)
Decrease in time deposits with original 4% & s R HAPR 280 = & A 19

maturity of more than three months E R F HOR

when acquired - 25,000
Net cash flows generated from RETEBEESRETFE

investing activities 10,006 201

Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-Z-_WNF=A=1+—ALFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

UABTTIIR)

2024 2023
“EWE —ZEZ=F
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
ihg=s FET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHRERERE
ACTIVITIES
New trust receipt loans and other FERREERREMEER
borrowings 31 15,036 17,120
Net proceeds from placing of new Ao 3T AR 19 P15 SRIEFHE
shares 27 - 30,877
Repayment of trust receipt loans BEETVIEER 31 (16,905) (8,470)
Repayment of margin financing BERER/E 31 (1,000) =
Principal portion of lease payments LR AE D (207) (602)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated BEEE () FIERE
from financing activities REEE (3,076) 38,925
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE INCASH BR&RBELZEEE (H
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ) /B E (10,170) 17,443
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning RFEHIRIRE MRS EHE
of year 5B 59,335 41,892
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RERNEESREAESEE
END OF YEAR HEB 49,165 59,335

The notes on pages 86 to 191 form part of the consolidated financial

statements.

B o

BB RERERAT

SE86ZE 191 HTE M iE B AN AR & I IS5 R M) —
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 QFAREEESH
Smart City Development Holdings Limited (the “Company”) BWERZERBRAGTEAATD N
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies T—MFELATN\BRERSHSAA
Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands as an exempted FEEE ERSHBEEMA AER
company with limited liability on 18 July 2014. The address =1 /N NN F it 57 87 bz bl
of the Company’s registered office is located at Windward 3, AWindward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO
Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350 Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Box 1350 Grand Cayman, KY1-1108,
Caymans Islands and its principal place of business is located Cayman Islands * MEA X E & B A
at 11th Floor, Nanyang Plaza, 57 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, BEANEBREBEES7TREFES
Kowloon, Hong Kong. & o
The Company is an investment holding company. The RABB—FRIEEERAR - XRA R
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the BB A (S AEEDYEUTE
“Group”) are involved in the following principal activities: (i) Z2EH WV EEEEBNRBFIMEREX
construction business, as a main contractor and fitting out EEMEREEITE  BEBIRE  URRE
works, as well as the provision of electrical and mechanical HHWETIERG AR E M EZEEHEE
engineering services, mainly in Hong Kong and Macau, and % (NEHFEE  (IHERE - R(v)
other construction related business; (ii) investment in securities; RIEER -
(i) property investment; and (iv) money lending business.
Information about principal subsidiaries FENMBARIZEHR
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARARIEZMBARFIBLOT :
follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Registered/ Percentage of equity
registration and issued and  Class of attributable to
Name business paid-up capital ~ shares held the Company Principal activities
ZREL/ Z/ERT  AERG KARELES
£ AR EE RBERE EA AAt TEER
Direct  Indirect
=84 B
Achieve Plus Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary - 100  Property investment and
securities investment
RRNBEERAA Bk VBT LB - 100 MEREREFRA
Brilliant Winner Limited British Virgin Islands US$1  Ordinary 100 = Investment holding
("BVI")/Hong Kong
KERRES [E5A+ 100 - RAEREK
(%BRZ#E],/
Bk
Charmfine Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000  Ordinary - 100  Property investment
EFREBRAT &8 1,000,000 E#@ - 100 #ERE

Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(RIEZHIEA - TRLAETIIR)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 PEAREEERGE)
(Continued)
Information about principal subsidiaries FTENBE AR ZER (&)
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Registered/ Percentage of equity
registration and issuedand  Class of attributable to
Name business paid-up capital ~ shares held the Company Principal activities
AR/ a/BRT  FAERG FAREAER
£B SR EFLH RERRE EAl Batk TEEH
Direct  Indirect
B A
Colton Ventures Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$T  Ordinary - 100 Investment holding
RERURE/BE B+ - 100 HREER
Cyber Fortune Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary - 100 Investment holding
RBRAME/BH [ES - - 100 ®EER
Deson Development Limited Hong Kong HK$20,000,100  Class A (a) - 100 Construction contracting
HK$20,000,000  Class B (a) and investment
holding
BEEERERAA BB 20,000,100 A%i(a) - 100 IRFABRIZEER
20,000,000  BX(a)
Deson Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000  Ordinary - 100  Decoration engineering
R IRARATF BE 1000087 &i@ - 100 %Ik
Deson Industries Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary - 100 Investment holding
HEEXFRAT RBRAME/BE [ES - 100 ®EER
Deson (Macau) Construction Limited  Macau MOP30,000  Ordinary - 100  Decoration engineering
e (RF)REFRAR R 30,0002F% L@ - 100 %REIR
Foregrand Holdings Inc. BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary - 100 Investment holding
RBRAME/BE [ES - 100 ®EER
Fine Chance Investment Holding BVIHong Kong US$T  Ordinary 100 = Investment holding
Limited
EBRLHE /A [E s 100 - REER
Glory Noble Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary 100 = Property investment
EBARHE/FE [ESS 100 - MERA

BRERZERERAAF T _NFFR 87
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 QEAREEERGE)
(Continued)
Information about principal subsidiaries FEHMB AR ZER (&)
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Registered/ Percentage of equity
registration and issued and  Class of attributable to
Name business paid-up capital  shares held the Company Principal activities
SR/ af/ e8RS FRAEGER
£ R E R R&RKRE EH Bk TEEY
Direct  Indirect
B EF:3
Grace Profits Investments Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary - 100 Investment holding
RBRLME/TE 1ET BB - 100 RELR
General Spread Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary - 100 Property investment
EBRNEE/BE (E5 - 100 BERE
Kenworth Group Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$3  Ordinary - 100 Investment holding
EBRAEE/BE 3T BB - 100 REAR
Kenworth Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$54,374,140  Ordinary - 100 Provision of electrical and
HK$20,000,000  Preference mechanical
(b) engineering services,
and securities
investment
BRIBERAT & 543741408 L@ - 100 RHBETIRRHR
20,000,000 B% BARE
(b)
Latest Ventures Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1,000  Ordinary 100 = Investment holding
ERRARSE/BE 10007 && 100 - REER
Mark Sino Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary - 100 Property investment
ERBRAT 0 AT L@ - 100 #ERE
New Stream Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$T  Ordinary 100 = Investment holding
RRRLHE/BE 1XT LR 100 - REER
Smart City (HK) Development Limited  Hong Kong HK$10  Ordinary 100 = Provision of electrical and
mechanical
engineering services
BH (BB ERERRA G 08T &8 100 - REMBEIRRH
Simple Rise Inc. Hong Kong HK$390,000  Ordinary - 100 Property investment
FEERRA 0 390,000 L@ - 100 #MERE

Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(RIEZHIEA - TRLAETIIR)

1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 ARREEERGE

(Continued)

Information about principal subsidiaries FTENBE AR ZER (&)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation/ Registered/ Percentage of equity
registration and issuedand  Class of attributable to
Name business paid-up capital ~ shares held the Company Principal activities
B3 gM/BRT FERG KAREERER
2% SR EEn Y R#RRE EH BAt TEER
Direct  Indirect
B k4

Sunny Harvest Limited Hong Kong HK$2  Ordinary - 100 Property investment

BEERAR B 28T Ll = 100 YERE

Turbo Sky Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary 100 = Investment holding

RERETES/ B 1Er R 100 - REEBR

Yellow River Consultants Services Hong Kong HK$2  Ordinary - 100 Money lending

Limited

ENERREERAF E 0BT &R - 100 MfE

Notes: BEE -

(@  The holders of class A shares have voting rights and are entitled to (@ ABROKBEAEEREZEVERES
dividend distributions. Upon the winding-up of this company, the class A REDIK - RZEABFERE - ABR®H
shareholders are entitled to return of assets. The holders of non-voting BRREEZFEEERR ZSHRIKREESB
class B shares are not entitled to dividend distributions. Moreover, upon BEROZHEAEREEZREDIK ° It
the winding-up of this company, the class B shareholders are not entitled SN RZARERE MARZEELR
to any return if the assets of this company are less than HK$100 trillion. 100,000,000,000,000/% 7T * BEBRZ 17D A% BT~

BEEREMNEERR

(b)  The holders of the preference shares have a cumulative preferential right (b) BEBRBEAEBHIZFZAARNZREE
to this company’s profits at 10% of the nominal value of its share capital, SRR - LLPIZERRAREE10% @ {8 AU
but are not entitled to receive notice of or attend or vote at any meeting AARRSEIESSHZAN - TEELE
of members or any meeting of directors. REGLERERE -

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, ERASERESRASHAEERSF

in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results EXEEXNIEFERBRIEEEE

for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of FEEZH D 2 ARBIMBAR - ESE
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the REWNEEMMBARZFEEIE &
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length. EEFBERNITE ¢

BWERIERBRAR —T-FFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 RREXE

90

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs")
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA") and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for leasehold land and certain buildings classified as
property, plant and equipment, investment properties and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which have
been measured at fair value. These consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(¢)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.
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2.1

2.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and
recognises the fair value of any investment retained and any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s consolidated financial
statements.
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform = Pillar Two
Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

mEMBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2.1

2.2

(B3ESHFIER - TRIAETIITR)

fm R E 2 ()

REEEE
BaEMEARESFOHREBRA
NEVEB ARIFER s - B LR S
BOFER RS IR A AR - AREK
BRAIZARZYRNMBEEANIE
ERAE  #xE KA AXRRER
BREAa AR 2EEH -

i B = E RIFR KA Ll = TEEE IR %
HzHEP—EXZREE  AEEEE
FAMEEEENREER - —HHE
REZ GBEEDNREPEL EKRE
ZHIHE - AIRBERX A AR -

AR E R EL B QR Z 2 - 8
RITERRHEE(BREE) - 8fF -
EAIIEE R s M SR B R - DA
R EREARERE 2R FERE
MR ESZ BEr A o AEBE LA
REMEEEECERNBERD - %
BnAKRECERLENRBEEXAB
PR EZ HREESH D RERAKIF
Bia (@Em)

B BRRBEEZ2E
AEERAFEESRBREAERE

AT RRETEANBRSE
U

ERVBREERNE RBREY
175 (BRI )

ERGTELFE 1R SHBROWE
REBUISRELE
AIETEEEE25%
CHEN)

ERGTERFEHE S HNTER
CHEN

EREHERE N HE-SHHELD
CHEN) EEHBEARN

EEFE

BB QLR 125 BEAKEE -1

CHEN “HRAEAR

BB RERERAT

ZETINFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (Continued)
The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that
are applicable to the Group are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose their
material accounting policy rather than their significant
accounting policies. Accounting policy is material if, when
considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
The Group has disclosed the material accounting policy in
note 2 to the financial statements. The amendments did
not have any impact on the measurement, recognition
or presentation of any items in the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. Since the
Group’s approach and policy align with the amendments,
the amendments had no impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(@

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow
the scope of the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12
so that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences,
such as leases and decommissioning obligations.
Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred
tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences arising from these transactions.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group has
determined the temporary differences arising from right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities separately, which have
been reflected in the reconciliation disclosed in note 25
to the financial statements. However, they did not have
any material impact on the overall deferred tax balances
presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position as the related deferred tax balances qualified for
offsetting under HKAS 12.

mEMBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ESHFIER - TRIAETIITR)

22 S BRRKEZEE (&)

(@

AT EUNE 125 (BT 4 [
E-RGMEENEERARHR
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B EETBEAREELRRE
RUEAMBERZHRNRS -
FIanAE RRREE - At - B
BANRERFGELZEREE
BRERECHBAEERREE R
MIERBE ) REERARE -

RERZFER®R  AKECD
NEEERAEEERMEREE
EMERMEEE YO RBMER
RUTEE25 PR B AR P R BR o
SR P B AR B A A R KA AR AT
BEBGERE 125 B ENE
BN - RUHRE MBI E
R 51 R B B B8 IR K T R A BRI AR
EREATE -

BRERZERERAAF T _NFFR

93



94

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (Continued)
The implication of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism:

In June 2022 the Hong Kong SAR Government (the
“Government”) gazetted the Hong Kong Employment and
Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “"Amendment
Ordinance”), which will come into effect from 1 May 2025
(the “Transition Date"”). Once the Amendment Ordinance
takes effect, an employer can no longer use any of the
accrued benefits derived from its mandatory contributions to
mandatory provident fund (“MPF") scheme to reduce the long
service payment (“LSP”) in respect of an employee’s service
from the Transition Date (the abolition of the “offsetting
mechanism”). In addition, the LSP in respect of the service
before the Transition Date will be calculated based on the
employee’s monthly salary immediately before the Transition
Date and the years of service up to that date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong” that provides accounting guidance relating to the
offsetting mechanism and the abolition of the mechanism. In
particular, the guidance indicates that entities may account
for the accrued benefits derived from mandatory MPF
contributions that are expected to be used to reduce the LSP
payable to an employee as deemed contributions by that
employee towards the LSP. Since the amount of the catch-
up profit or loss adjustment was not material, the Group did
not restate the comparative figures in financial statements and
details are disclosed in note 26.
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2.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(RIEZEHEA - TRILVETIIR)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.3 CHEMAEERERNE BT ER

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS HZEA|

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs, REEWRNRZSLEE M B WERER N

that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these TEEMEEREROEISETEBSH

consolidated financial statements. The Group intends to WMERER - AEBENZELEITES

apply these revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become WG E LR AN ER (ER) -

effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets EEVBHRELENE REEFHREBLE AT

HKAS 28 between an Investor and its 10RREEGHE HEELEZMBH

Associate or Joint Venture? AlZE285(IB5T4A) EBELSIFE?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and R BHERNE EREARPHNEES
Leaseback' 1wﬂ1J$) &

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as BB ERE R %%ﬁﬁméﬁ%
Current or Non-current (the CHEN) mE((=E=%4F
“2020 Amendments")' 4 ERNA

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with RS ELE 5 WEZRBNERD
Covenants (the “2022 CEHEN) BE(=Z2==
Amendments”)"4 EaT )4

Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements' BRGHERET R HEFRETH

HKFRS 7 REBABREL
Al 75 (BT AC)
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability? EFGERE2 BRI
UACHEN)

BWERIERBRAR —T-FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2025
& No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
& As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments,

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding wording with

no change in conclusion

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to

be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss
resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective
date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed
by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for

adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale
and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not
recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the
right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into
after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 April
2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s

financial statements.
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2.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is mean by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability
is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a
liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself
accounted for as an equity instrument would the terms of a
liability not impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments
further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from
a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures
are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with earlier application permitted. An entity
that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based
on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 ERSFHBER

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its leasehold land and buildings classified
as property, plant and equipment, investment properties and
equity and debt investments at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as
follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1: based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3: based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy
by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
investment properties, contract assets and financial assets), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of
the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g. a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if
it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance
with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the

relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended

use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets

with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Leasehold land and buildings, classified as right-of-use assets
and owned assets, are measured at fair value less subsequent

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

24 EXRSFEEE)

FERMEEREGE
REERSHRIERZETEEMPR
BRERERNREBETNEFERA
REER D EL RIS - WiFBEMZE
PR - BAEFT AR SR o BREE -
EBERANEETEEN T WE S BAMEET
HIRE B - RN ERARERE
J7 AT - MR PO DA F R LA
BEWAEFDRERE - BIE &K%
EETE HHEOREE  SHLHE
TEEE - BRIFZEENE[H RS
B REBBNERSREZELEE
MABSTRREE - B8 ERE
BEMNBELNREENVHRGAZSERR
&"IA ©

WX BERRBURITE

WE - BFE &R BRKARGERRE
FEREMBREBEAR - W% BE
RRBEENKN A EBEBEBRTE
S B R E A Y SE (RN S 3t R B
EERNEAEREHKA

WE - BFERRBERBRANEFERAE
EMER  MEERREES - —RAE
EMELMBHANBSEE BRI -
i Be T A FER IR - EARERFA
REEREETAERCAERRE - i
ME BEEREHNIEHIALBE
o AEEERARSHOR/BEEE
RERNEREE - WHEERELT

&= o

=5

DEREREEERBREEMNHEEL
WEET BATEREREAFTER
BIEERTE

ity e

A ni.‘E-»}‘



AN

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that the
fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from
its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property, plant
and equipment are dealt with as movements in the property
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient
to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of
the deficit is charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss to the extent of
the deficit previously charged. An annual transfer from the
property revaluation reserve to retained profits is made for the
difference between the depreciation based on the revalued
carrying amount of an asset and the depreciation based on
the asset’s original cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the
relevant portion of the property revaluation reserve realised in
respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained profits
as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis or reducing
balance basis to write off the cost of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Over the remaining lease terms of
the leasehold land on the straight-
line basis

Over the remaining lease terms on
the straight-line basis

15% on the reducing balance basis

15% on the reducing balance basis

15% on the reducing balance basis

15% on the reducing balance basis

Buildings

Leasehold improvements

Furniture and fixtures
Office equipment
Tools and equipment
Motor vehicles
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/or
for capital appreciation. Such properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting
period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the year of the retirement or
disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Money lenders licence

Money lenders licence is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of 10 years.

Leases

The Group assesses that contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, except for land and buildings which are measured
at fair value, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Leasehold land Over the remaining lease terms
Buildings Over the remaining lease terms
Office equipment Over the remaining lease terms

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property, it is included in investment
properties. The corresponding right-of-use asset is
initially measured at cost, and subsequently measured
at fair value, in accordance with the Group's policy for
“investment properties”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(©)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of buildings and office
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the consolidated statement of profit or loss due to
its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned,
if any.

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee are accounted for as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them. With the exception of accounts receivable that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Accounts receivable that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial
assets which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

(a)

(b)

Financial assets at amortised costs (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the consolidated statement of financial position
at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends on the equity investments are also
recognised as other income in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established.

Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

24

EREFBERGE
REREMEHEE ()
H&: &

ERMEEMHERAEBATORME

(a)

(b)

K AT ER 2 B E (B
TA)

RBERAGENSREERR
FEAERF R AT EN A TR
BYE - EEERILEER B
SORER  WERBERGEE

B FEGA R I T BEE

BATFEFABRZEREER
ReEMBRAREKARAFET
- HEAVEZHFEESRAE

ZERIBREAEE Y & HE
WEEBRAFEFAELMZER
s BEHNTETARKRERSE -
BB 2 BB IR B S A SR
RRGABEaRERSEMK
A e

[ -~

48 d



ANANAY

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

- the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

- the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The
Group considers that has been a significant increase in credit
risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are over 90 days past due. The Group has
rebutted the 90 days past due presumption of default based
on reasonable and supportable information, including the
Group's credit risk control practices and the historical recovery
rate of financial assets over 90 days past due. However, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by
the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for accounts
receivable and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 1:

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2:

Stage 3: Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal

to lifetime ECLs
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For accounts receivable and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect
of a significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but
instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts payable, other
payables, certain accruals and interest-bearing borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, accounts payable, other payables,
certain accruals and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

24

ERSTHEE)

TR EEREE

Bt 7%

A BBEBAMEXNDHAEECDERA
TRENETHBERREXN D ZEN
ERURBERAHNEEMS - ARERE
AL A ERREEER - RED
eI AEEY P ESEERBRNE
B MERESRSBHMNEHEHRE
EBREABERE AERECDREH
BEFEBESRRIBEER IR
BESARENMEERRREERE
fEHAEE

TRAE

VIEZ T T
CRABENVSERARE S BREAF
Bt ABRZEMAE  ERRMER
PR - S E R —RA R IPE
T AMTETAMESR) -

FIBESMBENSERTFERER WA
ERRERARENFKIE - AIENGRE
BREIHMA -

AEENTRAEEREEMEE - Hi
ENRIR - ETRABERKFGEEE -

H&: &

R P HERE - BANERIA - HMRAR
B~ AT ER R BIRTT REAME
BERERIABBRNFRIRBER A E
BRIEMBRXEYTEXR  EZBERLTA
BRAHR - BERAERIEERARRER
MEETHERFR  FERBTERS
BERAMER

B AR A R E A TR
HEMBERNEZRE-HONBAX
ARG E - BRANZEBHHAREE
BROFBERA -

ity e

5 b}



AN

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement
financial position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
and short-term deposits are defined above, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand, and form an integral part of
the Group’s cash management.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate
asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The
expense relating to a provision is presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

- when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

- in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

- when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and

- in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable
entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Construction services

Revenue from the provision of construction services is
recognised over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the service,
because the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is created
or enhanced. The input method recognises revenue
based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred
relative to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the
construction services.

Consultancy services

Revenue from the provision of consultancy services
is recognised over the scheduled period because the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

(a)

Realised fair value gain or loss on investment in
securities, is recognised on the trade date basis, whilst
unrealised fair value gain or loss on change in fair value is
recognised at the end of the reporting period;

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably;

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms; and

Interest income on loans and interest receivables is
recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

24 EXRSFEEE)

LONEAC )
BEFERWA ()
@) BERYE

KB e SRR R W aR O BE B
MR - XEABALTETS
ERRBOEE  ARARED
RXERESIIEREFEEERRZ
HIBRFIEFINEE - BAKR
BEENERRAEERZER
T b et ARAS Y Ee PR RR MR AR o

(b) EEFEIRE
K B 4 R AR 7% B0 U &R T BE T
MR - BAK P FEUYRE
FOBFEA S BIR A A S o
AR UA

(a)

EEREIEDERATEBRE
ZHAREER  MATESH

838 2 AT (8182 BIR #4529
KR

EEVINS ST G LT
BRI HER © RS KA
AR RAREE - AR S
CLET S

HEeWATIFAE BHEEFHIZE
EILL PLERER &

JE W E R e F B A B A TR
I EEERERMNEERAAE
BT ANTEFFHAREREH
) (& 18 ) HERE R 3R fh 5t AR R AT I
RRCESREENKREFED
R R

ity e

5 b}



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to
a customer before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the contract terms, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment, details
of which are included in the accounting policies for impairment
of financial assets. They are reclassified to accounts receivable
when the right to the consideration becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfer control of the related goods or
services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”). The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the
date at which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting
period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
charge or credit to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “"MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The Group also operates a defined contribution retirement
benefit scheme (the “ORSO Scheme"”) under the Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance, for those employees who
were eligible to participate. The ORSO Scheme operated in a
similar way to the MPF Scheme, except that when an employee
left the ORSO Scheme before his/her interest in the Group’s
employer contributions vesting fully, the ongoing contributions
payable by the Group were reduced by the relevant amount of
the forfeited contributions. With effect from 1 December 2000,
the Group has operated both schemes and those employees
who are not eligible to participate in the ORSO Scheme are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.

Defined benefit plans

The Group's statutory obligation to pay long service payment
in Hong Kong is a defined benefit plan. The cost of providing
benefits relating to long service payment is determined
using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method.
The liability recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position in respect of long service payment is the net
obligation, representing the present value of the future long
service payment benefits reduced by entitlements from accrued
benefits arising from MPF contributions made by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(RIEZHIEA - TRLAETIIR)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 EAXE:EEE)

Other employee benefits (Continued) Hit e & &R (&)
Defined benefit plans (Continued) REWEFzt 2 (#E)
Remeasurements arising from the defined benefit pension ATEBFERSFEMEENHE &
plans, comprising (i) actuarial gains and losses; and (ii) BORER R RERE  R(DERESE

investment returns associated with the MPF employer
contributions and other experience adjustments (excluding
amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit
liability), are recognised immediately in the consolidated
statement of financial position with a corresponding debit or
credit to retained profits through other comprehensive income
in the period in which they occur.

Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the earlier
of (i) the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and (ii)
the date that the Group recognises restructuring-related costs.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to
the net defined benefit liability. The Group recognises the
following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under
“administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss by (i) service costs comprising current service
costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and
nonroutine settlements; and (i) net interest expense or income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition or
construction of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

Revenue recognition for construction contracting
and related business

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recognised
revenue from construction contracting and related business
amounting to HK$431,722,000 (2023: HK$319,813,000).
The Group has recognised revenue from the provision of
construction services over time, using an input method to
measure the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
service, because the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. The input method recognises revenue based on the
proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated
total costs for satisfaction of the construction services. This
involves the use of management judgements and estimation
uncertainty, including estimating the progress towards
completion of the services, scope of deliveries and services
required, total contract costs incurred and forecasts in relation
to costs to complete and profit margin.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts
receivable and contract assets

The Group uses provision matrices to calculate ECLs for
accounts receivable and contract assets. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrices are initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the
matrices to adjust the historical credit loss experience with
forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are expected to
deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased
number of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s accounts receivable and contract
assets is disclosed in notes 17 and 19 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on loans and
interest receivables

The Group uses judgement in making assumptions and
selecting the inputs to its ECL calculation, based on the Group'’s
past history, existing market conditions as well as forward-
looking information and estimates at the end of each reporting
period.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customers’ actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s loans and interest receivables is
disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(@ current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location, adjusted to reflect
those differences;

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active markets,
with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the dates of the transactions that
occurred at those prices; and

(¢) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms
of any existing lease and other contracts and (when
possible) by external evidence such as current market
rents for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount and
timing of the cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties
(Continued)

The carrying amount of investment properties at 31 March
2024 was HK$18,940,000 (2023: HK$21,160,000). Further
details, including the key assumptions used for fair value
measurement and a sensitivity analysis, are given in note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Estimates regarding the realisability of deferred tax
assets

Estimating the amount for deferred tax assets arising from tax
losses requires a process that involves determining appropriate
provisions for taxation, forecasting future years' taxable income
and assessing the ability to utilise tax benefits through future
taxable profit. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profit together with future tax planning strategies.
Further details of the unrecognised tax losses of the Group are
set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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ma

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Bt 5 R R P EE

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
four (2023: four) reportable operating segments as follows:

(@ the construction business segment is engaged in
construction contract works, as a main contractor,
decoration, as well as the provision of electrical and
mechanical engineering services;

(b) the securities investment segment is engaged in
investment in securities;

(c)  the property investment business segment is engaged in
the holding of investment properties; and

(d)  the money lending business segment.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The
adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with
the Group'’s profit/loss before tax except that interest income
included in “other income and gains”, finance costs, certain
impairment of items of property, plant and equipment as well
as head office and corporate expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude unallocated head office and corporate
assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group
basis.
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7 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
| ' e MBERERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(RIEZHIEA - TRLAETIIR)

4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 REHIBER(E)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-_Z_NWE=A=1+—HILEE
Construction Securities Property Money lending
busingss inves;ment invesﬁmept business Totgl
BREK #5RE NERE HEEH @

HKS000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TR TiEn TR TR TR

Segment revenue (note 5) APUA (S
Revenue from contracts with customers  EF & 44\ 8172 S - s 83172
Revenue from other sources Eth RN - (1,467) 504 4228 3,355
Other income and gains EA RNz 625 S . - 625
Total segment revenue HHRALE 432,347 (1,467) 594 4228 435,702
Segment results PHEE
Operating (loss)/profit a2 (BR) /& (8,833) (5,995) (2,009) 1,854 (14,983)
Recondillation: i
Interest income MEKA 3,069
Unallocated expenses AORFX (8,004)
Finance costs HHBER (156)
Loss before tax BHAER (20,074)
Segment assets PHEE 125,007 21,313 18,940 51,170 22,5
Reconcillation: #%:
Corporate and other unallocated assets ¥R EMANEEE 110,517
Total assets laaE 333,037
Segment liabilities APAR 200,444 - 820 536 201,800
Reconciliation: #E:
Corporate and other unallocated PERAMAAREE

liabilities 2,310
Total liabilities ek 204,110
Other segment information: A A HER
Fair value loss on investment properties % &9 £ A FEFR - S 2220 - 2220
Reversal of impairment of accounts ~ EMCR BRI ERE - FE

receivable, net (703) s = s (703)
Reversal of impairment of other HtRUGE R ERE

receivables (29) - - - (28)
Impairment of loans and interest EREHRAERE -

receivables, net o - - e 758 758
Loss on disposal of items of property, ~ HENE - BRRAE

plant and equipment EENER 39 - - - 39
Depreciation of property, plantand 1% - BERRENE

equipment 1,180 - - 673 1,853
Amortisation of an intangible asset B BEE - - - 45 45
Interest of lease liabilties HERRHE 34 - - - 34
Capital expenditure attrioutable to the ~ 2 HELH B

reportable operating segments* BRRR 500 - - - 500
* Capital expenditure represents additions to property, plant and equipment * BARZIEME  BERSREARREME

and investment properties. BIRE °
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 REFTHBERE)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-_Z_=5=A=1+—HLFE
Construction Securities Property ~ Money lending
business investment investment business Total
BEXH ERRE VESE xS 3t
MO0 HKSO00  HKSO0 KGO0 HKS00
T Tin T TR T
Segment revenue (note 5) APUA (B
Revenue from contracts with customers B EA#IMA 319813 - - - 319813
Revenue from other sources A RERA - 28 509 3,064 3,801
Other income and gains HWA RN & 218 - 24 - 2,209
Total seqment revenue HPRALE 321,998 28 623 3,064 325913
Segment results EE
Operating (loss)fprofit L2 (&i8) /&l (1,147) (808) (2,945) 440 (4,460)
Reconcillation: %
Interest income FEMA 1873
Unallocated income AARMA 28
Unallocated expenses AOERY (7,549)
Finance costs AHER (61)
Loss before tax RHAER (10,169)
Segment assets THEE 88,087 39,609 21,160 39,814 188,670
Reconcillation: %
Corporate and other unallocated assets ¥R EMFPEEE 133,740
Total assets BEE 322,410
Segment liabilities AHEE 168,141 - 1,524 30 169,967
Reconcillation: k-
Corporate and other unallocated tEREMAARER
liabilities 1,502
Total liablities ek 171,469
Other segment information: RpAias
Fair value loss on investment properties & &Y% A FERE - - 1,220 - 1,220
Impairment of accounts receivable ElEERE 281 - - - 281
Impairment of contract assets SHEERE 490 - - - 490
Impairment of loans and interest EUEHRANEHE -
receivables, net 7 - - - 130 130
Loss on disposal of items of property, ~ HE%% - BERAE
plant and equipment EEEg) = 9 - - - 9
Depreciation of property, plantand 91 + BE Rk ENE
equipment ) 1,200 - - 725 1,925
Amortisation of an intangible asset ~ EFEEHH - - - 45 45
Interest of lease liabiiies HERRTE 37 - - - 37
Capital expenditure attributable tothe W] 2HITLH HrE(
reportable operating segments* BRER 87 - - - 87
e Capital expenditure represents additions to property, plant and equipment * BARXIEDR  BERREBEARKREDE
and investment properties. HRE °

128 Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



AN

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information

No geographical information is presented as the Group's
operation are based in Hong Kong and majority of the Group's
revenue and non-current assets are derived from and located at
Hong Kong.

Information about a major customer

During the year, revenue of approximately HK$136,236,000
(2023: approximately HK$145,193,000) was derived from
sales to a single customer from construction business segment,
including sales to a group of entities which are known to be
under common control with that customer. For the purpose
of identifying major customers, revenue derived from the
securities investment segment is excluded.

mEMBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ESHIER - TRIAETTIIR)

REDHENE)

i E &R
BARASEBNEBUEEREM - A
SEREDWMARIERSEEHRE &
UREL MW EST|HEER o

FEEXFEH

FR YA%I136,236,0008 T(— =
=4 : 49145,193,0007% 7T) 3 B A 2 £
EBHWHE—RP2HE - BIEHE
FHZEFPZEARIZFIN—4EEE - 5
BRIETERRE  REBFIKED IR
UNEE 53

BWERIERBRAR —T-FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5 WA HtAR Kz
Revenue from contracts with customers EEEHWA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WASHTAT
2024 2023
—E_ME —EC=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Revenue from contracts with EEEGHKA
customers
Income from the construction RELEABRBEERZ
contracting and related business WA 431,722 319,813
Revenue from other sources H i RIRWA
Fair value loss on financial assets at BEATEF ARG EREE
fair value through profit or loss, net NHEEE - FE (2,027) (248)
Dividend income from equity RAFEFABRCRARE
investments at fair value through ISR ON
profit or loss 33 24
Interest income from debt investments R AFEFABR ZEHIRE
at fair value through profit or loss FBUA 527 452
Interest income from loans and FEME SR R ) B2 F B
interest receivables 4,228 3,064
Gross rental income HeWwARE 594 599
Subtotal NET 3,355 3,891
Total Bzt 435,077 323,704
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
! : e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(RIEZHIEA - TRLAETIIR)

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5 WA - HARKE (&)
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) BEFEHWA (R
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) ZHFUAEZH

Construction contracting and
related business

IRFREBRIAEER
2024 2023
—E-ME —ZEC-=4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Types of goods or services EMmRREEE
Building construction works and related #5733 T 12 M A8 78 275
business 217,656 138,002
Electrical and mechanical engineering ~ #ZE T2
works 183,869 175,730
Fitting-out works T 30,197 6,081
Total revenue from contracts with BE B R AR A
customers recognised over time BEPAHWRALRE 431,722 319,813

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were

TRIPRR AR S HARE R WK
ATH  Z2BECHATHEY

included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of TEHaE :
each reporting period:
2024 2023
—E-ME TEC=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Construction contracting and other T RE AR I H 48 BE AR 75
related services 35,848 37,856
BWERIERBRAR —T-FFR 131
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

48 d

e

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5 WA - Eft ARz (&)

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EFEHWA(E)

(b) Performance obligations (b) BHEML
Information about the Group’s performance obligations FEAKERHNBE 2 AR
is summarised below: UM
Construction contracting and other related services T e 6 R E MG R
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as B H B R IR AR 7% M i i & A
services are rendered and payment is generally due within HBEREEBHELI48E90
14 days to 90 days (2023: 14 days to 90 days) from A(ZE==% : 14BE90H) KN
the date of billing. For construction services, a certain B - MEERBME @ TRZ
percentage of payment is retained by customers until the —ELOBEEFREZRE MG
end of the retention period as the Group's entitlement to R BAAREBREIEEN KA
the final payment is conditional on the satisfaction of the REF LA P P& #) P T 5 {3 B i
service quality by the customers over a certain period as NSRS E 2 BigM -

stipulated in the contracts.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the R=ZA=+—8  "EEF#E
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or B A TR AR E S EB D REK)
partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March are as follows: WX ZERRFEOT -

Construction contracting and
related business

IRABRIEEER
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Amounts expected to be recognised FEHIEBRBUAN
as revenue: &8
Within one year —FRX 476,875 467,750
After one year —&F1% 126,069 55,123
Total B ET 602,944 522,873
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the TEHEN —FRERRBRAD K
remaining performance obligations which are expected EFRBHAEENRZER IR
to be recognised as revenue after one year relate R ERNEKNBOEENREE
to construction services, of which the performance R7S - FTEHMABEEFEGELD
obligations are to be satisfied within two years. All the EANRSERBEHRBER—FA
other amounts of transaction prices allocated to the BRBRA - AEBEESBEL T
remaining performance obligations are expected to be BREIBHATERE -

recognised as revenue within one year. The amounts
disclosed above do not include variable consideration
which is constrained.
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- REUBHRERME
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIFESEIER - TRLAETIIR)
5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5 WA - HtA R WK (&)
(Continued)

HAtb A & Wz
HAp WA R oo T

Other income and gains
An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

2024 2023
—EF B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Bank interest income HRITHEMA 1,665 1,025
Bond interest income BEHFEWA 1,404 848
Government grants* 8T 8 B * - 1,552
Others HAh 624 685
Total other income and gains A B M 55 4 1E 3,693 4,110
e The government grants were subsidy granted under the Employment * AT 465 B T9 AR 4% & 78 5 A1 T U@ BURF R 36
Support Scheme of the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative XIFERTHOME  URBEBRITE
Region to retain employment and combat Covid-19. As at the end of the 2019 MMEEHR - RIBEMR - BIEAH
reporting period, there were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies ZEMB 2 RERIGHRIAEE

relating to these grants.

6 LOSS BEFORE TAX 6 BRBIATER
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBBRBABRIEHNERGIA)T
(crediting): HI B IR ERL
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBxT FHET
Cost of construction contracting TREFABKA 410,566 290,130
Auditor’s remuneration ZE AN & 1,130 1,100
Depreciation of property, plant and YIE - BB R EITE (isE12)

equipment (note 12) 3,330 3,504
Amortisation of an intangible asset By EEREMTE14)

(note 14) a5 45
Expenses relating to short-term leases ~ BRIZHAENFA S (FI:E12)

(note 12) 3,881 3,875
Rental income on investment properties & #EMR S UA (594) (599)
Less: Outgoings B X 92 70
Net rental income He WA FHE (502) (529)
Employee benefit expense (including EERNFAZ (B

directors’ remuneration — note 8): FEME - HFES) -

Wages, salaries, bonuses and IT& e ek

allowances =i 37,889 34,839
Pension scheme contributions* BRIRES B FR* 1,119 1,065
Less: Amount included in cost W ETATIRABKANTE
of construction contracting (11,981) (9,299)
Total st 27,027 26,605
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

6 LOSS BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6 PBRBIRIEEGE
2024 2023
—EC_UE —E-=F
HK$’'000 HK$ 000
FExT FAT
Impairment of financial and SRMEENEERE
contract assets:
Impairment of loans and interest EWER R FERE
receivables, net" (note 16) FE (M5 16) 758 130
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment FEWERIB CRERR),HE
of accounts receivable, net" FENPEEE17)
(note 17) (703) 281
Reversal of impairment of other H fth EUGRIE R E B 3
receivables” (note 18) (F¥zE18) (28) =
Impairment of contract assets” arBEERE ME19)
(note 19) - 490
Total et 27 901

Impairment of items of property, plant  #7% - W= M X EHE B RE"

and equipment” (note 12) (Bt3E12) 2,605 3,528
Reversal of impairment of items of M - BE REEE B RERE"
property, plant and equipment” (FaE12)
(note 12) = (243)
Loss on disposal of items of property,  HEWE  BE KL
plant and equipment” (note 12) RiWEBER (M 12) 39 99
* At 31 March 2024, there were no forfeited contributions available to the & REZZEZMNF=A=+—H0  AEEIESLR
Group to reduce contributions to the pension schemes in future years WAL SR AT A AR R B IR D R IR & 5T &l it
(2023: HKS$Nil). R(ZEZ=F: T#ED) -
These amounts are included in “Other operating expenses, net” on the " HERIEIAGLEBRRANH A4 EFH
face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss. X FE] -
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mEMBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(RIEZHIEA - TRLAETIIR)

Y & 4

FINANCE COSTS 7 MBEAR
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MBERASAOT
2024 2023
—ZT-mF —EZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Interest on lease liabilities (note 12) HEaFEZHEGHE12) 34 37
Interest on bank and other borrowings #8717 R E M {EE 2 F & 122 24
Total #Et 156 61
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8 EERIETBAEZ#ME
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, FR - REGEMEMHRBRE B R RIE
disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and the disclosure Pl EER - FEESRFETHA
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as BrMEEBWOT -
follows:
2024 2023
—EIF —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Fees Bwe 1,080 1,080
Other emoluments: HEmMe :
- Salaries and allowances - ¥Ho RER - -
- Discretionary bonuses - BIFTEAL = S
~ Pension scheme contributions —RIRSFT MR - -
Subtotal NEF = -
Total st 1,080 1,080
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RE U BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

8 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8 EERFETHAEZHME(E
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(a) Independent non-executive directors () BIYFHTES
2024
“E-NEF
Salaries and  Discretionary Total
Fees allowances bonuses remuneration
ik FERE [l g2 MemE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THERT THERT THERT
Mr. Lam Wai Hung ME RS & 120 S S 120
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan  EEBET4E 120 S S 120
Ms. Au Shui Ming Anna~ EInBAZ+ 120 = = 120
Total 5t 360 - - 360
2023
—E-=F
Salaries and Discretionary Total
Fees allowances bonuses  remuneration
e e KoRih HIBEA MeBE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET THET TET
Mr. Lam Wai Hung N D 120 = = 120
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan = L& 120 - - 120
Ms. Au Shui Ming Anna ~ BIRBEZ T 120 - - 120
360 - - 360
There were no other emoluments paid or payable to FAMEAMENKEN TEL
independent non-executive directors during the year FPTESE S (2T =Z=F:
(2023: HKS$Ni). THEI) °
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Y & 4

mEMBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Executive directors and chief executive

(B3ESHIER - TRIAETTIIR)

EERFETRABZHE (H)

(b) HTEERFTETHBAE

2024
—g-mE

Pension
Salaries and  Discretionary scheme Total
Fees allowances bonuses  contributions remuneration

BiR&E
ik HeRER MERAL (3 WeaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERr THET TET TET TER
Mr. Hung Kenneth ~ Z %4 360 = = = 360
Ms. Lau Po Yee AEERT 360 = = = 360
Total @at 720 = = = 720

2023
S

Pension
Salaries and Discretionary scheme Total
Fees allowances bonuses  contributions  remuneration
ik e RoER WEEL RIKSHEMHR HeeE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TET FET FTHET THEx
Mr. Hung Kenneth ~ Z %4 360 - - - 360
Ms. Lau Po Yee BEERT 360 - = = 360
Total @t 720 = = = 720

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. In addition, none of the
directors waived any emoluments during the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023.

REE_ZFE_WNFR-_T_=F
ZA=Z+—BLFE x5BT
EEET TR S AES D
A IMAREERFERARES
BEERAE(E - o - IBEERE
EZFT_NFERZT=F=H
=+ BIFEREXTAIE -
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

9  FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES AND SENIOR 9 TEReEHEERSREEE
MANAGEMENT
The five highest paid employees during the year are neither a
director nor chief executive. Details of the remuneration for the
five (2023: five) non-director, highest paid employees are as

FRAUREFHEEYIFEFTHTET
BAB - AU (ZTZ=F : A ¥E
ERRHREEZHFMABOT

follows:
2024 2023
—EME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET
Salaries and allowances e KERG 6,400 7,157
Discretionary bonuses BIFTEAL 877 922
Pension scheme contributions RIREEHEIHE K 231 185
Total st 7,508 8,264

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following

bands is as follows:

HBE T RENEEERIEETR
ABHBEHEEABMT :

2024 2023

—E-@mEF —Eo=F

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AB AEL

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7 £ 1,500,000/ 7T 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 22,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7C £ 2,500,000 7T 1
Total @t 5
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mEMBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ESHFIER - TRIAETIITR)

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES AND SENIOR 9 IEBEHEERSREEE
MANAGEMENT (Continued) (%)
Other than the directors’ and five highest paid employees’ REXFEBENESTRAUGRTES
remuneration disclosed above, the amounts paid to the senior MBS  BERIESRaREERE
management as disclosed in the “biographical details of BRI SHEBEzaREE2EI Nz
directors and senior management” section were as follows: BEINNT -
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=%F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Salaries and allowances e MERG 1,186 1,157
Discretionary bonuses BIFTEAL 84 82
Pension scheme contributions RIRSET B 27 27
Total Gy 1,297 1,266
INCOME TAX 10 Frf&

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year except for one subsidiary of the
Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits
tax regime effective from the year of assessment 2018/2019,
and the first HK$2,000,000 (2023: HK$2,000,000) of
assessable profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2023:
8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at
16.5% (2023: 16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere
have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

EANGHERTAESBELENG
TR AR E16.5%(ZFE ==
F16.5%) TR - AEEN—RW
BRAAFSHMEH(BE=_Z—N
—ENRBRFERERBEIZAE
RER  ZKMEBRARAE2,000,0008
TT(ZFE =4 : 2,000,000 7T) fE :F
FHRAOHEER B 25% (T =4 :
8.25%)  HBERBEMNOMRE A
16.5%(ZZF =% : 16.5%) o EAthtth
R RF 2 BIBE IR A EBEERT
FERlEER 2 RITHEANE o

2024 2023
—E_ME TEC=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Current — Hong Kong BVER — &%

— Charge for the year - FAZM 131 86

~ (Over)/under-provision - BAFE (BERE) BE
in prior years e (86) 60
Deferred tax (note 25) JRIERT A (B 7E25) 237 660
Total tax expense for the year FARIAR X BE 282 806
BWERIERBRAR —T-FFR
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

({LeL

10 INCOME TAX (Continued) 10 FriS%i (&)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before ERARNERARRGRAREBSHERF
tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdictions in which the FRERDERE R A EB E e BRI R A
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to i N BB IE S SR BRI RS E
the tax charge at the effective tax rate is as follows: BRZHEEROT
2024 2023
—ECUE —E-—=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER FHET
Loss before tax B BB 1R (20,074) (10,169)
Tax at the applicable statutory tax rates 1% Fi A & B R B 9B 18 (3.312) (1,677)
Lower tax rate enacted by local authority & MR8 B 178K T =R (131) (86)
Income not subject to tax BAZRBA (169) (265)
Expenses not deductible for tax EE 563 1,026
Tax loss not recognised RERNTIAGE 2,410 1,703
Tax loss utilised from previous periods @ HARE) AR IEE 18 (1 (474)
Temporary differences not recognised  FRAER K LT =58 1,008 519
Adjustments in respect of current R BTERE AT SR A &
income tax of previous period (86) 60
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate ZARNEBERFHE1.4%E R
of 1.4% (2023: 7.9%) BMERAY(ZT==F : 7.9%) 282 806
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LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on
the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 240,000,000 (2023: 217,315,069) in issue during the
year.

The Group had no potential dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share amounts
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company is based
on the following data:

mEMBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1"

(B3ESHFIER - TRIAETIITR)

AP EBRAZEAELER
E#

FREAEBEDREAQREBR
ABEEAEGFABEARFAD
%£17240,000,000 (=T - =4 :
217,315,069%) & 8 Iz &9 N4 F D EE

st
= o
T

BE-_Z-_NER-E-_=€=A=+
—HLFE AEETEBEHENT
BITEBR -

RRBEBEARE ARENERER
MEBERSBENUTEEAE ¢

2024 2023
—E-EF —EF-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Loss Bia
Loss attributable to ordinary equity FTEEREAARREEEIBFA .
holders of the Company, used in AR T BB AREE ABGE
the basic and diluted loss per share B
calculation (20,356) (10,975)
2024 2023
—E-mE —EC-=4
Number of Number of
shares shares
gvig =] S d=
‘000 ‘000
T F i
Shares dv
Weighted average number of ordinary 5T & SREARREEEIBATH 2
shares in issue during the year used FREFITEBRINETF I
in the basic and diluted loss per share
calculation 240,000 217,315
BWERIERBRAR —T-FFR
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

LEASE LIABILITIES

12 Y% BERREBURHBEESES

Right-of-use assets Owned assets
fEREeE BREE
Furniture
Leasehold Office Leasehold and  Office Toolsand  Motor
land  Buildings ~ equipment Total  Buildings improvements  fixtures equipment ~equipment  vehicles Total Total
HELH B? BOERE it Br  EEEE GAREE HOERE IARMAE HE 3 B
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000 HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TR TR TR TR THR Tén TEn T TEr  fEr  fEr TEn
31 March 2004 ZECREZRZT-A
{31 March 2023 and K‘?::ﬁ:ﬂi#ﬁﬁ
1 Apil 2003 ZECZEMA-R
Costorvluaton NiAgfE LN V7 S VA 1 A ¥ 1015 137 g B0 398 2038 64505
Accumulated depreciaton and EEERNE
impairment - (14 (47)  (1604) - (956) (130) (255) ) @en (9% (565)
Net carrying amount FaSE 41,680 5 68 A4 W 59 1 9% 83 1381 16393 58846
A1 Apri 2023, WZBZZERA-R-
et of accumulated depreciaion MhgiE 4,680 5 6 24 UM 5 1 9 B 138 1638 586
Additions RE - - 51 51 500 - - It} kil 617 1191 148
Disposals il . - - - . . . e e (39) (39) (39)
{Defictsurpus on evaluation (5 /28 (2979 0 - oW 0 0 e e > 9 (198)
Deprecation provided during the year ~ ERGHENTE (1,49) B 9 (148) (10m) (10) 0 (36) Mg (B) (868 3330
Impaiment HE (243) C - () C C 5 s - (e
Wite o e . . (12 (1) . . . . . . . (1)
{31 March 2024 W-5-mE=Az1-A 35,020 - 604 3564 15000 4 4 100 9% 1221 1648 5212
At31 March 2004 HZ8-mEzR=1-8
Cost or valuation RAgfEE 35,000 S 1060 36080 1500 1,015 137 391 11 456 1290 5130
Accumulated deprecaton and ZiHTERAE
mpairment - - (456) (456) - (966) (133) (291) 63 B39 @1 (28
Net caying amount FmsE 35000 C 604 3564 1500 I 4 100 % 12 1548 12

Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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REMBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(RIEZHIEA - TRLAETIIR)

ﬁgﬁ—vf—k :

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 12 ¥ BERIEBURHEESE

LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) (%)
Right-of-use assets Owned assets
feREaE EREE
Fumiture
Leasehold Office Leasehold and  Offic  Tooksand  Motor
lind  Buldings  equipment Totd  Buldings  improvements fixtures  equipment  equipment  vehicls Total Total
ilh BF #0ER ) BF  RERG GERME BOZRE IARGE HE gt 1
HKS'000  HKS000  HKY000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$000
Thr TR T TRt Tin TRt  TEr TR TR AL TR TER
31 March 2023 i Salr o
At 31 March 2022 and R-B-F=RA=+-BR
1 April 2022 Z22ZEMA-A
Cost or valuation RAgfE Q3N 142 B M 130 1015 137 365 125 398 17980 62107
Accumulated depreciaton znd ZiTERAE
impaiment - (1,147) (105) (1299 - (95) (128 (200) B0 (18 BAY (4l
Net carrying amount RE#a 4310 g 09 a8 1230 5 9 159 % 20% 14768 57642
AT Agri 2002, netof acumulated == ZERA-R-
depreciation MhE:TE 4310 e 09 a8 1230 5 9 159 9% 20% 14768 57642
Additons RE - - 680 680 - - - 8 5 - 87 767
Additon of a subsidary thatsnota FE-EFERKEELHE
business note 30) R0 5038 - - W - - - . -8 655
Disposéls il - - - - - - - (%9) - - 99 (%9)
{Deficsurplus on revaluaton 4/ 24 (982) - - ) - - - - - 800
Deprecition povided during theyear ~ EEHEITE (148 Q0 (g (189 %) > 0 (%9) m om0 By
Impaiment HE (3528) - - (3528) - - - - - - - (3528)
Reversalof impairment HERE - - - - pli] - - - - - pIt) L)
At 31 March 203 R-B-=F=A=1-H 41680 5 768 4453 TI0 5 1 3 8 1381 16393 58846
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=E-A=1-B
Cost or valuation e 41,680 140 1005 417 14m 1,015 137 38 130 398 20388 64505
Accumulated depreciaton and ZiTERAE
impaiment - (1.417) (7 (1,604) - (956) (130) (259) ) e 9% (56%9)
Net carrying amount REFa 41,680 5 768 4453 W70 5 1 3 8 1381 16393 58846
Notes: MEE -
(@)  The Company's right-of-use of leasehold land represents prepaid lease (a) KRB E L AR FENEEFRE -

payments. The leasehold land, together with the owned buildings, are
held for own use. The leasehold land is held on the lease terms expiring in

2047.

(b) The Group leases certain of its premises and office equipment used in its (b)
operations. Leases for these assets are negotiated for terms ranging from
two to five years with no extension or termination options and all the
lease payments are fixed.

HELEREFNBFDRELSR - HE
T RN -FECFEHNEEF R
5o

FEBMBEETREMEAREEENRAE
Rifp - REEEMENFHLEAN T =
ERF - WEEHSKIEERE - BFMAHE
ENFBEE -

BRERZERERAAF T _NFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE U BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 12 ¥ - BREERXEUARBEEAE
LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) (&)
Maturity profile of lease liabilities HESENEIHBR
2024 2023
ik —FI=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Within one year —FRN 21 203
After one year but within two years —FREMFEN 177 207
After two years but within five years MERBRERN 240 380
Lease liabilities HERE 628 790
Current D 211 203
Non-current JEE 417 587
Total 5 628 790
Movements of carrying amounts of lease liabilities HESENRAESE
2024 2023
—ElmEF ===
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT
At beginning of year F7) 790 712
Additions NE 57 680
Write off 8 (12) -
Accretion of interest (note 7) ) BIEEFTEE7) 34 37
Payments (NEN (241) (639)
At end of year FR 628 790
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 36 HEBEMIHSMEENGE M@
to the consolidated financial statements. FMIFE36 ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(RIEZHIEA - TRLAETIIR)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 12 X BELZREUREEESEE
LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) (%)
Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement FERaRBEIANESHE
of profit or loss
2024 2023
—E-mEF —F-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET
Depreciation expense of right-of-use EREEENERX
assets 1,462 1,829
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEEBNERX 34 37
Expense relating to short-term leases ~ SEHIAESE M GEATTH
(included in administrative expenses) 3,881 3,875
Total 5,377 5,741
The Group had total cash outflows for leases of HK$4,122,000 BE-_Z-_MF=ZA=1+—HLHF
during the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$4,514,000). B AEEMNHEREREEESR
The Group also had non-cash additions of right-of-use assets 4,122,000 L (ZZF = =4 : 4,514,000
of HK$57,000 (2023: HK$680,000) during the year ended 31 BL) BE_ZT-_HWHF=H=+—H
March 2024. ILFEE  AEETEEREEEIRS
WE57,000/87T(ZF = =% : 680,000
BIT) ©
The leasehold land and buildings were revalued at the end of METREFRHEARBBEE LR
the reporting period based on valuation performed by Peak ¥EERMGAEMRETEERAR(R
Vision Appraisals Limited (“Peak Vision”), an independent #BETHEERRERASER - 42
professional qualified valuer, at an aggregate open market M {& 450,040,000/ 7L (=& _E¢
value of HK$50,040,000 (2024: HK$56,450,000) based on 56,450,000/ 7T) °
their existing use.
A revaluation deficit of HK$1,986,000 (2023: surplus of HEmAERE THELHWEETFM
HK$800,000) resulting from the revaluation on the Group's EXMEMHEL1,986,0008 T (=
certain leasehold land and buildings, before income tax effect — =% : E#800,000/87m) '+ BRFTE
of HK$328,000 (2023: HK$132,000) has been credited (2023: BRI 328,000 T(ZTE =4 :
charged) to other comprehensive income. Net impairment loss 132,000/ ) Bt AR MR E W (=
of HK$2,605,000 (2023: HK$3,285,000) resulting from the T-=F k)  c AAEEETHE
revaluation on the Group’s certain leasehold land and buildings THREFEGMELENRESERE
was charged (2023: charged) to profit or loss in the current 2,605,000 7T (ZF Z =4 : 3,285, OOO

year.

BT ERAFERaAKR(CT =
F : HORR) ©

BWERIERBRAR —T-FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss (Continued)

Had these land and buildings been carried at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation, their carrying amount would have
been approximately HK$32,936,000 (2023: approximately
HK$34,910,000)

As at 31 March 2024, leasehold land and buildings of the
Group with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$18,000,000
(2023: HK$19,600,000) were pledged to secure certain
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 24).

Each year, the Group appoints external valuers to be responsible
for the external valuations of the Group’s properties and has
discussions with the valuers on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed for annual
financial reporting.

Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

12 Y% BERRBUREESR

(&)
RERBRBEANEEGE

M52 5 T b RAZFIRE £ AAS R R T 3T
E58E - HERMEAR4432,936,000%
TT(ZZT =4 : #)34,910,000/ 7T) °

RZE-_NE=A=+—H  AEBE
M{E#(E 418,000,000 L (T - =
% 1 19,600,000/ 70) AR & L RIEF
EEF  (EAAEEERETRITEER
RIVE(R (Fi5E24) -

B AREZBIEEEMAEHER
SEHYMEETINRGE - AEETF
BB E a0t R T wm b E
REg M fh1EAE

S s — -
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;g _ J . Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AN R FEMBHRME
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(RIEZHIEA - TRLAETIIR)
12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 12 Y% BEERREURHEEASE
LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) (%)
Fair value hierarchy NEEER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TREMKEERIEERMENRTE
hierarchy of the Group’s properties held for own use: FTEEA
2024
o112
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WERT S EXTBE EATUEE
HEE BARE BARE
(@A) (#®B=) (@R=) @t
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THR THER THR
Recurring fair value measurement for: ST B ETRERY
ATERHE
Leasehold land* HEL = = 2,200 2,200
Office premises** WAR)E - = 29,840 29,840
Warehouse*** B - - 18,000 18,000
- - 50,040 50,040
2023
It Siy3
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERMS  BAUBE  EATIHE
ERE BAHE BAHE
(#A1—-) (®71=) (#®RI=) @t
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TR FHEL TAT
Recurring fair value measurement for: A TERETMERT
DTERE -
Leasehold land* RELH* - - 2,960 2,960
Office premises** OB E - = 33,890 33,890
Warehouse*** RE* - - 19,600 19,600

- - 56,450 56,450
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 12 ¥ BEEFREBEURBEERS
LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NEEEH(E)
g Included leasehold land of HK$2,200,000 (2023: HK$2,960,000) under * BEEAEEEETHMEE 2,200,000
right-of-use assets. BIT(ZE =4 : 2,960,000/ 7T) °
** Included leasehold land of HK$21,810,000 (2023: HK$26,040,000) under * DECAREEEBETHEEL1#21,810,000
right-of-use assets. BIL(ZE =4 : 26,040,000 7T) °
*** Included leasehold land of HK$11,010,000 (2023: HK$12,680,000) under e BIEEAEEERTMMEELN11,010,000
right-of-use assets. BIL(ZE =4 : 12,680,000/ 7T) °
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value FA - RA—ERER 2 EITEAFE
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers STEMNEE  TEERERERB R
into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil). =(ZE==F: 8-
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within RAFEERFEN=ADEHDFERT
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: SRR
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Carrying amount at beginning of year ~ F ¥R REE 56,450 54,720
Additions NE 500 -
Addition of a subsidiary that is not a NE—RIEEBUE
business Loy YNG] = 6,525
Depreciation e (2,319) (2,310)
(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation RE A 2 E s AR E
recognised in other comprehensive (4L /B R
income (1,986) 800
Impairment recognised in profit or loss, KB RFERHEE @ FE
net (2,605) (3,285)
Carrying amount at end of year FARWKREE 50,040 56,450
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mEMBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(RIEZHIEA - TRLAETIIR)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 12 Y% BERRZEBURBEESER

LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) (48)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) ANEEZEH(E)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the
key inputs to the valuation of properties held for own use
performed by Peak Vision:

REBFHEFERMEETHEMAGE
it EBHABEBAIT

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs Weighted average
RERE ERTABERARE EFHH
2024 2023
“ECME  —T-=F
Leasehold land Direct comparison approach — Adjusted market unit selling price HK$253 HK$340
(per square foot)

HELH BELBE KARTIZENEB(BTAR) 253 T 34074 7T
Office premises Direct comparison approach  Adjusted market unit selling price HK$7,108 HK$7,330
(per square foot)

/NS BRLBE RREMSELEBEFTAIR) 7,108 7,330%7T
Warehouse Direct comparison approach — Adjusted market unit selling price HK$3,620 HK$3,942
(per square foot)

BE BRERE RPBMSEMEE(ETAIR) 3,620t 394287

The direct comparison approach BEELEE

Under the direct comparison approach, fair value is estimated
using the direct comparison method on the assumption of
the sale of the property interest with the benefit of vacant
possession and by making reference to comparable sales
transactions as available in the market.

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the
properties, which include the location, size, shape, view, floor
level, year of completion and other factors collectively, to arrive
at the market price per square foot.

The key input was the adjusted market unit selling price per
square foot, and a significant increase/decrease in the market
price would result in a significant increase/decrease in the fair
value of the properties.

BREBEELEE A FEDAEELER
% BROEERTIEHEL LKL E
M5 LA SN AT L BHE R B M b

ETHERSBREEMENEH 2
BUE - @R PR S8 BE %
RENDREMAR - KBHEFHTRE
M ER o

TZHABBREBEYITROLEARTS
BUEE REWSERAELA T
B @RBMEATERE LA T
B o

BWERIERBRAR —T-FFR
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

13

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13 REY=E
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Carrying amount at beginning of year ~ F#IAEREIE 21,160 22,380

Loss from fair value adjustment charged MIEZEHIBR A FEFAEEIE

to profit or loss (2,220) (1,220)
Carrying amount at end of year FARWREE 18,940 21,160

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s investment properties
consist of two (2023: two) commercial properties in Hong
Kong. The directors of the Company have determined that the
investment properties were commercial properties, based on
the nature, characteristics and risks of the properties.

As at 31 March 2024, all the investment properties were
revalued at the end of the reporting period based on
valuation performed by Peak Vision at HK$18,940,000 (2023:
HK$21,160,000).

Each year, the Group appoints an external valuer to be
responsible for the external valuation of the Group’'s
properties and has discussions with the valuer on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is
performed for annual financial reporting.

As at 31 March 2024, investment properties of the Group
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$13,400,000 (2023:
HK$Nil) were pledged to secure certain bank facilities granted
to the Group (note 24).

As at 31 March 2024, the investment properties were leased to
third parties under operating leases, further summary details of
which are included in note 32(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Further particulars of the Group's investment properties are
included on page 65 to this annual report.

Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

RZZE-_WNFE=ZA=+—H ' AE£EH
REYWEBLEME(CZT _=F : ME)
MRBEBNEEME - NRREFEKR
MERNEE  FURBERGREYEE
ERTEEDEE o

NRZE-_NE=A=1+—8 " TARKRE
MERREPRBEREBETNHE
B4 /518,940,000 L (- T - =4 :
21,160,000/ 7T) ©

B AREZBIESEEMAEHER
SEHYEETINBGE - AEETF
B RSN HERRGEMTREE
R MAEER -

RZE-_NME=A=+—H ' x&EBE
M42(E 513,400,0008 (T — =4 :
THETINEEMECERUNERE T
ERTALEMNRITRE (HiE24) -

RZZB_ME=ZR=+—H REWZE
EEKLEHETHETE=7 £ F
FEREHN A M EHRRME320) °

BEAEBREMENE—FHBEN
REREESH o



v 4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(RIEZHIEA - TRLAETIIR)

AN

y
Y & 4

B

e

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 13 REWHEE)
Fair value hierarchy N EZER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TREMKEEREMENRTFETE
hierarchy of the Group's investment properties: £

2024
—ECmE

Quoted prices  Significant  Significant

inactive  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RERTE EATEE EATTEE

HEE BAHE GAYE
(& 5-) (A=) (®B1=) @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tan Tar TEx Tan

Recurring fair value measurement for:  FELA TR B TR R

AVEIE:
Commercial properties HENE = = 18,940 18,940
2023
—TC=E

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RERTS  EAUER EBEATIEER

HR{E BAHR BARR
(31— (#51=) (#H1=) it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TER TER

Recurring fair value measurement for: ~ FibA IR B TR R
ATERHE
Commercial properties HENE = S 21,160 21,160
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 13
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil).

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

REYE(E)

AFEEZEL(E)

RER - FR—BHEH =2 EIEQFE
EFFEMER  TEERSERER
BI=(ZF==F : ) -

RAFEFRBR =AD B R FEF
S

2024 2023

—E-pmEF —T=4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHER FAET

Carrying amount at beginning of year ~ FAIHEREE 21,160 22,380
Loss from fair value adjustment charged MBS A FEAEEIE

to profit or loss (2,220) (1,220)

Carrying amount at end of year FARWKREE 18,940 21,160

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the

REMEGLEMRAERTREIEGHA

key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: HEBmnT
Valuation Significant Range/weighted
technique unobservable inputs average
fe{EH ERTABRGARE BE NEFHE
2024 2023
—E-mE —T=F
Commercial properties  Investment method Estimated rental value (per HK$22.97 to HK$23.32 to
square foot per month) HK$28.00 HK$27.61
BEME REE e BEEAGTFAR) 22978BRE 23328E
28.007 7T 27.6147T
Term yield 3.00% to 3.50% 3.00% t0 3.20%
FHWE 3.00%%3.50%  3.00% % 3.20%
Reversionary yield 3.65% to 4.00% 3.30% t0 3.70%
EHEKEX 3.65%%4.00%  3.30% % 3.70%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The investment method

Under the investment method, fair value is estimated on the
basis of capitalisation of existing rent receivable from the
existing tenancies and the potential reversionary market rent of
the properties.

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the
investment properties, which included the location, size,
shape, view, floor level, year of completion and other factors
collectively, to arrive at the estimated rental value and
reversionary yield, while it takes into account the rental value
generated from the existing lease term to arrive at the term
yield.

An increase/decrease in estimated rental value would result in a
significant increase/decrease in the fair value of the investment
properties while an increase/decrease in term yield and
reversionary yield would result in a significant decrease/increase
in the fair value of the investment properties.

mEMBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

13

(B3ESHFIER - TRIAETIITR)

REWZE(E)

RE&EZE
RBEREZE R FEDREZEWES
RAHENRYCRAHESREEERD
BHEE TAEREMEEME -

ETHESSEREEREVENS
B BRE  EE - BR - KRB 8
g BERFOREMESR  REFHGE
HeBEMlERKREE YERREGH
EFHMELNHESER  UESHEH
Yeas o

ERESEELATH®E 8%
KREMERNFERE LA T ME
FHRERESREE L7 TBRE
EEBREMELXTERETE® L
# o

BRERZERERAAF T _NFFR
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

14 INTANGIBLE ASSET

14 BREE

Money lenders

licence
BEAER
HK$'000
FHET
31 March 2024 —E-_ME=A=+—H
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZEBE_=ZF=ZA=+—8K
—E=FMA—H
Cost D& 450
Accumulated amortisation BTN (146)
Net carrying amount FREHE 304
At 1 April 2023, net of accumulated amortisation R-Z-=FPA—H - MRt
B 304
Amortisation provided during the year FRFHREE (45)
At 31 March 2024, net of accumulated RZEBE-_NMF=A=+—8 ' {1k
amortisation RETEESH 259
At 31 March 2024 RZZEZMFE=A=+—AH
Cost D& 450
Accumulated amortisation RETEEH (191)
Net carrying amount FREHE 259
31 March 2023 —E-=f=HA=+—H
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-ZBE-_—_FZA=Z+—HK
T -#F#MA—H
Cost AR 450
Accumulated amortisation R EESH (101)
Net carrying amount REFE 349
At 1 April 2022, net of accumulated amortisaton R-Z-—FPMA—H - MK K&t
o 349
Amortisation provided during the year FNFT R Y (45)
At 31 March 2023, net of accumulated RZEBE-=F=A=+—8 Ik
amortisation e §i 304
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=HA=+—H
Cost AR 450
Accumulated amortisation RETEESH (146)
Net carrying amount AREHE 304
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BOND RECEIVABLE

On 22 August 2022, the Group subscribed a corporate bond
issued by Deson Development International Holdings Limited
("DDIHL"), a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited
liability and is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, with an aggregate principal amount
of HK$20,000,000 (the “Bond”). The Bond bears interest
at 7% per annum and matures two years from the date of
subscription.

The above bond receivable relates to receivable for which there
is no recent history of default and past due amount. As at
31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the loss allowance was
assessed to be minimal.

On 6 May 2024, DDIHL executed the Amendment Deed by
way of deed poll pursuant to which it agreed to amend certain
terms and conditions of the Bond. Pursuant to the Amendment
Deed, DDIHL undertook and agreed to repay part of the
principal amount under the Bond in the sum of HK$5,000,000
on 21 August 2024 thereby reducing the principal amount
of the Bond to HK$15,000,000 and extend the maturity date
for a further two years from 21 August 2024 (originally) to
21 August 2026. Save as disclosed above, the principal terms
of the Bond remain unchanged and are still in full force and
effect.

mEMBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

15

(B3ESHFIER - TRIAETIITR)
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LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 16 BEREREFNE
2024 2023
—EF 2=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loans and interest receivables R E R B 51,433 38,600
Less: Impairment allowance (Stage 1) B R E AR (B —BEER) (976) (218)
50,457 38,382
Portion classified as current assets DEARNEENI D (29,357) (32,402)
Non-current portion e ENEB S 21,100 5,980

The Group’s loans and interest receivables, which arise from
the money lending business of providing corporate loans and
personal loans in Hong Kong, are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and the carrying amounts approximate their fair values.

Loans and interest receivables represented loans granted by the
Group to customers in the ordinary course of business.

The loans and interest receivables are unsecured, interest-
bearing ranging from a fixed rate of 7% to 12% (2023: 7%
to 12%) per annum and are repayable on maturity under the
term of contractual agreement or on demand in writing by the
Group.

AEBNREERKLMNETIRNEBRME
CRERFBEAERNREXEBES
AETTEHE - REEEE R FERS -

ERERENBIARERAEEBE
BRERTEPHER

EWEREF B AEERR  ENT7%
2NRW(ZEZ=F 7%212%)NE
TEEFEREE - WAERES OHZENIK
FREB BRI ALEEEmMBEKEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

16 LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 16 EBUWERKMNE (&
(Continued)
The movement in the loss allowance for the impairment of EWEREFERBEBEEZEEZSD
loans and interest receivables is as follows: ™
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
At beginning of year F4) 218 88
Reversal of impairment loss (note 6) BEEEE D (FiiEe) (200) (45)
Provision of impairment loss (note 6) B E 1B B (T s 6) 958 175
At end of year FR 976 218
A maturity profile of the loans and interest receivables as at the REEIR - BEERRFSEREIH
end of the reporting period, based on the maturity date, net of BRI EEESSIERR AT -

impairment allowance is as follows:

2024 2023
—E-MmEF —F_=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER FAT
Within one year —FRX 29,357 32,402
One to two years —EWF 21,100 5,980
Total Bt 50,457 38,382
An ageing analysis of the loans and interest receivables as at REEER - BWER RN EERIH
the end of the reporting period, based on the due date and net HIBRRERENRESITAOT -
of impairment allowance, is as follows:
2024 2023
—EB-MEF —E=%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Current BNHA 50,457 38,382
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

(Continued)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's loans and interest receivables:

16 EBWEZR

mEMBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ESHFIER - TRIAETIITR)

R FB ()

AEENEUREFRLFENEERRE
FEFImT

2024 2023

“EMF —EZ=F

Current Current

IR BNEA

Expected credit loss rate TEHEEEE R 1.90% 0.56%

Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRmEARE(THET) 51,433 38,600

Expected credit losses (HK$’000) TBHEEEE(TAET) (976) (218)

Net carrying amount (HK$'000) BRENFE(THET) 50,457 38,382
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 17 FEWERIE

2024 2023

—EMF —ETo=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THxT FHET

Accounts receivable JE U AR 18 43,802 21,872

Less: Impairment allowance R ERE (2,747) (3,450)

Net carrying amount SR A 41,055 18,422

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. The credit period granted to the customers ranges from
14 days to 90 days (2023: 14 days to 90 days). Each customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding accounts receivable. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. The
Group was exposed to concentration of credit risk as at 31
March 2024 on accounts receivable from the Group’s five
major debtors and largest debtor which accounted for 81%
and 31% (2023: 70% and 20%) of the Group's total accounts
receivable, respectively. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over its accounts receivable
balances. Accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing.

AEBETEUREFABEERPIIVE

PG o &%%ﬁ%ﬁ%%u?mai
9oEL_$:: £ 148F908) -
BFEH® SIE- $%l%*
ﬂﬁﬁEME%%Eﬁh?%%ﬁo%
BEEETTHEMOBRERBN - R
“E-MF=ZA=+—H AEE@EE
REREERAREHBAREAEFAR
BUWERTENSEFEERR - (hAKEE
WERTBBED R A81%K31%(ZF =
=F :70%K%20%) c REE W EmEE
FEWBRTE SR B B KR R b {5
Boa (b - BKREREARE -

BWERIERBRAR —T-FFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

S s — -

17 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 17 FEWERIE (&)
An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end of REEEAR - EUARIEE N R B B4
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss BRREBENRESITAOT -

allowance, is as follows:

2024 2023
—EMEF —T-=%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Within 90 days 90H N 35,755 17,288
91 to 180 days 91£180H 5,151 197
181 to 360 days 1812360H 149 13
Over 360 days #360H = 924
Total Bt 41,055 18,422
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of JEWERTE R EEE R EES T ¢
accounts receivable are as follows:
2024 2023
—E-MmE —EC-=4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
At beginning of year F7) 3,450 3,447
Provision of impairment loss (note 6) B R 1B B A& (P 7%6) 963 281
Reversal of impairment loss (note 6) BB E 1E B D (51 6) (1,666) -
Amount written off as uncollectible WiEREEKE SRR - (278)
At end of year FER 2,747 3,450
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date RERE BHASRABREEBETRE
using provision matrices to measure expected credit losses. The DT ETETEEEEEE - BEERT)
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of EREREEREUSEEANZRERR
various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by D EBHETT 9 4B (B4R b =) T 280 HA ) B 8
geographical region). The calculation reflects the probability- T ZETERUBIEMEAR B
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable HEMAREADHASHEEATS
and supportable information that is available at the reporting 18~ E AR RAR R B AR R BRI &
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of BRAFEER -

future economic conditions.
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TN A N2 GAMBRERD

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(RIEZHIEA - TRLAETIIR)

y &

17 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 17 FEWERE(E)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure TRETAEEF AR EERESERE

on the Group's accounts receivable using provision matrices: WERIBMEERRER -
2024
ZBCNE

Expected Gross Expected Net
credit carrying credit carrying
loss rate amount losses amount

BHREE BHEE
BR= REAE Jf BRERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THT THET
Current ENE] 0.00% 22,144 = 22,144
Less than 3 months past due BEDR3IEA 0.60% 18,875 (113) 18,762
3 to 6 months past due BH3Z6MEA 15.24% 164 (25) 139
7 to 12 months past due BB7ENEA 95.31% 213 (203) 10
Over 12 months past due BHER12EA 100.00% 2,406 (2,406) S
Total @t 6.27% 43,802 (2.747) 41,055

2023
“ECCHF

Expected Gross Expected Net
credit carrying credit carrying
loss rate amount losses amount

BHEE BHEE
EiRX RE&E B REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TR THET
Current BN ER 0.16% 5,735 9) 5,726
Less than 3 months past due BHLRIEA 0.22% 11,622 (26) 11,596
3 to 6 months past due BH3z6EA 1.75% 228 4 224
7 to 12 months past due BHTENER 26.19% 252 (66) 186
Over 12 months past due BEEB12M8 A 82.90% 4,035 (3,345) 690
15.77% 21,872 (3,450) 18,422

BRERZERERAAF T _NFFR
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

18 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

18 FEMNRE - HEREMEYRK

2024 2023

—EC-QmEF —B-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TR FHET

Deposits B 1,702 1,061

Prepayments and other receivables TR AN R IE Ko H A FE UK 12,278 8,353

13,980 9,414

Less: Impairment allowance ORI E R (4,382) (4,519)
Total prepayments, deposits and other ~ JE{IFUA - 1£& R E MBI GRTE

receivables G 9,598 4,895

Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date by considering expected credit losses, which are
estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference to
the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted
to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions, as appropriate.

Except for certain prepayments against which impairment
has been made, the remaining assets are neither past due
nor impaired. The financial assets included in the above net
balances relate to receivables for which there was no recent
history of default.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
prepayments and other receivables are as follows:

AEBE2EREERLENEBER
BREEEHRREAPNEATEHREE
BERELREDTER) - BEXS
PR 8 IR R 1F 38 B DA B E AT AR K2
R EARRTEAR o

BEFEHRERNS TENREN  8§T
BEMEBAMIORE - 5t A LSRR
M B B B PSR i R MK IR SR T 3 SR
HoRFCER ©

TEAF R IR T L R AR TR R M S 98
HET

2024 2023

—E-mEF eSS

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FER FAT

At beginning of year F7) 4,519 4,519
Reversal of impairment loss (note 6) B E 1B B (T 5E6) (28) -
Amount written off as uncollectible B8 & A U Bl ) FRIE (109) -
At end of year FR 4,382 4,519
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mEMBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ESHFIER - TRIAETIITR)

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 18 FEMNFIE  ZHERHMERRE
RECEIVABLES (Continued) (%)
Included in the above loss allowance for prepayments and other TR A FRIE N E b B M GR IR B 1R R
receivables is a provision for individual prepayments and other B35 1B B FB A5 R I8 I L A B R I8 A 3
receivables that were not expected to be recovered. The Group B BZEFIEEBAITUYE - AEE
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over WERZ S AR R EMEMmacEM
these balances. EERILIEIE ©
CONTRACT ASSETS 19 EHEE
2024 2023
—E-UE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Unbilled revenue (note a) KAZWA (HEa) 24,491 16,936
Retention money receivables (note b)  FEUWIRE S (FifsEb) 32,350 28,307
56,841 45,243
Less: Impairment allowance B ORERE (984) (984)
Net carrying amount AREFE 55,857 44,259
Notes: B &

(a) Unbilled revenue is initially recognised for revenue earned from the
provision of construction services as the receipt of consideration is
conditional on successful completion of construction. Upon completion of
construction and acceptance by the customer, the amounts recognised as
unbilled revenue are reclassified to accounts receivable.

(b) Retention money receivables are part of the consideration that the
customers retain until the end of the retention period as the Group's
entitlement to this final payment is conditional on the customers’
satisfactory of Group’s work.

As at 31 March 2024, HK$984,000 (2023: HK$984,000)
was recognised as an allowance for expected credit losses on
contract assets. The Group’s trading terms and credit policy
with customers are disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The contract assets are expected to be recovered or settled
within 2 years upon completion of services and acceptance by
the customer.

(@  REARUWATL FHIT 2 LIRS AT R 2 1R
AR - BEREREIAK T TR T2 A &
e NIRRT REREPEMEK  ERAKR
RERAZCESEN DB REBKRE -

RRFRESREPREEREHBRZINAE
B —E1 - AAREEBERERZRENR
B MR E P M EAEBP TR TIE

g

RZE-WMNFE=F=+—H - 984,000
BT (ZTE =4 : 984,000/ 7T) O #E
REGHEETRPEEBERE - K&
EREZFEZRXGERREERRNES
B A IR R MR 73 R -

EBHEEBRIRRE R EEPEMRR
ME AU EKBE -
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

19 CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued) 19
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
contract assets are as follows:

BHREEE
BHEEMREEEREZBMT

2024 2023

—E-pmEF —T=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHER FAET

At beginning of year F7) 984 494
Provision of impairment loss (note 6) BB E 15 1 8 (T 51 6) - 490
At end of year FR 984 984

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using provision matrices to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates for the measurement of the expected
credit losses of the contract assets are based on those of the
accounts receivable as the contract assets and the accounts
receivable are from the same customer bases. The provision
rates of contract assets are based on days past due of accounts
receivable for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region). The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s contract assets using provision matrices:

BEIMIEERSRE B BERRE
BT EEHMEEEEMET - MU
BEANEERMEEBRZBEXDIR
BRKERAZBEXEE  RAWEE
HEWEBRDFRAEEREFER - 54
BEZBBEXDIREBEBUEBERRN
(B [m 8 73) 2 N R%E P AR 2 W
FRIABMRBETE - &t EREREEX
RER  BEREENRRRE BB
ESABAEEN - BRI RERL
BERRIER 2 SIBAIFEEH -

TEBIIAREERRBERHHNHA
WAENREEERER -

2024 2023

—E-E —E=F

Current Current

I BNEA

Expected credit loss rate TEREEEE X 1.73% 2.17%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BREAE(THET) 56,841 45,243
Expected credit losses (HK$’'000) TEEMEEEE(TET) (984) (984)
Net carrying amount (HK$’'000) BREFE(THET) 55,857 44,259
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N A N GAMBMEMNT

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(RIEZHIEA - TRLAETIIR)

20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 20 BAFETTAEEZERMEE
PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023

—E_ME —EC=HF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Listed equity investments, at fair value ~ EHIRAIRE  HAFE 14,679 27,428

Listed debt investments, at fair value IHERERE - BATE 5,904 5,826

Unlisted debt investments, at fair value  3F FEKIEE - L AFE 5,875 6,003

Total Bt 26,458 39,257
The above equity investments were classified as financial LRI R EAFIEEEMH B AER
assets at fair value through profit or loss as they were held for FEAANERZEMEE - RZT-=
trading. As at 31 March 2023, certain listed equity investments FZA=+—H BTLEWREAERE
of HK$8,784,000 were pledged to secure credit facilities 8,784,000/ 8 L EHIF - (EAMAEE

granted to the Group (note 24). BRHEEMENER(EIF24) -

BRERZERERAAF T _NFFR 163
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED 21
DEPOSITS

ReRASSEEARSEFE
2

2024 2023
—E-mF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTITE 14,991 42,589
Time deposits EHER 43,300 34,000
Sub-total NEE 58,291 76,589
Less: Pledged deposits for banking W IRITEEMEEIRFR
facilities (note 24) (Pt 5E24) (9,126) (17,254)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in ~ B{RERE M IEAR RN KRR K&
the consolidated statement of He%EIEE
financial position 49,165 59,335

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made
for varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,
and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit
rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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nn & N~ HAMISHMEM T

R .

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIESHER - BRUABTIR)

22 ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES 22 EMRERHEMENSFIE
2024 2023
—E-OEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trade payables FEfTARIA 29,191 23,410
Other payables H At 5/ 28,867 25,168
Accruals FEFT & 39,302 58,537
68,169 83,705
Total FEE 97,360 107,115

An ageing analysis of the accounts payable as at the end of the

RBEYR - BARBEEREZ AN

reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BRECHOITANT -
2024 2023
—EB-NmEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Within 90 days 90H A 26,117 19,165
91 to 180 days 91£2180H - 31
181 to 360 days 1812360H 10 491
Over 360 days #360H 3,064 3,723
Total BEt 29,191 23,410

JEMEBRIENEMENKEBEAERE F AR
30BNEBEESRIZERKERE -

Accounts payable and other payables are non-interest-
bearing and are either settled on 30-day terms or repayable on
demand.
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

23 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23 EHEE
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
=ZA=+-H ZA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET
Short-term advances received from BREFEHHRE
customers
Construction services EER 96,095 51,713
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to EHEERIEARHEEREMERE
deliver construction services. The increase in contract liabilities FRGEHE RIZE-_WNFEFR-_ZT
in 2024 and 2023 was mainly due to the increase in short-term —FENBREMDEEHNFRIE
advances received from customers in relation to the provision HEBERBTAKE F 8 BRI I AT
of construction services at the end of the year. o
24 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 24 HRBITREMEERE
BORROWINGS
2024
—Zo|mE
Effective Contractual interest
interest rate rate per annum Maturity HK$'000
BERAZE  ANERE BHA TERT
Current b
Trust receipt loans ERREER 6.10% Prime rate (note) - 2024 6,420
0.50% or fixed rate —ZE=MF
6.00%
BEERIE (M-
0.50% % B & 7l
£6.00%
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24 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

2023
S

e

24 FTERTREMEE(E)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(RIEZHIEA - TRLAETIIR)

Effective Contractual interest
interest rate  rate per annum Maturity HK$'000
BHEANE  RHEREX )= T
Current b
Margin financing RESHE 11.70% Fixed rate 11.88% - 1,000
Bl H% 11.88%
Trust receipt loans ERREER 5.20% Prime rate (note) - 2024 8,289
0.50% or fixed rate  ~ —Z[UF
5.875%
B (-
0.50% 3 ElE 7
%5.875%
9,289

Note: The rates represent the prevailing prime lending rates used by the
respective banks in Hong Kong.

MiaE - ZSENEDEBHERRTREEAANZES

BRI o

BB RERERAT

ZETINFFR
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

24 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 24
BORROWINGS (Continued)

S BRTRE 1S E ()

2024 2023
—EC-QmEF —B-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHET
Analysed into: DHR
Trust receipt loans repayable within one —F R ZEREEEDN
year or on demand EESBEER 6,420 8,289
Other borrowings repayable on demand ZERKEENHEMEE = 1,000
6,420 9,289
The carrying amounts of these bank and other borrowings REER  ZEFRITREMEENER
approximate to their fair values as at the end of the reporting EEEENTEES - RITREMEE
period. The fair value of bank and other borrowings has been B R FE DR E B N R AL IR FAHA R R 3R
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at the DMEFTHE ©

prevailing interest rates.
All borrowings are in Hong Kong dollars.
The Group's banking facilities are secured by:

(i)  the pledge of the Group's leasehold land and buildings
and investment property situated in Hong Kong of
HK$18,000,000 and HK$13,400,000, respectively (2023:
HK$19,600,000 and HK$Nil) (notes 12 and 13); and

(i) the pledge of the Group's bank balances of
HK$9,126,000 (2023: HK$17,254,000) (note 21).

The Group’s other borrowings were secured by certain
listed equity securities held in a margin securities account of
HK$8,784,000 as set out in note 20, bore interest at 11.88%
per annum and repayable on demand.

168 Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

PIBEEEBIAETEY -
REB 2 RTTRVE B NI -

)y EHRAEBEURESZHEEL
HMEEFREEMED A
18,000,000/ 7T % 13,400,000
TT(ZZT =4 : 19,600,000/ T
=BT FIFE12%13) + &

(i)  EIFAEEZF1T4849,126,000
B (ZE = : 17,254,000/
7T) (fFaE21) ©

WHEE20FTEL - ANEEE A EE AR
BeBEHFPORBAEMNET LTRAFE
8,784,000 LB T - BFF X
11.88%5T EWBIREREE -

[ -~

48 d



AN

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25 DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax (assets)/liabilities during the

mEMBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ESHIER - TRIAETTIIR)

25 EIEFIE
ER - EERECEE), aENEHM

year are as follows: N
Deferred tax Lease  Revaluation  Right-of-use
depreciation liabilities  of properties assets Total
BEHERE HEAE BtNE  FRRBEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TiEx ThEL
At 1 April 2022 WZEZ-F#NA—A (2,584) (117) 4,268 117 1,684
Deferred tax charged/(credited) o~ FRREZME,/GHAM
profit or loss during the year BRI (H310)
(note 10) 660 (13) - 13 660
Deferred tax charged to other FRREMZEREMRN
comprehensive income during EIEHE
the year - - 132 - 132
At31March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R-T-ZF=ZA=+-H
“E-=4NMA-H (1,924) (130) 4,400 130 2,476
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to ﬁWWﬁ 108/ GEAK
profit or loss during the year JEIER A (HEE10)
(note 10) 237 30 - (30) 237
Deferred tax credited to other FRREMZERENRH
comprehensive income during EIEHE
the year - - (328) - (328)
At 31 March 2024 RZB_MF=R=1-H (1,687) (100) 4,072 100 2,385

At 31 March 2024, the Group has estimated tax losses arising
in Hong Kong of approximately HK$424,863,000 (2023:
approximately HK$410,250,000) that have no expiry date and
are available for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

In addition, the Group has temporary differences arising
from provision for accounts receivable, other receivables
and loans and interest receivables, and fair value changes of
investment properties and financial assets of approximately
HK$16,176,000 (2023: HK$10,062,000) in aggregate as
at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets in
respect of tax losses of approximately HK$424,863,000 (2023:
HK$410,250,000) and the above temporary differences have
not been recognised as they have arisen in subsidiaries that
have been loss-making for some time and in the opinions of
the directors, it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against the tax losses can be utilised.

R-ZE-_WNWF=A=+—8 ' K&
EEEBELENGEAREBELA
424,863,000 L(ZE-_=F : §y
410,250,000/ 70) - MW fEm B HY - 7]
KB E A 1B Y A B B9 A 2R B AR B
o

ARBABRRINBETNEELME

?3% °©

AN - RIEHR - AEBBFELEAE
IWARTE « EM B IENRERE SRR
%IJgEﬁ%ﬁéﬁi&ﬁ%%&G%mﬁE@i
BEEHMNERETES 416,176,000
BIX(ZE =% :10,062,000/%
L) c BEETIEBEMNELEHIEEE
#)424,863,0008 L (ZFE =4 :
410,250,000/ 7T) K |l By if Z 58 14 R
wR - RARE@EFIARACDBE &
BB AR - AEFRA T AL
BRERATEMN ATHE A - LIKHEBIEE
18 o
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26 DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 26

170

The Group is obligated to make long service payment to
qualifying employees in Hong Kong with a minimum of 5
years' employment period upon retirement or termination of
employment under certain circumstances, in accordance with
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (the “Employment
Ordinance”). Long service payment is calculated based on the
last monthly salary of the employee and the number of years of
service. There are provisions under the Employment Ordinance
permitting employers to offset employees’ long service payment
against the accrued benefits attributable to employers’
contributions to the MPF Scheme. In 2022, the Employment
and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Bill 2022 (the “Amendment Bill”) was enacted,
such that the Group can no longer use accrued benefits
arising from MPF mandatory employer contributions to offset
employees’ long service payment accrued as from the transition
date (i.e., 1 May 2025). The enactment of the Amendment Bill
is treated as a plan amendment. Except for the statutory right
to offset as described above, the long service payment benefits
are unfunded.

The net long service payment obligations are exposed to
interest rate risk expected rate of future salary increase and
market risk associated with investment returns of employees’
MPF Scheme.

The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

A58 (%)
TEER N R (%)

Discount rate (%)
Expected rate of salary increase (%)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(RIEZHIEA - TRLAETIIR)

26 DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (Continued) 26 RAEBAEEGER)
A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions as RBERAR EXBERNTEEHRE D
at the end of the reporting period is shown below: GO
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) in
in defined defined
Increase benefit Decrease benefit
inrate  obligations inrate  obligations
REBNER REBNER
RREH &0/ (D) METR 8/ ()
% HK$'000 % HK$'000
% ThL % ThL
2024 112
Discount rate LIRS 1% (139) 1% 171
Future salary RRF® 1% 25 1% (33)
The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on FBRESN - HRBEAREBRRE®R
a method that extrapolates the impact on defined benefit EHRBBRESESHRETEBIE
obligations as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions O ENEE - RESTIHREE
occurring at the end of the reporting period. The sensitivity ANREBLE - FARAAEEMBREERT
analysis is based on a change in a significant assumption, BMET - RESNAIRET TITREKTE
keeping all other assumptions constant. The sensitivity analysis FRNEECERESY  BARRERT
may not be representative of an actual change in the defined ANATBEI R E AR HIRE ) - LR
benefit obligations as it is unlikely that changes in assumptions HRBERFEEBERERNER I
would occur in isolation of one another. The total expenses ™

recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in
respect of the long service payment are as follows:

HK$'000

FHET

Service cost PR %5 A A< 1,057
Interest cost MEER 34
Net benefit expenses BRI FE 1,091
Recognised in administrative expenses TR X R RERR 1,091

BRERZERERAAF T _NFFR 171
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S s — -

27 SHARE CAPITAL 27 RA
Shares ;8
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Authorised: EE
800,000,000 (2023: 800,000,000) 800,000,000/%
ordinary shares of HK$0.125 (2023: —ZT =1 : 800,000,0000%)
HK$0.125) each FRREEO0.1257% T
(ZZEZ=%F:0.125%7T)
2 BB 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
240,000,000 (2023: 240,000,000) 240,000,000%
ordinary shares of HK$0.125 (2023: Z—ZE =1 : 240,000,000/%)
HK$0.125) each SREE0.125%8 T
(ZEZ=%F:0.125%7T)
2 EBix 30,000 30,000
On 25 October 2022, 40,000,000 ordinary shares of the RZEZEZZF+HZ+HH AQF
Company were allotted at HK$0.8 per placing share pursuant BE-—MERLERERAEERN0.8
to a placing under general mandate (“Placing”), the 77T BL2640,000,0000% E i@k (Bl E S
proceeds from the Placing received by the Company were H]) » ARAHREESHEKBA TSR
HK$32,000,000 (before share issue expenses of approximately 18 /432,000,000 7T CRINBR AR 8217 B
HK$1,123,000). F#91,123,0007 7T) °
Share options BB A
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share AR EE IR RT &) RARRSZ 5T 81 81T
options issued under the scheme are included in note 28 to the REREFBIHNGRE T B REMN T
consolidated financial statements. 28 °
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28 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include any full-
time or part-time employees, executives, officers or directors
(including independent non-executive directors) of any member
of the Group. The Scheme became effective on 10 August
2015 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant
of share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the
price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess
of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
30 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. An option may
be exercised under the Scheme at any time during a period not
exceeding 10 years after the date when the option is granted
and will expire on the last day of such period.

mEMBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

28

(B3ESHFIER - TRIAETIITR)

RS E

ARARRAERESE ((ZT8)) - §
ERABERSEANREELE XY
e 2 B RMIR L 28 B e B - "%t &)
MEERSEABRRBAEEERNKER
AZEMEBERBES - TBTERA
B SEBBAER(BEBUIFNT
BR)  ZiER=_ZT—AFNATH
R BRIERTTRURRIER] » &t 8%
% BT A F -

RIBZTEIBRB A B ER D ZRITEE
BtE 2 =B B (NTEE) BHASFRA
RAPMEA R IRE FETRM Z210% °
PER+ @A #RE - RIEZAERT
BERERZEANZERER TEITZR
=D BB AR R AHERBRHRE BT
MZ1% BB - T BB IR S 2 1
Hi RS BB RN IRRAE L1t
JfE ©

BYARFES TETHRABRETE
PR S SR B A 2 B AL
SIEITE S B RALE o AN - T
TZEAHRE - WETARBEERE
SBUIERTESHIHEEMBWEALZ
1 {o] B8 AR #E B 8 AN & B E ] R (R B 3%
TRMZ01%HBIBERE T BHAR
AR BRI E < #B(Ei8 135,000,000
B BIZAGERERRERNE EEA
A o

ARARBEREZOBHES =1
B XNEREREAH1ETEME
#) o RRAIZETEI TV IR A R
B E R T FHRABERITE
¥ HREREBRERRE—BERM -

BRERZERERAAF T _NFFR
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

28

29

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer
of the share options; and (ii) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. During the year, no share
options were granted (2023: Nil). At the end of the reporting
period and at the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, there were no share options outstanding
under the Scheme.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 82 of the
consolidated financial statements.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(RIEZHIEA - TRLAETIIR)

30 ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY THATISNOTA 30 WHE—RBEIEKMEZHEATR

BUSINESS

On 3 November 2022, the Group acquired a commercial RZEZZF+—A=0 ' A5EEB
property through acquisition of entire equity interest in WiE B FIREBR AR A2 EBARAE M UL
Charmfine Investment Limited. The following table summarised B—IEREEYE - TREMEEKER
the financial information in relation to the acquisition of a THEBYE-—HNBARNYHER

subsidiary under asset acquisition.

A summary of the acquisition of a subsidiary that was not a FRWE—AIEEBEE 2B AR
business during the year was as follows: FLEAT ¢
HK$'000
FAET
Property, plant and equipment Mm% - HEREE 6,525
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BRI ~ e REAMEWFKIE 5
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEBEEE 12
Other payables and accruals Hitb S FIERERE A (42)
Net liabilities assumed EAEFAR 6,500
Satisfied by: RIATIEBEN !
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeEEIER 6,500
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in ERAWE—HIFEEBEE ZMBR RN
respect of the acquisition of a subsidiary that is not a business RekBE2EFEBEBERDFES TN
is as follows: S
HK$'000
FAT
Cash consideration RENRE 6,500
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FrigiEiR e RIS EIE R (12)

Cash consideration and net outflow of cash and &R —REFEEFIEE 2B A A
cash equivalents in respect of acquisiton ofa ~ HIIRENREUARIR S REEEE
subsidiary that is not a business BEMERE

6,488

BB RERERAT

ZETINFFR

175



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

31 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 31

CASH FLOWS

Non-cash transactions ERERH

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right- FR - AEERPLERE T =
of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$57,000 (2023: FRLAERBNEELHSEBER

BEENHEEABMNIERESAREST,000
EIL(ZZT = =4 : 680,000/ 7T) °

HK$680,000), in respect of lease arrangements for office
equipment (2023: for office equipment).

METHEECAEED

Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities

Interest-bearing

176

bank and other
borrowings
(excluding bank
overdrafts)  Lease liabilities Total
FERAR
HHER
(FEERTER) HEEE H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
At 1 April 2022 N_E-_FNA—H 639 712 1,351
New leases Mg = 680 680
Changes from financing cash flows BEREREE 8,650 (602) 8,048
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZE-=F=-A=+-Ak
—E-_=FWA-H 9,289 790 10,079
New leases oHE S 57 57
Changes from financing cash flows RERERERY (2,869) (207) (3,076)
Write off ik - (12) (12)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-MF=RA=+—H 6,420 628 7,048
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRHAE
2024 2023
—E_MEF —EC-=HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Within operating activities KEEEIN 3,915 3,912
Within financing activities BB EEN 207 602
Total st 4,122 4,514
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(RIEZHIEA - TRLAETIIR)

32 COMMITMENTS 32 A&
(a) Lease arrangements (a)

HEZH

(b)

The Group leased its investment properties (note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements) under operating
lease arrangements, with lease negotiated for terms of
two years. The terms of the lease generally also require
the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for
periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing
market conditions.

At 31 March 2024, the Group had total undiscounted
future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

AEERBELEHELHHEE
HREWME(REMBEMRME
13) MEBZELSBME - HY
R IR — R IR B SRAE P X R E
T YREBEERNMHEREH
AEEE -

R-ZE-_WFE=A=+—H " K
SEREBEEAFNTAIHELEE
FAORMT B ER HE R K FE
RENIRFAEEWFUEMBE

2024 2023

—ENE —T-=F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

THExT FAET

Within one year —FR" 514 594
In the second to fifth years,

inclusive F_FEFRF(BEEEMRSF) 89 602

Total @t 603 1,196

No contingent rental receivable was recognised by the
Group during the year (2023: HK$Nil).

Capital commitment
The Group had the following contractual commitment at
the end of reporting period:

(b)

AEBERFALERIBEMEA
HERKFB(—ZTE_=F:TE
o) °

EAREIE
RMERR  AEBBEUTER
JRHE

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Contracted, but not provided for: 2 & #11B R B -
Property, plant and equipment W - BB R - 269

BWERIERBRAR —T-FFR
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(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33
(a) Outstanding balance with related parties
Save as the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere
in these consolidated financial statements, the Group
had no material transactions with related parties in
accordance with HKAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”
during the year.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel
of the Group
The key management personnel of the Group are the
directors of the Company. Details of their remuneration
are disclosed in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 34
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at end of the reporting period are as follows:

BB X5

(a) ERBARET KRS AEER
RRERaMBRREMESF
MR H REFI  REBEE
FHERIE24R BB T RE] - F
NASEEREB WL BETE
AR5 e

(b) XEEZEZEEASHEMH

AEEFEZERBAERADAN
EX - REMEFBREATH
HRMFTAHEE -

RERESNERMTIA
RBEAR - SESRTENREED
T

Financial assets SREE
2024 2023
—EMEF —EZ=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHx FHET
Financial assets at fair value through R AR EFABZZSHEE
profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEFABE ERMEE
profit or loss (note 20) (F3E20) 26,458 39,257
Financial assets at amortised cost REBERAIENEREE
Loans and interest receivables FEWE T F B 50,457 38,382
Accounts receivable JE U BR 18 41,055 18,422
Bond receivable FEW (B 7 20,000 20,000
Financial assets included in FTATERRIE - e RHEA
prepayments, deposits and JEWFIEN SR EE
other receivables 7,127 2,127
Pledged deposits EHERFER 9,126 17,254
Cash and cash equivalents Be MRS EEER 49,165 59,335
176,930 155,520
203,388 194,777
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 34 RERFEINERIAGE
(Continued)
Financial liabilities cEas
2024 2023
—E_ME —E=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT

Financial liabilities at amortised cost R#EFAFNENERERE

Accounts payable FEfTERIA 29,191 23,410
Financial liabilities included in other FFAHAMENFIARESE AN
payables and accruals PRIAE 66,696 81,200
Interest-bearing bank and other FTERITRAMEE
borrowings 6,420 9,289
Lease liabilities HEAE 628 790
102,935 114,689
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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35 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 35 ERMTEAENAFERAFESR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

RBERR SRR TAREEN

77

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as I
follows:
Carrying amounts Fair values
BREE DNFRE
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZRIME —F-=F ZBIMFE  —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET FTEx THET
Financial assets CREE
Financial assets at fair value BATEFABRZE
through profit or loss (note A& 2 (51 20)
20) 26,458 39,257 26,458 39,257

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, pledged deposits, loans and interest receivables,
accounts receivable, bond receivable, financial assets included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, accounts
payable, financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and lease
liabilities, approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to
the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair value of listed equity investments is based on quoted
market prices. The fair value of unlisted debt investments is
based on the prices quoted by the fund administrators.

The Group's corporate finance team headed by the financial
controller is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The corporate finance team reports directly to the
directors. At each reporting date, the corporate finance team
analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments
and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the directors.

Fair value hierarchy

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2023: Nil).

Smart City Development Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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35 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 35 EWMITANAFERAFESER
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (48)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AFEERE
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRINTAEESRTEN R FEFTE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: E8 -
Assets measured at fair value RATEFEZEE
2024
b1 3
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EATBE EBEAFUHEE
ERTEERE BAE BAE
(BE-4) (BE=H) (E=H) @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TET TER
Financial assets at fair value BAVEFABEZ
through profit or loss SREE
Listed equity investments IaRAEE 14,679 S S 14,679
Listed debt investments FEBRE 5,904 s S 5,904
Unlisted debt investments FLEBERE = 5,875 = 5,875
Total @t 20,583 5,875 - 26,458
2023
B
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BERAHER BATITHR
EETSRE BAE BAE
(BE—H) (E=H (FE=H) @5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THL TR FHT
Financial assets at fair value BALEFABEZ
through profit or loss tREE
Listed equity investments FTRAEE 27,428 = = 27,428
Listed debt investments EHEBRE 5,826 = = 5,826
Unlisted debt investments FLEMERERE = 6,003 = 6,003
Total wst 33,254 6,003 = 39,257

BRERZERERAAF T _NFFR
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(BRIEREIEHA - TRLVETIIR)

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, cash and cash equivalents
and pledged deposits. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and interest receivables, accounts receivable, bond receivable,
deposits and other receivables, accounts payable, lease
liabilities and other payables and certain accruals which arise

directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, credit risk, equity price risk and liquidity
risk. The Group is not exposed to material foreign exchange
risk as most of its transactions and balances are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars. The board reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s debt obligations with

floating interest rates in Hong Kong.

The interest rates and terms of repayment of interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings are disclosed in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements. Other financial assets and
liabilities of the Group do not have material interest rate risk.
Interest-bearing bank loans, other borrowings and overdrafts,
cash and bank balances, and short-term deposits are stated
at cost and are not revalued on a periodic basis. Floating-rate
interest income and expenses are charged to the consolidated

statement of profit or loss as incurred.

The nominal interest rates of the financial instruments

approximate to their respective effective interest rates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A N~ RABBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ESHFIER - TRIAETIITR)

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36 UEEEREERFERBKGE

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates with all other variables held
constant of the Group's results before tax (through the impact
on trust receipt loan with floating rate and the Group'’s equity).

il 2% BB (40)
TERIRERA £ BB RIRETE NS
RT - AR BB B EE (TR
FEURHE B0 B R SR B 25
EAR B A R BB -

Increase/ (Increase)/ Increase/
(decrease) in decrease in (decrease) in
basis points loss before tax equity*
BE MRBiATEE R
t#/(TR) (m ,/m i,/ (Rd) *
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAET
2024 —EomE
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (31) -
Hong Kong dollar BT (100) 31 -
Increase/ (Increase)/ Increase/
(decrease) in decrease in (decrease) in
basis points  loss before tax equity *
2 BREiRIE R g
EFACREE) g, Wd g/ Gl
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
2023 —ECZ=F
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (48) =
Hong Kong dollar BT (100) 48 -

W Excluding retained profits.

* TEREREE

BRERZERERAAF T _NFFR
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36 HIKEMREEBEZERBEGE
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk EERE

AEBEERERAREBAENE=]
ETRS - WERAKENREK - AR
BEREEGRFETRINEFPLAKS
FEZERRF - I AREERES
SEWREBBER - MAKENERER

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not

significant. BRIFTERX °
Maximum exposure and year-end staging BEERERFXER

TRETREAKEEERRZEEE
ZREFEERRzEARR(EXZRE
BEBMENRIFEEMETEZK
AFIBENAAIEBHEREE) R =
A=t —BZFREERSE - MENE
BRTREECREMAE -

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 March. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

2024
—ECmE
12-month Lifetime
ECLs ECLs
128 AR
FEER 2HRAEERER
Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1EE F2RE B3 e r % e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TER TER TER TER

184

Loans and interest receivables FEWETRFIE 51,433 S S s 51,433
Accounts receivable* FEW AR IR - = = 43,802 43,802
Bond receivable i tE S 20,000 s s S 20,000
Contract assets* L ﬁ’ﬁﬁ* = = S 56,841 56,841
Financial assets included in FARARE - R

prepayments, deposits and &Eﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ(mlﬁﬁ'\]@

other receivables BEE

- Normal** Sl 7,127 - - - 7,127

- Doubtful** - Al EEx - = 4,382 = 4,382
Pledged deposits EHEATR

= Not yet past due -REH 9,126 s S = 9,126
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEHEE

= Not yet past due - R 49,165 = = = 49,165
Total st 136,851 = 4,382 100,643 241,876
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- REUBHRERME
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRIFESEIER - TRLAETIIR)

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36 HMEEEEREBEREXKGE

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging

FE R ()
REE B R FAREER (F)

(Continued)
2023
—T=F
12-month Lifetime
ECLs ECLs
12{8 AT HA
FEER rHRBEEEHR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1BR F2URR F3BR SH @b aE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET TET TAT TET

Loans and interest receivables FEREZ TS 38,600 S = S 38,600
Accounts receivable* JE U BRI - = = 21,872 21,872
Bond receivable el &S 20,000 = = = 20,000
Contract assets* BHEE* - - - 45,243 45,243
Financial assets included in SABNATE - BE

prepayments, deposits and REMBRFIENS

other receivables RBEE

- Normal** - BB 2,127 = = = 2,127

- Doubtful** - Al EE* - - 4,519 = 4,519
Pledged deposits BEERAER

= Not yet past due - K@ 17,254 = = = 17,254
Cash and cash equivalents BekReEERE

= Not yet past due - X8 59,335 = = = 59,335
Total @t 137,316 = 4519 67,115 208,950
* For accounts receivable and contract assets to which the Group applies G REAKEEARAESCTEEBRERERE

the simplified approach for impairment, information based on the
provision matrices is disclosed in notes 17 and 19 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

*x The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from accounts receivable are disclosed in note
17 to the consolidated financial statements.

NEEMS ' UWEBEEREAERZERS 7
RERE IS MEMF17 R 19N EEE -

= BIIABRNRE - REREMERFIEAR
HtpEENSREET RO AT EEHA
TEREEBBRERUARZEERAREHE
FLEAR EEEERBRGAIER] - BRI
ERMEENEREERRR/[ARE]

BERAASEREREEEENEERR
WO B — 2 E BBURTINER A M5 3R
RMET174% 5% -

BWERIERBRAR —T-FFR
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of investment
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from individual listed equity
investments and unlisted investments included in financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 20) as at 31
March 2024. The Group’s listed equity investments are listed
on the Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted market prices
at the end of the reporting period.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 10%
change in the fair values of the investment securities, with
all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit/loss
before tax, based on their carrying amounts at the end of the
reporting period.

36

Mg E e E IR B AR RBUR (8)

R B b

RS ERRR AR EEFE RS EEUK
BB &S B EZ TSI R FER
LZRB - R-ZTE-_WF=R=+—
B AEBEHEFARXFHESAR
B2 T MAEE (20 2 @R Lz
RENMFEMBREMES 2B ERE
e AREZ ETRERENBRME
™M WK REMRIEFAHHEGE -

TEREBRREEZRSF 2 A TFEBRBEERR
SHRZBEMEEASEREINGF,
BENMEEMEHRBFTEBE LT
R10%EB) 2 HEEE -

Change in
Carrying profit/loss
amount before tax
BRELATIRF,
BRMEE BE2F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
2024 —ZT-mF
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong  R&E®B L 258 E 14,679 1,468
Change in
Carrying profit/loss
amount before tax
BRELADR T,
REE EiaE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
2023 —T-=F
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong R&EB L 2R E 27,428 2,743
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36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets
(e.g., accounts receivable and loans and interest receivables)
and projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’'s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings. The Group's policy is
to ensure the matching of maturity of its financial liabilities
against that of its financial assets, and the maintenance of a
current ratio, defined as current assets over current liabilities, at
above one so as to enhance stable liquidity.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, was as follows:

mEMBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

36

(B3ESHFIER - TRIAETIITR)

M EREEERRBE(E)

REE SRR
AEEERAGEEUERBDESHRE TAR
EESEROER - ZTEZEEES R
TRTARSREE(WMEKRENLR
FEWEREMB)NBIHBIARERE
BRLRE

AEEHBBRDEBN AT ERITRE
MEE  #RESBEUENERTENT
- AEENBRERRESHBER
TREENIHAMEL  ARERRSY
HERERRBDEERARDBED
Ho ) BRI — A EHKEE - AINSR R E
MRBESE °

RBERKR - ARENSBEBERED
FIMERMBEMNROBHBERDOT

2024
—g-mx
Less than
On demand 12 months 110 3 years Total
REX SRT=fEA —E=f a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR
Accounts payable EfTERTR = 29,191 = 29,191
Financial liabilities included in other T AR AbIERZUB K BT B
payables and accruals HeRaRE 65,566 1,130 S 66,696
Lease liabilities HERR s 237 442 679
Interest-bearing bank and other AERITREMEE
borrowings - 6,524 - 6,524
Total @it 65,566 37,082 442 103,090
BWEEERARAR —TZWFFR
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

S s — -

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36 BiRAREREBERBEEKGE)
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBESRRE
2023
S
Less than
On demand 12 months 1 to 3 years Total
BREX DIRTZfER —E=F @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEL TET TEx
Accounts payable ERTEETR S 23,410 S 23,410
Financial liabilities included in other ~ &F A E 4t B 5008 I B+ B B
payables and accruals Nemas 80,100 1,100 = 81,200
Lease liabilities HEBR - 236 631 867
Interest-bearing bank and other FTERITREMEE
borrowings 1,010 8,479 - 9,489
81,110 33,225 631 114,966
Capital management BEXEE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its

business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments

to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintai

n or

adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31

March 2024 and 31 March 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by the total capital plus net debt. Net debt
includes accounts payable, other payables and accruals, lease
liabilities, and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
less pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents. Capital

represents equity attributable to owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(RIEZHIEA - TRLAETIIR)

y
Y & 4

e

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36 MiBEKEERERBEKGE
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Capital management (Continued)
The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were

EXEEE
RBMERR - BRBBHLERDT -

as follows:
2024 2023
“EE ZE=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Accounts payable FEfTERIA 29,191 23,410
Other payables and accruals H At < FRIE K fEEHE A 68,169 83,705
Lease liabilities HEAE 628 790
Interest-bearing bank and other FTERITRAMEE
borrowings 6,420 9,289
Less: Pledged deposits B BIEEFER (9.126) (17,254)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B ReNIBREFEIER (49,165) (59,335)
Net debt BIEFE 46,117 40,605
Capital (2N 128,927 150,941
Capital and net debt BEAXRGEIRFE 175,044 191,546
Gearing ratio BEXRBELE 26% 21%

BRBEREBRERAT —TNEFR 189
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REMB®RERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B3ERFIER - BRIABTIIR)

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 37 ARQATWBBEARRE

S s — -

ledd

COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the EBEARRARNBRERRDIFEARREZD
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BERPEIT
2024 2023
—E-EF —EZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHx FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REBRRIZEKE 17,500 17,500
Amounts due from subsidiaries = NGIE L] 32,864 35,199
Total non-current assets IERBEELLE 50,364 52,699
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other FERTRRIE © e R E A R IKKIE
receivables 40 40
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBLFEER 929 929
Total current assets MEEERE 969 969
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Other payables and accruals E fth JE 50 KBS E A 314 208
Total current liabilities mEBERE 314 208
Net current assets MEVEEFE 655 761
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBAERE 51,019 53,460
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Defined benefit obligations AEBAEF 32 S
Total non-current liabilities ERBEEEE 32 -
NET ASSETS EEFE 50,987 53,460
EQUITY R
Share capital AR AR 30,000 30,000
Reserves G 20,987 23,460
TOTAL EQUITY EHE 50,987 53,460
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(RIEZHIEA - TRLAETIIR)

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 37 ARDTHBEARRE (E)

38

COMPANY (Continued)
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AR BN T -

Share premium  Accumulated

account losses Total
% 1735 B Bk REtEE Foby
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET
At 1 April 2022 RZE__FMA—H 9,381 (11,846) (2,465)
Profit for the year and total FNm AN RFEADE RS
comprehensive income for the year e - 48 48
Issue of new shares (note 27) BT (P EE27) 27,000 = 27,000
Share issue expenses (note 27) BT 7 > (i 27) (1,123) - (1,123)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZEZ=F=HA=+—H
RZZE-_=%mMHA—-H 35,258 (11,798) 23,460
Loss for the year and total FABERFAZHEER
comprehensive loss for the year 4(E - (2,473) (2,473)
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-_ME=A=+—H 35,258 (14,271) 20,987

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 38 #Ht/EZASBHEHREK
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and AV HHRRAESEN T UFER
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2024. R+ N\BHUEL RS -

BWERIERBRAR —T-FFR
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Summary of Financial Information

MBEERBE

Vil s

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non- AEBRBEREMBRFEZEEREE -
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, BENIFIERESHME HiBrE 2 FIBER

as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial — #&&R& T HIRE  THHNOT -
statements, is set out below.

RESULTS ¥E

Year end 31 March
BE=A=1T—-HLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-ME —T-=f —T--Ff —ZT--Ff -ZT-ZTF

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAT TR TR TAT

REVENUE A 435,077 323,704 324,094 617,771 627,626
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX %ﬁm'“/ﬁﬂ (20,074) (10,169) 16,217 9,128 (2,602)
Income tax (expense)/credit FTig %)/ % (282) (806) (1,152) (672) 286
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ER(ER)BA (20,356) (10,975) 15,065 8,456 (2,316)
Attributable to: AT e

= Owners of the Company - ARAEBA (20,356) (10,975) 15,336 9,860 (3,216)

- Non-controlling interests - MRS - - 271) (1,404) 900

(20,356) (10,975) 15,065 8,456 2,316)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING BE  BERFERER
INTERESTS

As at 31 March

R=A=+—-H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-NME —T-=F —ZE-_-F —T-—F C—T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAT THET FAT TET

Total assets BEE 333,037 322,410 299,808 390,125 388,034
Total liabilities BeE (204,110)  (171,469) (169,437)  (284,401)  (291,007)
Non-controlling interests RS = = = 11,151 9,154

128,927 150,941 130,371 116,875 106,181
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